Probability Theory and Related Fields © Springer-Verlag 1991

# Gaussian fluctuations of connectivities in the subcritical regime of percolation

Massimo Campanino<sup>1,\*</sup>, J.T. Chayes<sup>2,\*\*</sup>, and L. Chayes<sup>2,\*\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Dipartimento di Matematica, Università di Bologna, Piazza di Porta S. Donato 5, I-40126 Bologna, Italy

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, University of California, Los Angeles, CA 90024, USA

Received November 30, 1988; in revised form June 8, 1990

Summary. We consider the *d*-dimensional Bernoulli bond percolation model and prove the following results for all  $p < p_c$ : (1) The leading power-law correction to exponential decay of the connectivity function between the origin and the point (L, 0, ..., 0) is  $L^{-(d-1)/2}$ . (2) The correlation length,  $\xi(p)$ , is real analytic. (3) Conditioned on the existence of a path between the origin and the point (L, 0, ..., 0), the hitting distribution of the cluster in the intermediate planes,  $x_1 = qL$ , 0 < q < 1, obeys a multidimensional local limit theorem. Furthermore, for the two-dimensional percolation system, we prove the absence of a roughening transition: For all  $p > p_c$ , the finite-volume conditional measures, defined by requiring the existence of a dual path between opposing faces of the boundary, converge – in the infinite-volume limit – to the standard Bernoulli measure.

# Contents

1. Introduction	0
2. Notation, definitions and preliminaries	13
3. The basic connectivity functions	!5
(a) Full and cylinder connectivity functions	'5
(b) The direct connectivity function	30
4. The Ornstein-Zernike equation and its consequences	34
5. Separation of the decay rates	)4
(a) The block functions	)5
(b) The rescaled functions	)7
6. Fluctuations of paths in percolation	)9
(a) Asymptotic properties of the standard connectivity functions	)9
(b) A multidimensional local limit theorem	2
(c) The absence of a roughening transition in two dimensions	8
Appendix	26

<sup>\*</sup> Work supported in part by G.N.A.F.A. (C.N.R.)

<sup>\*\*</sup> Work supported in part by NSF Grant No. DMS-88-06552

# 1. Introduction

Consider the nearest-neighbor Bernoulli bond percolation model on the *d*dimensional hypercubic lattice in which bonds are occupied with density p and vacant with density 1-p. (See Sect. 2 for precise definitions and basic properties of the model.) It has been known for some time that in dimension  $d \ge 2$ , the percolation model undergoes a phase transition at some value  $p_c(d) \in (0, 1)$ , below which the occupied clusters are finite w.p. 1 and above which there is an infinite cluster w.p.1. In this paper, we study the detailed asymptotic properties of occupied paths throughout the subcritical regime, i.e. whenever  $p < p_c$ .

The properties of occupied paths for  $p < p_c$  are typically characterized by the connectivity function

(1.1) 
$$\tau_{x,y}(p) = P_p(x \text{ and } y \text{ are connected by a path of occupied bonds})$$

A special case of this is the on-axis connectivity function  $\tau_{0,L}(p)$  between the origin and the site = (L, 0, ..., 0). In this case the limit

(1.2) 
$$\frac{1}{\xi(p)} = -\lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{1}{L} \log \tau_{0,L}(p)$$

exists and defines the correlation length  $\xi(p)$  of the system. It is known that  $\xi(p) < \infty$  for  $p < p_c$  and that  $\xi(p)$  diverges continuously as  $p \uparrow p_c$  (see, e.g., [CC3]). Thus, in the low-density phase, the leading behavior of the (on-axis) connectivity function is exponential decay:  $\tau_{0,L}(p) \sim e^{-L/\xi}$ . Moreover,  $\tau_{0,L}$  obeys the bounds

(1.3) 
$$K_1(p) \frac{1}{L^{4(d-1)}} e^{-L/\xi(p)} \leq \tau_{0,L}(p) \leq e^{-L/\xi(p)},$$

with  $K_1(p) > 0$  (see, e.g., [Gr]).

One of the purposes of this work is to obtain the leading power-law correction to exponential decay of the connectivity function. As we will show, this is in turn related to the typical fluctuations of long paths of occupied bonds. The relationship between these quantities is most easily seen by examining the analytic structure of transforms in x - y of  $\tau_{x,y}(p)$ . By controlling the *p*-dependence of these transforms, we also obtain detailed information on the correlation length  $\xi(p)$ .

Our principal results are:  $\forall p < p_c$ 

(I)  $\exists K_2(p) \ge 1, \Delta(p) > 0$  such that

$$|\sum_{x:x_1=L} \tau_{0,x}(p) e^{+L/\xi(p)} - K_2(p)| \leq e^{-\Delta(p)L};$$

(II)  $\exists \alpha(\mathbf{p})/0$  such that  $\forall a \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  satisfying  $|a| < CL^{3/4-\varepsilon}$  with  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\tau_{0,(L,a)} = K_2(p) \frac{1}{[\alpha(p) \tau L]^{(d-1)/2}} e^{-L/\xi(p)} e^{-a^2/[\alpha(p)L]} [1 + O(L^{-1}, L^{-4\varepsilon})]$$

where, as also in the following, we write  $O(L^{-a}, L^{-b})$  for  $O(L^{-\min(a,b)})$ ;

(III)  $\xi(p)$  is real analytic.

Notice that (I) implies that the point-to-plane connectivity function

(1.4) 
$$\mathbf{\mathbb{G}}_{L}(p) \equiv \sum_{x: x_{1}=L} \tau_{0,x}(p)$$

has pure exponential decay in the strongest sense: the correction to exponential decay is itself exponentially small. As in field theory, we will call the exponential correction the upper gap.

Result (II) is the central result of this paper. It is obtained from (I) using an analysis of the transform of  $\tau$ , combined with some estimates on various connectivity functions. For  $\mathbf{a} = 0$ , (II) says that the correction to exponential decay of  $\tau_{0,L}(p)$  is of the form  $L^{-(d-1)/2}$ ; in statistical mechanics, this power law prefactor is known as *Ornstein-Zernike* decay. For  $\mathbf{a} \neq 0$ , observe that the ratio  $\tau_{0,(L,a)}/\mathbb{G}_L$  is essentially the hitting distribution<sup>1</sup> of endpoints in the plane  $x_1 = L$ . Thus, by (I) and (II), under the scaling  $\mathbf{a} \to \mathbf{a}/(\alpha L)^{1/2}$ , the hitting distribution tends to a Gaussian; the Ornstein-Zernike prefactor arises naturally as the normalization of this Gaussian.

From (II), it can be shown (see Sect. 6) that conditioned on the existence of a cluster between the origin and y=(L, 0, ..., 0), the maximum height of the cluster in the plane  $x_1 = qL, 0 < q < 1$ , obeys a multidimensional local limit theorem. In particular, in each direction, the cluster typically wanders a distance  $O(\sqrt{L})$  from the  $x_1$ -axis. In dimension d=2, this also implies the absence of a roughening transition: namely, for all  $p > p_c$ , the finite-volume conditional measures in which a dual path is required between the midpoints of two opposing faces of the boundary, converge – in the infinite-volume limit – to the standard Bernoulli measure. We also prove an alternative characterization of the absence of roughening in terms of the vanishing of a "roughening order parameter."

Result (III) constitutes a characterization of the subcritical regime.

Behavior similar to that described above is expected to hold in a wide variety of spin systems and field theories. Indeed, analogues of some of the results (I)–(III) have been proved in many systems for extreme values of the parameter (e.g.,  $p \ll 1$  for percolation) via expansion techniques. For general expansion techniques of this form, see, e.g., [PS1; PS2]. Specific perturbative results on Ornstein-Zernike decay and upper gaps appear in [ACC1; ACC2; AK; BrF1; BrF2; BrF3; CC3; P; O1; O2; OB; OBr; S1; S2; S3; S4; Si2]. Roughness of twodimensional interfaces at low temperatures has also been proved with expansions ([G; Hi1; Hi2]). To our knowledge, the only other systems in which such results are known nonperturbatively are certain random surfaces ([ACC3; CC1]) and self-avoiding walks [CC2], both defined via generating functions. Absence of a roughening transition (an inherently nonpertubative result) is also known for the two-dimensional Ising magnet ([A; Hi3]).

Our proof is modelled closely on that cited above for self-avoiding walks (SAWs). Indeed, we define analogous quantities and rely on some previous lemmas. Here, however, there are several significant complications: First, percolation clusters can branch, whereas by definition SAWs have no branching points. Second, percolation configurations have a density of connected components, whereas (again by definition) the SAW "configurations" each contain only one

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This correspondence is exact for a slightly modified connectivity function: the cylinder connectivity function, as defined in Sect. 3

walk. We therefore expect that our proofs of results (I)-(III) should hold, with no essential modification, for the branching polymer system, which has the first, but not the second complication. Indeed, our proofs should also hold for one parameter lattice animals defined via generating functions. It is worth noting, however, that our methods do not readily extend to two-parameter lattice animals, for which results analogous to (I)-(III) remain an open problem.

We conclude this introduction with an outline of the paper (including a rough scheme of the proof):

In Sect. 2, we set general notation, define the percolation model and review some basic esults which are used in our subsequent analysis.

In Sect. 3, we introduce several other connectivity functions (i.e., analogues of the "free" connectivity functions,  $\tau_{x,y}$  and  $\mathbf{G}_L$ , in which the occupied paths are required to satisfy additional constraints). Some of these, which we call the cylinder connectivity functions, differ from  $\tau_{x,y}$  only by boundary constraints. Others, which we call direct connectivity functions, have an additional constraint imposed in each hyperplane perpendicular to the  $x_1$ -axis. In fact, we define several direct connectivity functions which differ among themselves only by boundary conditions. It is intuitively clear, but rather difficult to prove that connectivity functions which differ only by boundary conditions are bounded uniformly (in  $|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}|$ ) in terms of one another throughout the subcritical regime. This is established in Sect. 3, with some of the more tedious aspects of the proofs relegated to an appendix.

Our motivation for introducing the cylinder and direct connectivity function is explained in Sect. 4. There we show that these functions are related by a renewal equation. Which (by analogy to the study of correlation functions in fluids) we call the Ornstein-Zernike equation. The utility of the Ornstein-Zernike equation is that the exponential decay rates of the cylinder and direct functions are strictly separated, then the equation provides sufficient analytic control to prove analogues of properties (I)–(III) for the cylinder functions. Thus the proof of these properties is reduced to a proof of strict separation of the decay rates. These consequences of an Ornstein-Zernike equation have been exploited previously in work on other systems, where they formed the basis of both perturbative ([ACC1; ACC2; AK; CC3]) and nonperturbative proofs ([ACC3; CC1; CC2]). However, for completeness, we give a rather detailed proof of these consequences for percolation.

Since the direct connectivity function has a density of additional constraints, it is obvious and quite easy to prove that its exponential decay rate is strictly separated from that of the cylinder function  $p \leq 1$ . What is less obvious is that the separation prevails throughout the subcritical regime. This is established in Sect. 5 using a renormalization scheme, which will be explained in some detailed at the beginning of that section.

We finally comment on results appeared between the submission and the revision of this paper. Weaker lower bounds (but simpler to obtain) for the connectivities along the axes were given by G. Grimmett and by two of the authors (J.T.C. and L.C.) (see respectively [Gr] and [Al] where the author generalizes these results to the behavior of the connectivities in other directions). In [Ma] the author remarks that the asymptotic behavior and the local limit theorem in the case of self-avoiding random walks, treated in [CC2], can be deduced from the separation of the decay rates by introducing a suitable random walk and exploiting probability theorems. The proofs of these theorems are

in any case very similar to those given in [CC2] (see Sect. 6 of this paper for the analogous results in our case), while the essential difficulties lie in the proof of the separation of rates and (in the case of this work) of the independence of the behavior of different connectivities from the boundary conditions.

# 2. Notation, definitions and preliminaries

Consider the *d*-dimensional hypercubic lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ . We will denote a generic site  $(x_1, \ldots, x_d) \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  by the vector  $\mathbf{x}$ , except that we will not use vector notation for the origin 0. The unit vectors will be denoted by  $\mathbf{e}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{e}_d$ . We will often have occasion to distinguish the  $x_1$ -coordinate; in this case, we will write  $\mathbf{x} = (L, \mathbf{a})$  with  $L \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ . Furthermore, for  $L \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

$$\mathbf{P}(L) = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^d | x_1 = L \}$$

will denote a hyperplane perpendicular to the  $x_1$ -axis;

(2.2) 
$$\mathbf{H}(L) = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^d | x_1 \leq L \}$$

will denote the half-space to the left of  $\mathbf{P}(L)$ ; and for  $L \ge 1$ ,

(2.3) 
$$\mathbf{S}(L) = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^d | \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(j) \text{ for some } 0 \leq j \leq L \}$$

will denote a slab perpendicular to the  $x_1$ -axis. We will measure lattice distances in the  $L^{\infty}$ -norm, i.e. for  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ 

(2.4) 
$$\|\mathbf{x}\| \equiv \|\mathbf{x}\|_{\infty} = \max\{|x_1|, \dots, |x_d|\}.$$

Finally, for  $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ ,  $\mathbf{a}^2 = \sum_i a_i^2$  will denote the standard vector product.

The set of all *bonds* between nearest-neighbor sites of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ , i.e. pairs  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  with  $\sum_i |x_i - y_i| = 1$ , will be denoted by  $\mathbb{B}_d$ . Similarly, given  $S \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ ,  $\mathbb{B}(S)$  will

denote the set of bonds between nearest-neighbor sites of S. A path  $\mathscr{P} \subset \mathbb{B}(S)$  is a sequence (finite or infinite) of bonds  $b_1, b_2, \ldots$ , with no repetitions, such that  $b_n$  and  $b_{n+1}$  have a common endpoint. Thus two paths are *disjoint* if they have no bonds in common. Similarly, two paths are *site-disjoint* if they have no endpoints of bonds in common. For  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ , a set  $S \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$  is said to separate  $\mathbf{x}$  from  $\mathbf{y}$  if all paths from  $\mathbf{x}$  to  $\mathbf{y}$  include at least one bond with an endpoint in S.

The nearest-neighbor Bernoulli bond percolation model at density p is defined by independently choosing each bond of  $\mathbb{B}_d$  to be *occupied* with probability p or *vacant* with probability 1-p. Thus the configuration space is  $\Omega = \{0, 1\}^{\mathbb{B}_d}$ ; a generic element of  $\Omega$  will be denoted by  $\omega$ . For  $(L, \mathbf{a}) \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ , we will denote by  $\mathcal{D}_{L,\mathbf{a}} \otimes \mathcal{D}_{L,\mathbf{a}}$  the translate of  $\omega$  by the vector  $(L, \mathbf{a})$ . For  $S \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ , we will denote by  $\omega|_S$  the restriction of  $\omega$  to S; thus  $\omega|_S \in \{0, 1\}^{\mathbb{B}(S)}$ . We let  $P_p$  denote the product measure on  $\Omega$  at density p, and  $E_p$  denote expectation with respect to  $P_p$ . We will often suppress the subscript p in  $P_p$  and  $E_p$ .

For  $S_1$ ,  $S_2 \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ , we say that  $S_1$  is connected to  $S_2$  in the configuration  $\omega$  if there is a path of occupied bonds in  $\omega$  from a site in  $S_1$  to a site in  $S_2$ .

If such a path occurs within a set of bonds  $B \subset \mathbb{B}_d$ , we say that  $S_1$  is connected to  $S_2$  in B. Such paths may always be taken to be self-avoiding; henceforth, when we say that two sets are connected by a path, we will always mean a self-avoiding occupied path. The maximal connected subsets of  $\omega$  are called the (occupied) clusters of  $\omega$ . For  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ , we let  $C(\mathbf{x}) = C(\mathbf{x}; \omega)$  denote the cluster containing  $\mathbf{x}$  in  $\omega$ . Finally, for  $S \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ , we will denote by  $C(\mathbf{x})||_S = C(\mathbf{x})||_S$  $\equiv C(\mathbf{x}; \omega|_S)$  the connected component of  $\mathbf{x}$  in S. Note that  $C(\mathbf{x})||_S$  is generally a strict subset of the restriction of the set  $C(\mathbf{x})$  to S, i.e. the latter need not be a single component.

It should be remarked that, as defined,  $C(\mathbf{x})$  is a set of sites, not bonds. Thus, for  $S \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ , when we write  $|C(\mathbf{x}) \cap S|$ , we will always mean the cardinality of the set of sites  $C(\mathbf{x}) \cap S$ . However, when no confusion arises, we will often speak of "the cluster of  $\mathbf{x}$ " when we mean the bonds contained between sites in  $C(\mathbf{x})$ . Furthermore, unless otherwise specified, when we say that two such clusters are disjoint, we will mean that they are *bond* disjoint.

Let us review a few basic facts about percolation. First, it is well known ([BH]) that in dimension d > 1, the model undergoes a phase transition at the socalled *percolation threshold*,  $p_c = p_c(d) \in (0, 1)$ , below which the occupied clusters are finite w.p.1, and above which there is an infinite occupied cluster w.p.1. The order parameter for this transition is called the *infinite cluster density* (or *percolation probability*):

(2.5) 
$$P_{\infty}(p) = P_p(0)$$
 belongs to an infinite occupied cluster).

It is known ([Har; AKN]) that the infinite cluster is unique for  $p > p_c$ .

There is an a priori smaller critical point defined by divergence of the susceptibility:

(2.6) 
$$\chi(p) = E_p(|C(0)|) = \sum_{\mathbf{x}} \tau_{0,\mathbf{x}}(p).$$

Here  $\tau_{0,\mathbf{x}}(p)$  is the connectivity function defined in Eq. (1.1). However, it is now known ([K; AB; M; MMS]) that  $\chi(p) < \infty$  for  $p < p_c$ , from which it follows easily [H] that  $\xi(p) < \infty$  for  $p < p_c$ . Thus the a priori upper bound in Eq. (1.3) is non-trivial for all  $p < p_c$ . We will make repeated use of this bound and its off-axis generalization:

(2.7) 
$$\tau_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}(p) \leq e^{-|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}|/\xi(p)}.$$

We will also use the following bound [AN] on the tail of the finite cluster distribution:

(2.8) 
$$P_p(|C(0)| > n) \leq e^{-\kappa(p)n},$$

with  $\kappa(p) > 0$  for  $p < p_c$ . A final inequality which is quite useful in the low-density phase is the Hammersley-Simon ([H; Si1]) inequality on  $\tau_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}$ . Let  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  and

let  $S \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$  be a surface which separates x from y (including the degenerate case of a plane). Then

(2.9) 
$$\tau_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} \leq \sum_{\mathbf{Z} \in S} \tau_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{z}} \tau_{\mathbf{z},\mathbf{y}}.$$

We will also need a few general notions and inequalities.

**Definition 2.1.** Let  $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in \Omega$ . There is a natural partial order on  $\Omega$  defined by  $\omega_1 \prec \omega_2$  if all occupied bonds in  $\omega_1$  are also occupied in  $\omega_2$ . An event in  $\Omega$  is said to be *positive* or *increasing* (respectively, *negative* or *decreasing*) if its indicator function is nondecreasing (respectively, nonincreasing) with respect to this partial order.

The Harris-FKG inequality ([Har; FKG]) states that if  $A_1, A_2 \subset \Omega$  are both positive (or both negative) events, then

(2.10) 
$$P_p(A_1 \cap A_2) \ge P_p(A_1) P_p(A_2)$$

**Definition 2.2.** Let  $\omega \in A \subset \Omega$  and  $B \subset \mathbb{B}_d$ . The event A is said to occur on the set B in configuration  $\omega$  if A occurs in  $\omega$  restricted to B, regardless of the configuration in  $\mathbb{B}_d/B$ . We thus define the event

(2.11) 
$$A|_{B} = \{ \omega \in A | \tilde{\omega} \in A \text{ for all } \tilde{\omega} \text{ such that } \tilde{\omega} = \omega \text{ on all bonds in } B \}$$

Two events  $A_1, A_2 \subset \Omega$  are said to occur disjointy, denoted by  $A_1 \circ A_2$ , if there are (bond) disjoint sets on which they occur.

$$(2.12) \quad A_1 \circ A_2 = \{ \omega \in A_1 \subset A_2 | \exists B_1, B_2 \subset \mathbb{B}_d, B_1 \cap B_2 = \emptyset, \omega \in A_1 |_{B_1} \cap A_2 |_{B_2} \}.$$

The van den Berg-Kesten inequality [BK] states that if  $A_1, A_2 \subset \Omega$  are both positive (or both negative) events, then

(2.13) 
$$P_p(A_1 \circ A_2) \leq P_p(A_1) P_p(A_2)$$

This inequality was extended to the case of the  $A_i$  being intersections of positive and negtive events by van den Berg and Fiebig [BF].

#### 3. The basic connectivity functions

# 3a. Full and cylinder connectivity functions

Consider the connectivity event

(3.1) 
$$q_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} = \{ \omega | \mathbf{y} \in C(\mathbf{x}) \}.$$

Our goal is to prove statements (I)–(III) for the "free" connectivity function  $\tau_{x,y}(p) = P(\mathcal{G}_{x,y})$  and the corresponding point-to-plane connectivity function  $\mathbf{G}_L$  (cf. Eq. (1.4)). However, it turns out that we must first prove analogous statements for a slightly constrained connectivity function. To this end, consider the following:

**Definition 3.1.** For  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0), \mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L), L \ge 1$ , the point-to-point cylinder connectivity function  $h_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}$  is defined by

$$(3.2a) \ \mathscr{M}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} = \{ \omega | \mathbf{y} \in C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{S(L)}, C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{S(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(0) = \{ \mathbf{x} \}, C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{S(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(L) = \{ \mathbf{y} \} \}$$

$$h_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}(p) = P(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}),$$

while for L=0, we use the convention

(3.2c) 
$$h_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} = (1-p)^{2(d-1)} \delta_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}$$

For non-negative integers L, the point-to-plane cylinder connectivity function is defined by

(3.3) 
$$\mathbf{IH}_{L}(p) = \sum_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)} h_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}.$$

*Remark.* The term cylinder connectivity is sometimes used simply to denote the probability that two points are connected within the slab between their  $x_1$ -coordinates. Note, however, that in the above definition we impose the additional constraint that the intersection of the connected component of these points with the bounding planes consists solely of the two points. In the proof of Proposition 3.1 below, we will show that whenever  $p < p_c$ , the effective "conditionally expected" number of such intersections is finite, and hence the two types of cylinder connectivities differ inessentially. When we must distinguish the two types of boundary conditions (e.g., in the Appendix), we will refer to those used in (3.2) as *strict* cylinder conditions.

Below, we establish basic properties of the connectivity functions  $\mathbb{H}_L$  and  $\mathbb{G}_L$ : namely existence of decay rates and a priori bounds. More importantly, we show that  $\mathbb{H}_L$  and  $\mathbb{G}_L$  are bounded above and below in terms of one another *uniformly* in L.

**Proposition 3.1.** Let  $\mathbb{G}_L(p)$  and  $\mathbb{H}_L(p)$  be defined as in Eqs. (1.4) and (3.2). Then for all  $p \in (0, p_c)$ ,

(i) the limits

$$\lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{\log \mathbb{H}_L(p)}{L} = \lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{\log \mathbb{G}_L(p)}{L} = -\frac{1}{\zeta(p)}$$

exist, where  $\xi(p)$  is the decay rate of  $\tau_{0,L}$  as defined in Eq. (1.2); (ii) for every L

$$\mathbb{H}_{L}(p) \leq e^{-L/\xi(p)} \leq \mathbb{G}_{L}(p);$$

and

(iii)  $\exists \beta(p) > 0$  such that for every L

$$\beta(p) \mathbf{G}_L(p) \leq \mathbf{H}_L(p) \leq \mathbf{G}_L(p).$$

**Corollary.**  $\beta(p) e^{-L/\xi(p)} \leq \mathbb{H}(p) \leq e^{-L/\xi(p)}$ .

*Proof.* For the purposes of this proof, we will suppress the argument p in all quantities.

To prove the existence of a limit for the cylinder function, let  $L_1$ ,  $L_2$  be positive integers and  $\mathbf{a}_1, \mathbf{a}_2 \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ . The restriction of a configuration  $\omega_1 \varepsilon \mathbb{A}_{0,(L_1,\mathbf{a}_1)}$  to  $S(L_1)$  can be patched together with the translate of restriction to  $S(L_2)$  of an  $\omega_2 \varepsilon \mathbb{A}_{0,(L_2,\mathbf{a}_2)}$  to obtain a configuration in  $S(L_1+L_2)$  that is the restriction of a configuration in  $\mathbb{A}_{0,(L_1+L_2,\mathbf{a}_1+\mathbf{a}_2)}$ . Taking into account the repetition of the boundary conditions in the plane  $P(L_1)$  this implies

(3.4) 
$$h_{0,(L_1,\mathbf{a}_2)}h_{0,(L_2,\mathbf{a}_2)} \leq h_{0,(L_1+L_2,\mathbf{a}_1+\mathbf{a}_2)}(1-p)^{2(d-1)}$$

On the other hand, given  $L_1$  and  $L_2$ , such an  $\omega$  uniquely determines  $\mathbf{a}_1$  and  $\mathbf{a}_2$ . Thus we have the stronger inequality

(3.5) 
$$\sum_{\mathbf{a}_1} h_{0,(L_1,\mathbf{a}_1)} h_{0,(L_2,\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{a}_2)} \leq h_{0,(L_1+L_2,\mathbf{a})} (1-p)^{2(d-1)}$$

Summing over  $\mathbf{a}$  and  $\mathbf{a}_1$ , we obtain

(3.6) 
$$\mathbb{H}_{L_1}, \mathbb{H}_{L_2} \leq \mathbb{H}_{L_1+L_2}(1-p)^{2(d-1)}.$$

By standard arguments, the subadditive inequality (3.5) implies the existence of the first limit in (i) and the fact that it is reached from below (i.e. the first inequality in (ii)). To prove the corresponding statement for  $\mathbf{G}_L$ , again let  $L_1$ and  $L_2$  be positive integers and  $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ . The Hammersley-Simon inequality (2.9) for the connectivity function  $\tau_{0,(L_1+L_{2,a})}$  may be applied in the case where the bounding surface is the plane  $P(L_1)$ :

(3.7) 
$$\tau_{0,(L_1+L_2,\mathbf{a})} \leq \sum_{\mathbf{a}_1} \tau_{0,(L_1,\mathbf{a}_1)} \tau_{(L_1,\mathbf{a}_1),(L_1+L_2,\mathbf{a})}$$

Summing (3.6) over a and exploiting translational invariance, we get

$$(3.8) \qquad \qquad \mathbf{G}_{L_1}, \mathbf{G}_{L_2} \ge \mathbf{G}_{L_1+L_2}$$

which implies the existence of the second limit in (i) and the fact that it is reached from above (i.e. the second inequality in (ii)).

It is clear that (iii) implies the equality of the two limits. Furthermore, that the decay rate of  $\mathbf{G}_L$  equals that of  $\tau_{0,L}$  (c.f. Eq. (1.2)) is implied by the obvious bounds

(3.9) 
$$\tau_{0,L} \leq \mathbf{G}_L = \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(L)} \tau_{0,\mathbf{x}} \leq \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(L)} e^{-|\mathbf{x}|/\xi},$$

in which we have used the a priori bound (2.7) on  $\tau_{0,x}$ .

It remains to prove (iii). The second inequality in (iii) is trivial since every configuration in  $\Omega$  whose restriction to S(L) belongs in  $\mathscr{A}_{0,(L,a)}$  is also in  $\mathscr{G}_{0,(L,a)}$ .

To prove the first inequality in (iii), let us define a modified cylinder connectivity which need not obey the condition that C(0) have only a single point



Fig. 1. A configuration in  $\mathcal{G}_{0,(L,a)}$ 

of intersection with each of the bounding planes. That is, for  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0)$ ,  $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)$ , let

(3.10a)  $\widetilde{\lambda}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} = \{ \boldsymbol{\omega} | \mathbf{y} \in C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \}$ 

(3.10b) 
$$\tilde{h}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} = P(\tilde{\ell}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}})$$

(3.10 c) 
$$\widetilde{\mathbf{H}}_L = \sum_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)} \widetilde{h}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}.$$

First, let us relate  $\tilde{\mathbf{H}}_L$  to  $\mathbf{G}_L$ . If  $\omega \in_{\mathscr{J}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}}$ , then there are two points,  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0)$  and  $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)$ , and three disjoint occupied paths: a (possibly trivial) path from 0 to  $\mathbf{x}$ , a (possibly trivial) path from  $\mathbf{y}$  to  $(L, \mathbf{a})$ , and a non-trivial path from  $\mathbf{x}$  to  $\mathbf{y}$  in  $\mathbf{S}(L)$ . (See Fig. 1 for clarification.) It then follows from the van den Berg-Kesten inequality (2.12) that

(3.11) 
$$\tau_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} \leq \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0) \\ \mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)}} \tau_{0,\mathbf{x}} \, \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} \, \tau_{\mathbf{y},(L,\mathbf{a})}.$$

Summing over  $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ , we obtain

$$\mathbf{G}_{L} \leq \chi^{2} \, \mathbf{\tilde{H}}_{L}$$

where  $\chi$  was defined in Eq. (2.6).

We now want to relate  $\mathbb{H}_L$  to  $\mathbb{H}_L$ . To this end, let us (disjointly) partition  $\widetilde{\mathbb{X}}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  according to the number of intersections of  $C(0)||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  with the planes  $\mathbf{P}(0)$  and  $\mathbf{P}(L)$ :

(3.13 a) 
$$\widetilde{\mathscr{A}}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1,k_2)} = \{ \omega | (L, \mathbf{a} \in C(0) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}, |C(0)\|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(0) | \\ = k_1, |C(0)\|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(L)| = k_2 \},$$

(3.13 b) 
$$\widetilde{\lambda}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1)} = \bigcup_{k_2 \ge 1} \widetilde{\lambda}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1,k_2)},$$

and define the connectivity functions

(3.14a) 
$$\widetilde{h}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1,k_2)} = P(\widetilde{\mathscr{A}}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1,k_2)})$$

(3.14 b) 
$$\tilde{h}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1)} = \sum_{k_2 \ge 1} \tilde{h}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1,k_2)} = P(\tilde{\mathbb{Z}}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1)}).$$



Fig. 2. Configurations in  $\tilde{k}_{0,(L,n)}^{(k_1)}$  corresponding to cases (a) and (b). For pictorial clarity, we have omitted the additional  $k_1 - 2$  connections of  $C(0)|_{S(L)}$  to the boundary

Then the boundary conditions in the definitions of k and  $\tilde{k}$  imply

(3.15) 
$$h_{0,(L+2,\mathbf{a})} = \sum_{k_1,k_2 \ge 1} \tilde{h}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1,k_2)} \left[ (1-p)^{2(d-1)} p \right]^2 (1-p)^{k_1+k_2-2}$$

so that

(3.16) 
$$\mathbf{H}_{L+2} = \sum_{k_1, k_2 \ge 1} \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{L}^{(k_1, k_2)} [(1-p)^{2(d-1)}p]^2 (1-p)^{k_1+k_2-2},$$

where

(3.17) 
$$\widetilde{\mathbf{H}}_{L}^{(k_1,k_2)} = \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z} \\ d-1}} \widetilde{h}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1,k_2)}.$$

By the Jensen inequality

(3.19) 
$$\mathbf{H}_{L+2} \ge \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{L} \left[ (1-p)^{2(d-1)} p \right]^2 (1-p)^{2\bar{K}_L-2}$$

where

(3.20) 
$$\vec{K}_L = \sum_{\substack{k_1 \ge 1 \\ k_2 \ge 1}} k_1 \frac{\tilde{\mathbf{H}}_L^{(k_1, k_2)}}{\tilde{\mathbf{H}}_L}.$$

Let us now consider a configuration in  $\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1)}$ . If there are  $k_1$  points in  $C(0)||_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(0)$ , at least one of them, say  $\mathbf{x}$ , is at a distance greater than (const.)  $k_1^{1/(d-1)}$  from 0. Let  $\mathbf{B}\left(\mathbf{x}, \frac{|\mathbf{x}|}{2}\right)$  denote the ball (i.e. cube) of radius  $\frac{|\mathbf{x}|}{2}$  about  $\mathbf{x}$  and let  $\partial \mathbf{B}\left(\mathbf{x}, \frac{|\mathbf{x}|}{2}\right)$  denote its boundary. We distinguish two possible cases (see Fig. 2):

(a) There is a connection from 0 to  $(L, \mathbf{a})$  outside  $\mathbf{B}\left(\mathbf{x}, \frac{|\mathbf{x}|}{2}\right)$ , and an independent connection from  $\mathbf{x}$  to some point of  $\partial \mathbf{B}\left(\mathbf{x}, \frac{|\mathbf{x}|}{2}\right)$ .

(b) There is a connection from **x** to  $(L, \mathbf{a})$ , and an independent connection from 0 to some point of  $\partial \mathbf{B}\left(\mathbf{x}, \frac{|\mathbf{x}|}{2}\right)$ .

By the van den Berg-Kesten inequality (2.12), we therefore have

(3.21) 
$$\widetilde{h}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(k_1)} \leq \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x}\in\mathbf{P}(0)\\|\mathbf{x}|\geq(\mathrm{const.})k_1^{1/(d-1)}}} \widetilde{h}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}(\mathrm{const.})|\mathbf{x}|^{d-1}e^{-|\mathbf{x}|/\xi}$$
$$+ \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x}\in\mathbf{P}(0)\\|\mathbf{x}|\geq(\mathrm{const.})k_1^{1/(d-1)}}} \widetilde{h}_{\mathbf{x},(L,\mathbf{a})}|\mathbf{x}|^{d-1}e^{-|\mathbf{x}|/2\xi}.$$

Thus

$$(3.22) \quad \bar{K}_{L} \leq \tilde{\mathbf{H}}_{L}^{-1} \sum_{k_{1} \geq 1} k_{1} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0) \\ |\mathbf{x}| \geq (\operatorname{const.})k_{1}^{1/(d-1)}}} \sum_{\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} \\ \cdot \left[ \tilde{h}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} \left( \operatorname{const.} \right) |\mathbf{x}|^{d-1} e^{-|\mathbf{x}|/\xi} + \tilde{h}_{\mathbf{x},(L,\mathbf{a})} |\mathbf{x}|^{d-1} e^{-|\mathbf{x}|/2\xi} \right] \\ = \sum_{k_{1} \geq 1} k_{1} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0) \\ |\mathbf{x}| \geq (\operatorname{const.})k_{1}^{1/(d-1)}}} (\operatorname{const.}) [|\mathbf{x}|^{d-1} e^{-|\mathbf{x}|/\xi} + |\mathbf{x}|^{d-1} e^{-|\mathbf{x}|/2\xi}] \\ \leq K,$$

with K = K(p) a constant independent of L which is finite for  $p < p_c$ . Inserting (3.22) into (3.19), we obtain

with K'(p) independent of L and finite for  $p < p_c$ . The first inequality of (iii) follows immediately from (3.23) and (3.12).

# 3b. The direct connectivity function

In order to control the analytic structure of the transforms of  $h_{x,y}$  (and  $\tau_{x,y}$ ) we would like to relate  $h_{x,y}$  to another connectivity function via a renewal type equation, and to prove that the latter function has a strictly faster decay rate than  $h_{x,y}$ . To this end, we propose the following:

**Definition 3.2.** For  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0)$ ,  $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)$ ,  $L \ge 1$ , the point-to-point direct connectivity function  $c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}$  is defined by

(3.24a) 
$$c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} = \{ \omega | \mathbf{y} \in C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}, C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(0) = \{ \mathbf{x} \}, C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(L) = \{ \mathbf{y} \}, |C(\mathbf{x})\|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(j) | \ge 2 \forall 1 \le j \le L-1 \},$$

while for L=0, we use the convention

(3.24 c) 
$$c_{x,y}(p) = 0.$$

For non-negative integers, the *point-to-plane direct connectivity function* is defined by

(3.25) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{L}(p) = \sum_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)} c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}(p).$$

*Remark.* Notice that the configurations in  $c_{x,y}$  are just the subset of those in  $k_{x,y}$  which satisfy the constraint

$$|C(\mathbf{x})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(j)| \ge 2$$

in every interior plane (i.e.  $\forall 1 \leq j \leq L-1$ ). We will occasionally refer to (3.26) as the "**C**-condition."

It is easy to show that  $\mathbb{C}_L$  has a well-defined decay rate:

**Proposition 3.2.** Let  $\mathbb{C}_L(p)$  be defined as in Eq. (3.25). Then for all  $p \in (0, p_c)$ ,

(i) the limit

$$\lim_{L\to\infty}\frac{1}{L}\log \mathbb{C}_L(p) = -\frac{1}{\xi_c(p)}$$

exists, and there is a  $\lambda(p) < \infty$  such that for all L

 $\mathbb{C}_L(p) \leq \lambda(p) e^{-L/\xi_c(p)};$ 

(ii) furthermore

$$\frac{1}{2}\xi(p) \leq \xi_c(p) \leq \xi(p),$$

where  $\xi(p)$  is the decay rate of  $\tau_{0,L}$  as defined in Eq. (1.2).

*Proof.* (i) As in the proof of the sharp decay rate for  $\mathbb{H}_L$ , we claim that  $\mathbb{C}_L$  has a subadditive inequality of the form:

Indeed by patching together the restrictions of two configurations  $\omega_1 \in \mathscr{C}_{0,(L_1,\mathbf{a}_1)}$ and a translate of  $\omega_2 \in \mathscr{C}_{0,(L_2,\mathbf{a}_2)}$ , we obtain the restriction of a configuration  $\omega$  which satisfies all the conditions of the event  $\mathscr{C}_{0,(L_1+L_2,\mathbf{a}_1+\mathbf{a}_2)}$  except the  $\mathbb{C}$ condition (Eq. (3.26)) in the plane  $P(L_1)$ . However, if our patching procedure includes occupying one of the 2(d-1) vacant bonds incident on  $(L_1,\mathbf{a}_1)$  in  $P(L_1)$ , say  $(L_1,\mathbf{a}_1)+e_2$ , and vacating the possibly occupied 2d-1 other bonds incident on  $(L_1,\mathbf{a}_1)+e_2$  in  $P(L_1)$ , then the resulting configuration  $\omega^*$  is in  $\mathscr{C}_{0,(L_1+L_2,\mathbf{a}_1+\mathbf{a}_2)}$ . More importantly, given  $L_1$  and  $L_2$ , such an  $\omega^*$  uniquely determines  $\mathbf{a}_1$  and  $\mathbf{a}_2$ . Thus we obtain both an inequality analogous to (3.4) and a strengthened inequality of the form (3.5). Summing over the intermediate points, this yields (3.27), with  $\lambda(p)/(1-p)^{2(d-1)}$  the cost of the patching procedure described above. As before, this implies the existence of the limit for  $L^{-1} \log \mathbb{C}_L(p)$  and the fact that the limit is reached from below.

(ii) The inequality  $\xi_c(p) \leq \xi(p)$  follows from the bound  $\mathbb{C}_L \leq \mathbb{H}_L$ , which holds for all L. To prove the inequality  $\xi \leq 2\xi_c$ , let us define the on-axis direct connecti-

vity function  $c_{0,L} \equiv c_{0,(L,0,\dots,0)}$ . We claim that this connectivity also obeys the conclusions of (i): namely the limit

(3.28) 
$$\lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{1}{L} \log - \frac{c_{0,L}(p)}{L}$$

exists, is equal to  $1/\xi_c(p)$  and provides the a priori bound

(3.29) 
$$c_{0,L}(p) \leq \lambda(p) e^{-L/\xi_c(p)}$$

for all L.

Specializing the weak subadditive inequality to the case  $a_1 = a_2 = 0$ , we obtain the existence of the limit in (3.28), denoted temporarily by  $\xi_c^*$ , and the fact that it is reached from below. Furthermore, the analogue of (3.4) with  $a_1 = -a_2 = a$ , then gives

(3.30) 
$$c_{0,(\mathbf{L},\mathbf{a})} \leq \lambda(p) e^{-L/\xi_c^*}$$

 $\forall \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ . This may of course be supplemented with the obvious estimate

(3.31) 
$$c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} = O(e^{-L^2/\xi})$$

for  $|\mathbf{a}| > L^2$ . Then an analogue of (3.9), implies  $\xi_c^* = \xi_c$  and hence (3.29), as claimed. Next, we may define the double connectivity event

(3.32a)  $\mathcal{J}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} = \{ \omega \in \mathbb{A}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} | \exists 2 \text{ disjoint connections between } \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{e}_1 \text{ and } \mathbf{y} - \mathbf{e}_1 \}$ 

and the functions

$$(3.32b) j_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}(p) = P(j_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}})$$

and  $j_{0,L} \equiv j_{0,(L,0,\dots,0)}$ . By the van den Berg-Kesten inequality, we have

$$(3.33) j_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} \leq (\text{const.}) [\tilde{h}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}]^2,$$

and hence that

(3.34) 
$$\lim_{L\to\infty} -\frac{\log j_{0,L}}{L} \leq \frac{2}{\xi}.$$

On the other hand, by considering connectivity functions confined, for example, to half spaces, it is straightforward to establish that

(3.35) 
$$\lim_{L \to \infty} -\frac{\log j_{0,L}}{L} \ge \frac{2}{\xi}.$$

The desired inequality follows from the observation that

Remark. In light of the above result, it is interesting to note that

$$\lim_{p \to 0} \frac{\xi(p)}{\xi_c(p)} = 2$$

However, we do not, at this time, have any speculation about this ratio in the limit  $p \uparrow p_c$ .

In our subsequent analysis, we will also require a direct connectivity function with free boundary conditions. Thus we define:

**Definition 3.3.** For  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0)$ ,  $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)$ ,  $L \ge 1$ , the point-to-point free direct connectivity function  $k_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}$  is defined by

(3.37a) 
$$k_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}} = \{ \omega | \mathbf{y} \in C(\mathbf{x}), |C(\mathbf{x}) \cap \mathbf{P}(j)| \ge 2 \forall 1 \le j \le L-1 \},$$

$$k_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{v}}(p) = P(\boldsymbol{k}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{v}}),$$

while for L=0, we use the convention

(3.37c) 
$$k_{x,y}(p) = 0.$$

For non-negative integers, the point-to-plane free direct connectivity function is defined by

(3.38) 
$$\mathbb{K}_L(p) = \sum_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)} k_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}(p).$$

As with the other connectivity functions, it is easy to show the existence of a decay rate:

**Proposition 3.3.** Let  $\mathbb{K}_L(p)$  be defined as in Eq. (3.38). Then for all  $p \in (0, p_c)$  the limit

$$\lim_{L \to \infty} \frac{1}{L} \log \mathbb{K}_L(p) = -\frac{1}{\xi_k(p)}$$

exists.

*Proof.* Let  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  be positive integers and  $\mathbf{a}_1, \mathbf{a}_2 \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ . We use the Harris-FKG inequality and an easy patching argument to show that

(3.39) 
$$k_{0,(L_1,\mathbf{a}_1)} k_{0,(L_2,\mathbf{a}_2)} \leq (\text{const.}) k_{0,(L_1+L_2,\mathbf{a}_1+\mathbf{a}_2)}.$$

Notice that this is an analogue of the weak subadditive inequalities for h and c (e.g., Eq. (3.4)). Thus, following exactly the first half of the proof of Proposition 3.2 (ii), (3.39) establishes existence of a limiting decay rate for the on-axis functions  $k_{0,L} \equiv k_{0,(L,0,\ldots,0)}$  and an a priori bound of the form (3.31) for the off-axis functions  $k_{0,(L,a)}$ . Then we can prove existence of a limiting decay rate for  $\mathbb{K}_L$  by "squeezing" with an inequality of the form (3.9). Notive, however, that this does not establish an a priori bound on  $\mathbb{K}_L$ .

*Remark.* At several points in our subsequent analysis, we will need to use the fact that the direct connectivity function is essentially independent of boundary conditions. The strongest form of independence is of course uniform bounds analogous to those of Proposition 3.1 (iii). Uniform bounds for the direct connec-

tivities are provided in Proposition 3.4 below, the proof of which appears in an appendix. The proof is substantially more complicated than that for the ordinary connectivities (i.e.  $\mathbb{G}_L$  and  $\mathbb{H}_L$ ), since, with free boundary conditions, paths can satisfy the  $\mathbb{C}$ -condition by rather devious (though improbable) mechanisms.

**Proposition 3.4.** Let  $\mathbb{C}_L(p)$  and  $\mathbb{K}_L(p)$  be defined as in (3.25) and (3.38), and let the decay rates  $\xi(p)$ ,  $\xi_c(p)$  and  $\xi_k(p)$  be given as in (1.2), and Propositions 3.2 and 3.3. Then for all  $p \in (0, p_c)$ , either  $\xi_c(p) = \xi_k(p) = \frac{1}{2}\xi(p)$  or  $\exists D(p) < \infty$  such that

$$\mathbb{K}_L(p) \leq D(p) \mathbb{C}_L(p)$$

uniformly in L.

#### 4. The Ornstein-Zernike equation and its consequences

In this section, we derive an Ornstein-Zernike equation, i.e. a renewal equation relating the cylinder functions to the direct correlation functions. Then we prove that if  $\xi_c < \xi$ , the Ornstein-Zernike equation implies analogues of results (I)–(III) of the introduction for the *cylinder* functions. The fact that  $\xi_c < \xi$  for all  $p < p_c$  is established in the next section.

**Proposition 4.1.** Let the functions  $h_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ ,  $\mathbb{H}_{L}(p)$ ,  $c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  and  $\mathbb{C}_{L}(p)$  be defined as in Eqs. (3.2), (3.3), (3.24), and (3.25), with the conventions  $h_{0,(0,\mathbf{a})} = f^{-1}(p) \delta_{\mathbf{a}=0}$ ,  $f(p) \equiv (1-p)^{-2(d-1)}$ , so that  $\mathbb{H}_{0}(p) = f^{-1}(p)$  and  $c_{0,(0,\mathbf{a})} = 0$  so that  $\mathbb{C}_{0}(p) = 0$ . Then  $\forall L \ge 1$ 

$$h_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} = f(p) \sum_{N=0}^{L} \sum_{b \in \mathbf{P}(N)} c_{0,(N,\mathbf{b})} h_{0,(L-N,\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{b})}$$

and thus

$$\mathbf{H}_{L} = f(p) \sum_{N=0}^{L} \mathbf{\mathbb{C}}_{N} \mathbf{H}_{L-N}.$$

*Proof.* First, for L = 1, the equation is satisfied by noting that  $h_{0,(1,\mathbf{a})} = c_{0,(1,\mathbf{a})} \forall \mathbf{a}$ . Now take  $L \ge 2$  and consider a configuration  $\omega \in \mathscr{A}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ . There are two possibilities: either there is a j with  $1 \le j \le L - 1$  such that

$$(4.1) |C(0)||_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(j)| = 1$$

or no such j exists. In the latter case,  $\omega \in c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ .

In the former case, let the smallest j satisfying (4.1) be denoted by N. Then, it is clear that  $\omega \in c_{0,(N,\mathbf{b})}$  for some  $\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ , while  $T^{(-N,-\mathbf{b})} \omega \in \mathscr{K}_{0,(L-N,\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{b})}$ . Note that the only intersection of the regions in which  $c_{0,(N,\mathbf{b})}$  and  $\mathscr{K}_{(N,\mathbf{b}),(L,\mathbf{a})}$  are defined is the bounding plane  $\mathbf{P}(N)$ , where both events require simply that the 2(d-1) bonds emanating from  $(N, \mathbf{b})$  be vacant.

Conversely, given an  $\omega_1|_{\mathbf{S}(N)} \in c_{0,(N,\mathbf{b})}$  and an  $\omega_2|_{\mathbf{S}(L-N)} \in \mathscr{K}_{0,(L-N,a-b)}$ , we can "patch" them together to form an  $\omega_{\iota_{\mathbf{S}(L)}} \subset \mathscr{K}_{0,(L,a)}$ . Moreover, this  $\omega$  satisfies the conditions that the smallest *j* obeying (4.1) is j=N and that the unique point in the plane  $\mathbf{P}(N)$  belonging to the connected cluster of the origin and

 $(L, \mathbf{a})$  is  $(N, \mathbf{b})$ . Finally, note that these  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$  separately satisfy the condition that the 2(d-1) bonds emanating from  $(N, \mathbf{b})$  in  $\mathbf{P}(N)$  be unoccupied.

Thus, we have

(4.2) 
$$h_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} = (1-p)^{-2(d-1)} \sum_{N=0}^{L} \sum_{\mathbf{b} \in \mathbf{P}(N)} c_{0,(N,\mathbf{b})} h_{0,(L-N,\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{b})}$$

as desired.

In order to derive results (I)-(III), we consider the transforms of the connectivity functions

(4.3 a) 
$$\hat{h}(z, \mathbf{k}; p) = f(p) \sum_{L, \mathbf{a}} h_{\mathbf{0}, (L, \mathbf{a})}(p) z^L e^{i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{a}}$$

(4.3b) 
$$\widehat{\mathbf{H}}(z;p) = f(p) \sum_{L} \mathbf{H}_{L}(p) z^{L} = \widehat{h}(z,0;p)$$

and

(4.4a) 
$$\hat{c}(z,\mathbf{k};p) = f(p) \sum_{L,\mathbf{a}} c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}(p) z^L e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{a}}$$

(4.4 b) 
$$\widehat{\mathbf{C}}(z;p) = f(p) \sum_{L} \mathbf{C}_{L}(p) z^{L} = \widehat{c}(z,0;p)$$

Henceforth, we will occasionally suppress the argument p in the transform functions.

In terms of these transforms, the Ornstein-Zernike equation is simply

(4.5) 
$$\widehat{h}(z,\mathbf{k};p) = \frac{1}{1 - \widehat{c}(z,\mathbf{k};p)}.$$

Information on the connectivity functions can be recovered from (4.5) via contour integration:

(4.6) 
$$h_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}(p) = f^{-1}(p) \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dz}{z^{L+1}} \int_{[-\pi,+\pi]^{d-1}} \frac{1}{1 - \hat{c}(z,\mathbf{k};p)} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{a}} \frac{d\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}}.$$

The utility of the condition  $\xi_c < \xi$  should now be clear: Although  $\hat{h}$  is a priori defined only for  $|z| < e^{1/\xi}$ , if  $\xi_c < \xi$ , then (4.5) provides a meromorphic extension of  $\hat{h}$  to a disk of a larger radius. In order to exploit this, we will need a few properties of  $\hat{c}$ , as summarized below:

**Proposition 4.2.** Let  $c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  and  $\mathbb{C}_L(p)$  be defined as in Eqs. (3.24) and (3.25), with the decay rate  $\xi_c(p)$  given by Proposition 3.2. Then the transform functions defined by Eq. (4.4) satisfy:

- (i)  $\forall p < p_c, \forall |z| < e^{1/\xi_c(p)}$
- (a)  $\hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  is an even function of each component of  $\mathbf{k}$ ;
- (b)  $\forall \mathbf{k} with |\operatorname{Re}(k_i)| \leq \pi, \operatorname{Im}(k_i) = 0$  $|\hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)| \leq \hat{c}(|z|, 0; p) \equiv \hat{\mathbf{C}}(|z|; p);$
- (ii)  $\forall p < p_c, \forall |z_0| < e^{1/\xi_c(p)}, \exists \delta_k = \delta_k(p, z_0)$ >0 such that  $\hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  is analytic in the regions  $|z| \leq |z_0|$  and  $|\mathbf{k}| \leq \delta_k$ ;
- (iii)  $\forall p_0 < p_c, \forall |z_0| < e^{1/\xi_c(p_0)}, \exists \delta_p = \delta_p(p_0, z_0)$ >0 such that  $\hat{\mathbf{C}}(z; p)$  is analytic in the regions  $|z| \leq |z_0|$  and  $|p| \leq p_0(1 + \delta_p)$ .

*Proof.* (i) These properties follow immediately from positivity and symmetry of the coefficients  $c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ .

(ii) Let  $|z_0| = e^{1/\xi_c - 2\varepsilon}$ . It suffices to show that  $\exists \delta_k(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that

(4.7) 
$$\sum_{L,\mathbf{a}} c_{\mathbf{0},(L,\mathbf{a})} z^L e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{a}}$$

converges absolutely in the regions  $|z| \leq |z_0|$  and  $|k| \leq \delta_k(p, \varepsilon)$ . Indeed, take z such that  $|z| \leq |z_0|$  and  $\mathbf{k} |\mathbf{k}| \leq \varepsilon \xi_c/\xi$ . Then

(4.8) 
$$\left|\sum_{L,\mathbf{a}} c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} z^{L} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{a}}\right| \leq \sum_{L,\mathbf{a}} c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} e^{\left[1/\xi_{c}-2\varepsilon\right]L} e^{\left[\varepsilon\xi_{c}/\xi\right]|\mathbf{a}|}.$$

We divide the sum over **a** into two regions:  $|\mathbf{a}| \leq [\xi/\xi_c] L$  and  $|\mathbf{a}| > [\xi/\xi_c] L$ . Using the a priori upper bound on  $\mathbb{C}_L$  from Proposition 3.2, the "small **a**" sum is bounded by

(4.9) 
$$(\text{const.})\sum_{L} [(\xi/\xi_c) L]^{d-1} e^{-[1/\xi_c]L} e^{[1/\xi_c-2\varepsilon]L} e^{\varepsilon L} < \infty.$$

Now, using the obvious bound  $c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} \leq e^{-|\mathbf{a}|/\xi}$ , the "large **a**" sum is less than

(4.10) 
$$(\operatorname{const.})\sum_{L} e^{-[1/\xi_c]L} e^{[1/\xi_c-2\varepsilon]L} e^{\varepsilon L} < \infty,$$

which establishes the absolute convergence of (4.7).

(iii) Let us begin by defining a "lattice animal" generalization of  $\mathbb{C}_L(p)$ . Thus consider

(4.11) 
$$\mathbf{A}_L(r,q) \equiv \sum_{n,m} \Gamma_{nm}(L) r^n q^m,$$

where  $\Gamma_{nm}(L) \ge 0$  is the number of clusters of volume (number of bonds) *n* and boundary (number of bonds outside the cluster but connected to it) *m* which connect the origin and the point (L, 0, ..., 0), which have only a single point of intersection with each of the planes P(0) and P(L), and which obey the **C**-condition (Eq. (3.26)) in each of the intermediate planes P(j),  $1 \le j \le L-1$ . Notice that  $\Gamma_{nm}(L)=0$  unless  $m \le 2(2d-1)n$ . Clearly  $\mathbb{C}_L(p) = \mathbb{A}_L(p, 1-p)$ . Thus analyticity of  $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}(z; r, q) = \sum_L \mathbb{A}_L(r, q) z^L$  in

z, r and q certainly implies analyticity of  $\hat{\mathbb{C}}_L(z; p)$  in z and p. In fact we will prove the stronger result.

For future reference, note that the tail of the sum in (4.11) is bounded by the tail of the finite cluster distribution, which is in turn known (cf. Eq. (2.8)) to be exponentially bounded for  $p < p_c$ :

(4.12) 
$$\sum_{\substack{n > n_0 \\ m}} \Gamma_{nm}(L) p^n (1-p)^m \leq \operatorname{Prob}_p(|C(0)| > m_0) \leq (\operatorname{const.}) e^{-\kappa(p)n_0}$$

with  $\kappa(p) > 0$  for  $p < p_c$ .

Let  $p_0 < p_c$  and  $|z_0| = e^{1/\xi_c(p_0) - 2\varepsilon}$ . As explained above, it is enough to show that  $\exists \delta_r(p_0, \hat{\varepsilon}), \delta_q(p_0, \varepsilon) > 0$  such that

(4.13) 
$$\sum_{L,n,m} z^L \Gamma_{nm}(L) r^n q^m$$

converges absolutely in the regions  $|z| \leq |z_0|, |r| \leq |p_0|(1+\delta_r), |q| \leq (1-p_0)(1+\delta_q)$ . Indeed, take z such that  $|z| \leq |z_0|, r$  such that  $|r| \leq p_0 e^{\varepsilon_p}$  and q such that  $|q| \leq (1-p_0)e^{\varepsilon_p}$  with  $\varepsilon_p = [4d-1]^{-1}\varepsilon\kappa(p_0)\xi_c(p_0)$ . (Recall that  $\kappa(p_0)$  is the decay rate of the finite cluster distribution.) Then

(4.14) 
$$\sum_{L,n,m} z^{L} \Gamma_{nm}(L) r^{n} q^{m} \leq \sum_{L,n,m} e^{[1/\xi_{c}(p_{0})-2\varepsilon]L} e^{\varepsilon_{p}[n+m]} \cdot \Gamma_{nm}(L) p_{0}^{n} (1-p_{0})^{m}.$$

As in the proof of (ii), we divide the sum over *n* into two regions:  $n \leq n_0$  and  $n > n_0$ , with  $n_0 = [\kappa(p_0) \xi_c(p_0)]^{-1}L$ . For each term in the "small *n*" sum, we bound  $e^{\varepsilon_p [n+m]}$  by its maximum value  $e^{\varepsilon_p [n_0 + 2(2d-1)n_0]} = e^{\varepsilon L}$ , and then relax the restriction that  $n \leq n_0$ , to obtain the upper bound

(4.15) 
$$(\text{const.})\sum_{L} 2(2d-1)(n_0 L)^2 e^{[1/\xi_c - 2\varepsilon]L} e^{\varepsilon L} \mathbb{C}_L(p_0)$$
$$\leq (\text{const.})\sum_{L} 2(2d-1)(n_0 L)^2 e^{[1/\xi_c - 2\varepsilon]L} e^{\varepsilon L} e^{-[1/\xi_c]L} < \infty$$

On the other hand, according to (4.12), the "large n" sum is also bounded:

(4.16) 
$$(\operatorname{const.})\sum_{L} e^{[1/\xi_{c}-2\varepsilon]L} e^{\varepsilon L} \sum_{\substack{n>n_{0}\\m}} \Gamma_{nm}(L) p_{0}^{n} (1-p_{0})^{m}$$
$$\leq (\operatorname{const.})\sum_{L} e^{[1/\xi_{c}-2\varepsilon]L} e^{\varepsilon L} e^{-\kappa[\kappa\xi_{c}]^{-1}L} < \infty,$$

which establishes the absolute convergence of the sum (4.13).  $\Box$ 

Next we derive the consequences of the Ornstein-Zernike equation: first, a lemma we will need to control the renormalization scheme of Sect. 5, and then, results (I)-(III) for the cylinder functions. Results (I) and (II) for the free connectivity

function are established in Sect. 6. Much of the analysis in the rest of this section parallels previous analyses of Ornstein-Zernike equations in other systems, some of which is repeated here for completeness.

**Lemma 4.3.** ([CC2], Proposition 4.1). Let  $\mathbb{H}_{L}(p)$  and  $\mathbb{C}_{L}(p)$  be defined as in Eqs. (3.2), (3.3), (3.24), (3.25) with the decay rate  $\xi(p)$  of  $\mathbb{H}_{L}$  given by Proposition 3.1 (i). Remember that  $\mathbb{H}_{L}$  satisfies the corollary to Proposition 3.1, and that the transform functions  $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(z)$  and  $\hat{\mathbb{C}}(z)$  are related by (the  $\mathbf{k} = 0$  form of) equation (4.5):  $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(z) = [1 - \hat{\mathbb{C}}(z)]^{-1}$ . Then:

(i) 
$$\widehat{\mathbb{C}}(e^{1/\xi}) = 1$$
; and

(ii)  $\sum_{L=0}^{\infty} L \mathbb{C}_L e^{L/\xi} < \infty.$ 

By Proposition 3.4, we also have:

**Corollary.** 
$$\sum_{L=0}^{\infty} L \mathbb{K}_L e^{L/\xi} < \infty.$$

*Proof.* The proof given in [CC2] holds without any modification. One simply notes that the left hand sides of (i) and (ii) can be expressed as the  $x \uparrow e^{1/\xi}$  limits of  $\hat{\mathbb{C}}(x)$  and  $x \frac{d}{dx} \hat{\mathbb{C}}(x)$ , respectively, for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$ . These quantities can then be bounded, via the Ornstein-Zernike equation, by computing  $\hat{\mathbb{H}}(x) = \sum \mathbb{H}_L x^L$  using the upper and lower bounds on  $\mathbb{H}_L$  from the corollary to Proposition 3.1.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 4.4.** Let the functions  $h_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ ,  $\mathbf{H}_L(p)$ ,  $c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  and  $\mathbf{C}_L(p)$  be defined as in Eqs. (3.2), (3.3), (3.24), and (3.25), with decay rates  $\xi(p)$  and  $\xi_c(p)$  as given by Propositions 3.1(i) and 3.2(i). Remember that  $\mathbf{H}_L(p)$  obeys the corollary to Proposition 3.1. Suppose further that the transformed functions  $\hat{h}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  and  $\hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  are related by an Ornstein-Zernike equation of the form (4.5), and remember that  $\hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  satisfies the conclusions of Proposition 4.2 and Lemma 4.3(i). Then whenever  $\xi_c(p) < \xi(p)$ :

(I)  $\exists \tilde{K}_2(p) \leq 1, \Delta(p) > 0$  such that

$$|\mathbb{H}_{L}(p) e^{+L/\xi(p)} - \widetilde{K}_{2}(p)| \leq e^{-\Delta(p)L}.$$

(II)  $\exists \alpha(p) > 0$  such that  $\forall \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  satisfying  $|\mathbf{a}| \leq L^{3/4-\varepsilon}$  with  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$h_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} \sim \tilde{K}_{2}(p) \frac{1}{[\alpha(p) \pi L]^{(d-1)/2}} e^{-L/\xi(p)} e^{-\mathbf{a}^{2}/[\alpha(p)L]} [1 + O(L^{-1, L-4\varepsilon})].$$

In particular:

(i) The expression above represents the first term in an asymptotic expansion: i.e., for any fixed function  $\mathbf{a}(L)$ ,  $[\mathbf{a}(L)] \leq L^{3/4-\varepsilon}$ , with  $\mathbf{a}(L)$  tending to infinity (e.g. as a power of L), the  $O(L^{-1}, L^{-4\varepsilon})$  terms can be systematically calculated in an asymptotic series.

(ii) The error term is uniform in **a**: i.e.  $\exists d_1(p), d_2(p) < \infty$  such that  $\forall \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  satisfying  $|\mathbf{a}| \leq L^{3/4-\varepsilon}$ 

$$|[h_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}][\alpha(p) \pi L]^{(d-1)/2} e^{+L/\xi(p)} e^{+\mathbf{a}^2/[\alpha(p)L]} - \tilde{K}_2(p)| \leq \frac{d_1(p)}{L} + \frac{d_2(p)}{L^{4\varepsilon}}$$

(iii) The tail of the distribution is uniformly bounded: i.e.  $\exists d_3(p) < \infty$  such that  $\forall \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  satisfying  $|\mathbf{a}| \leq L^{3/4-\varepsilon}$ 

$$\sum_{\mathbf{b}: |b_j| \ge |a_j|} h_{0,(L,\mathbf{b})} \le d_3(p) L^{(d-1)/2} e^{-L/\xi(p)} e^{-\mathbf{a}^2/[\alpha(p)L]}$$

where  $a_i$  and  $b_j$  are the  $j^{th}$  components of the vectors **a** and **b**.

(III)  $\xi(p)$  is real analytic.

*Remark.* The hypothesis  $\xi_c(p) < \xi(p)$  is verified for all  $p < p_c$  in Theorem 5.4; thus (I)–(III) hold throughout the low-density phase.

*Proof.* Much of the following proof can be found in the union of ([ACC2], Theorems 2.4, 2.7, 4.1 and 5.5; Lemmas B.1 and B.2) and ([CC3], Theorems 5.10 and 5.11). There, however, a complete asymptotic analysis along the lines of equations (4.31)–(4.42) of the following proof was not done explicitly, and hence in [CC2] it was (overenthusiastically) concluded that an analogue of (II) holds  $\forall |\mathbf{a}| < \eta L$ , for some  $\eta > 0$ , rather than  $\forall |\mathbf{a}| \leq |\mathbf{a}| \leq L^{3/4-\varepsilon}$ . Actually for  $L^{3/4} \leq L^{1-\varepsilon}$ , one can derive an analogue of (II); however, it need not have the Gaussian form. Here we present a complete proof.

(I) By positivity of coefficients,  $\hat{\mathbf{H}}(z)$  is analytic for  $|z| < e^{1/\xi}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{C}}(z)$  is analytic for  $|z| < e^{1/\xi_c}$ . Thus by the Ornstein-Zernike equation and the asumption  $\xi_c(p) < \xi(p)$ ,  $\hat{\mathbf{H}}(z)$  has a meromorphic extension to the larger region  $|z| < e^{1/\xi_c}$ . This implies that  $\exists \Delta \in (0, 1/\xi_c - 1/\xi)$  such that the only singularity of  $\hat{\mathbf{H}}(z)$  in the region  $|z| \le e^{1/\xi + \Delta}$  occurs at  $z = e^{1/\xi}$ ; furthermore, by the a priori upper bound of Proposition 3.1, this singularity is a simple pole. Thus we have  $\hat{\mathbf{H}}(z) = F(z)[1 - ze^{-1/\xi}]^{-1}$  with F(z) analytic for  $|z| \le e^{1/\xi + \Delta}$ . In terms of the coefficients of F,  $\mathbf{H}_L$  may be written as

(4.17) 
$$\mathbf{H}_{L} = f^{-1}(p) e^{-L/\xi} \sum_{n=0}^{L} F_{n} e^{n/\xi}.$$

The Cauchy bound:  $|F_n| \leq (\text{const})(e^{1/\xi+4})^{-n}$  now implies the desired result, with  $\tilde{K}_2(p) = f^{-1}(p) F(e^{1/\xi(p)})$ . The fact that  $\tilde{K}_2(p) \leq 1$  follows from the a priori bound  $\mathbb{H}_L \leq e^{-L/\xi}$ .

(II) This proof amounts to an analysis of the contour integral in equation (4.6); thus in the following, we will restrict to  $\mathbf{k}$  with  $|\operatorname{Re}(k_i)| \leq \pi$ ,  $\operatorname{Im}(k_i) = 0$ . First we want to show that the only significant contribution to the integral occurs in the neighborhood of  $|\mathbf{k}| = 0$ . Explicitly, we claim that  $\forall \delta \in (0, \pi], \exists t(\delta) > 0, \beta_1(\delta) < \infty$  such that

(4.18) 
$$\left| f^{-1}(p) \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dz}{\mathbf{z}^{L+1}} \int_{|\mathbf{k}| \ge \delta} \frac{1}{1 - \hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)} e^{-i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{a}} \frac{d\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} \right|$$
$$\le \beta_1 e^{-(1/\xi + t)L}$$

uniformly in L. To prove this, it suffices to show that  $\forall |\mathbf{k}| \ge \delta, \exists t(\delta) > 0, s(\delta) > 0$  such that

$$(4.19) \qquad \qquad |\hat{c}(z,\mathbf{k};p)| \leq 1 - s(\delta)$$

whenever  $|z| \leq e^{1/\xi + t}$ . Indeed, given (4.19), one may simply integrate (4.18) about the circle  $|z| = e^{1/\xi + t}$ , bounding the integrand by  $1/s(\delta)$ .

To prove (4.19), express  $\hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k})$  as a power series in z with coefficients  $c_L(\mathbf{k})$ , and note that, by Proposition 4.2(ia), each  $c_L(\mathbf{k})$  is a cosine series with positive coefficients. Hence, provided that  $c_L(\mathbf{k})$  has a non-trivial cos  $k_j$  term for every j (which here occurs for  $L \ge 2$ ),  $c_L(\mathbf{k})$  is strictly maximized by  $|\mathbf{k}|=0$ . Thus we have a strengthened form of Proposition 4.2(ib):  $\forall |\mathbf{k}| \ge \delta$ ,  $\exists v(\delta) > 0$  such that

$$(4.20) \qquad \qquad |\hat{c}(z,\mathbf{k};p)| \leq \widehat{\mathbb{C}}(|z|) - 2\nu |z|^2.$$

Now by Lemma 4.3(i),  $\hat{\mathbb{C}}(e^{1/\xi})=1$ . Furthermore,  $\hat{\mathbb{C}}(|z|)$  is a strictly monotone increasing, analytic function of |z| for  $|z| < e^{1/\xi_c}$ . Thus (4.20) implies that  $\exists t(\delta) > 0$ ,  $s(\delta) > 0$  such that (4.19) is satisfied for all  $|z| \le e^{1/\xi + t}$ , as claimed.

Now we focus on the "small **k**" integral. The first step here is to determine the analytic structure of the integrand. Recall from the proof of (I) that the function  $1 - \hat{\mathbb{C}}(z) = 1 - \hat{c}(z, 0)$  has a simple zero at  $z = e^{1/\xi}$  and no other zeroes in the region  $|z| \leq e^{1/\xi + A}$ . We claim that the structure is similar for  $|\mathbf{k}|$  sufficiently small: namely,  $\exists \delta_2(A) > 0$  such that  $\forall |\mathbf{k}| < \delta_2$ ,  $1 - \hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k})$  has a simple zero and no other zeroes in the region  $|z| < e^{1/\xi + A} \equiv z_0$ . Indeed, by Proposition 4.2(ii),  $\exists \delta_1(z_0) > 0$  such that  $1 - \hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k})$  is analytic for  $|\mathbf{k}| < \delta_1$ ,  $|z| \leq |z_0| < e^{1/\xi_c}$ . Thus take  $|\mathbf{k}| < \delta_1$ . Then provided that

$$(4.21) \qquad |1 - \widehat{\mathbb{C}}(z)| \ge |\widehat{\mathbb{C}}(z) - \widehat{c}(z, \mathbf{k})|$$

along the contour  $|z| = e^{1/\xi + A} < e^{1/\xi_c}$ , Rouché's Theorem says that  $1 - \hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k})$  has the same number and multiplicity of zeroes inside the contour as does  $1 - \hat{\mathbf{C}}(z)$ (i.e. one simple zero). Now since  $\Delta > 0$ ,  $|1 - \hat{\mathbf{C}}(z)|$  is uniformly positive along the contour  $|z| = e^{1/\xi + A}$ . Thus, given analyticity in  $\mathbf{k}$ , it is clear that  $\exists \delta_2(\Delta) > 0$ ,  $\delta_2 \leq \delta_1$ , such that (4.21) is satisfied  $\forall |\mathbf{k}| < \delta_2$ , as claimed.

Next, we will determine the form of this zero for  $|z| < e^{1/\xi + 4}$ ,  $|\mathbf{k}| < \delta_2$ . Since  $\delta_2 \le \delta_1$ ,  $\hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k})$  is analytic in this region. Thus, by the analytic implicit function theorem,  $\exists \delta_3 > 0$ ,  $\delta_3 \le \delta_2$ , such that for  $|\mathbf{k}| < \delta_3$ , the equation

(4.22) 
$$1 - \hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k}) = 0$$

has a unique, analytic solution, denoted by  $e^{1/\xi(\mathbf{k})}$ , describing the motion of the zero in this region. By Proposition 4.2(ia), the expansion of  $\xi^{-1}(\mathbf{k})$  contains only even powers of  $\mathbf{k}$ . Furthermore, the coefficients in the expansion are real. Indeed,  $\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  implies  $\hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k}) = \hat{c}(\bar{z}, \mathbf{k})$ , which in turn means that the solutions to (4.22) occur in complex conjugate pairs; uniqueness of the solution then implies  $\xi^{-1}(\mathbf{k}) \in \mathbb{R}$ . Finally, it is easy to verify that  $\xi^{-1}(\mathbf{k})$  has a nontrivial quadratic minimum. Thus for  $|\mathbf{k}| < \delta_3$ , we may write

(4.23) 
$$\xi^{-1}(\mathbf{k}) = \xi^{-1}(0) + (\alpha/4) \, \mathbf{k}^2 + R(\mathbf{k})$$

with  $\alpha(p) > 0$ , and  $\xi^{-1}(0; p) = \xi^{-1}(p) \equiv \xi^{-1}$ , the inverse correlation length. Finally, we may choose a  $\delta > 0$ ,  $\delta \leq \delta_3$ , such that for  $|\mathbf{k}| < \delta$ 

$$(4.24) |R(\mathbf{k})| \leq \gamma \, \mathbf{k}^4,$$

with y satisfying

$$(4.25) \qquad \qquad \gamma \, \delta^2 \leq \frac{1}{8} \alpha.$$

Now we can apply (4.18) to the integral for  $|\mathbf{k}| \ge \delta$ , and perform the integral for  $|\mathbf{k}| < \delta$ . By the above reasoning, for  $|\mathbf{k}| < \delta$  we can write

(4.26) 
$$\hat{h}(z, \mathbf{k}) = F(z, \mathbf{k}) [1 - z e^{-1/\xi(\mathbf{k})}]^{-1}$$

with  $\xi^{-1}(\mathbf{k})$  given by (4.23)–(4.25), and  $F(z, \mathbf{k})$  analytic for  $|z| < e^{1/\xi + \Delta}$ . Then following exactly the Cauchy bound proof in (I), we see that

(4.27) 
$$f^{-1}(p) \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dz}{z^{L+1}} \int_{|\mathbf{k}| < \delta} \frac{1}{1 - \hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)} e^{-i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{a}} \frac{d\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}}$$
$$= [1 + O(e^{-\Delta L})] \int_{|\mathbf{k}| < \delta} \widetilde{K}_{2}(\mathbf{k}) e^{-L/\xi(\mathbf{k})} e^{-\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{a}} \frac{d\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}}$$

with  $\tilde{K}_2(\mathbf{k}; p) = f^{-1}(p) F(e^{1/\xi(\mathbf{k}; p)}, \mathbf{k})$  analytic for  $|\mathbf{k}| < \delta$ , and  $\tilde{K}_2(0; p) = \tilde{K}_2(p) \equiv \tilde{K}_2$ , the same constant appearing in (I). The remainder of the proof of (IIi)–(IIiii) amounts to the evaluation of the integral in (4.27).

To establish (IIi) and (IIii), suppose that  $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  satisfies  $|\mathbf{a}| \leq L^{3/4-\varepsilon}$  for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ . We divide the integral over  $|\mathbf{k}| < \delta$  into two regions:  $g(L) \leq |\mathbf{k}| < \delta$  and  $|\mathbf{k}| < g(L)$  with  $g(L) = L^{-1/4-\varepsilon/2}$ . The first integral is easy to bound. Indeed, using (4.23)-(4.25), we have

(4.28)  
$$\left| \int_{\mathfrak{g}(L) \leq |\mathbf{k}| < \delta} \widetilde{K}_{2}(\mathbf{k}) e^{-L/\xi(\mathbf{k})} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{a}} \frac{d\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} \right|$$
$$\leq e^{-L/\xi} \int_{\mathfrak{g}(L) \leq |\mathbf{k}|} |\widetilde{K}_{2}(\mathbf{k})| e^{-(\alpha/8)\mathbf{k}^{2L}}| \frac{d\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}}$$
$$\leq \beta_{2} e^{-L/\xi} \exp[-(\alpha/8) L^{1/2-\varepsilon}],$$

with  $\beta_2 = \beta_2(p) < \infty$ . Notice that, in the worst case, (4.28) is smaller than the "purported answer" by a factor of exp $[-(\text{const}) L^*]$ .

We now do the integral in (4.27) for  $|\mathbf{k}| < g(L)$ . We claim that the major contribution comes from the quadratic piece of  $\xi^{-1}(\mathbf{k})$ , i.e. the gaussian integral:

(4.29) 
$$\widetilde{K}_{2} e^{-L/\xi} \int_{|\mathbf{k}| < g(L)} e^{-(\alpha/4)\mathbf{k}^{2}L} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{a}} \frac{d\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}}$$
  
=  $\left[ erf[(\alpha L)^{1/2}g(L)] \right]^{d-1} \widetilde{K}_{2} \frac{1}{[\pi \alpha L]^{(d-1)/2}} e^{-L/\xi(p)} e^{-\mathbf{a}^{2}/[\alpha L]}.$ 

Here the error is utterly negligible since

(4.30) 
$$\operatorname{erf}[(\alpha L)^{1/2} g(L)] = 1 + O(\exp[-\alpha L^{1/2} e^{-\varepsilon}]).$$

. .

We must now demonstrate that the non-quadratic piece of  $\xi^{-1}(\mathbf{k})$  yields the claimed correction. The remainder in the region  $|\mathbf{k}| < g(L)$  may be expressed as:

(4.31) 
$$e^{-L/\xi(p)} \int_{|\mathbf{k}| < g(L)} e^{-(\alpha/4)L\mathbf{k}^{2}} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{a}} \left[ \tilde{K}_{2}(\mathbf{k}) e^{LR(\mathbf{k})} - \tilde{K}_{2} \right] \frac{d\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} \\ = \frac{e^{-L/\xi(p)} e^{-\mathbf{a}^{2}/[\alpha(p)L]}}{\left[\pi\alpha L\right]^{(d-1)/2}} \int_{|\mathbf{s}| < f(L)} \exp\left[ -\left(\mathbf{s} + \frac{i\mathbf{a}}{\left[\alpha L\right]^{1/2}}\right)^{2} \right] \\ \times \left\{ \tilde{K}_{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{s}}{\left[(\alpha/4)L\right]^{1/2}} \right) \exp\left[ LR\left( \frac{\mathbf{s}}{\left[(\alpha/4)L\right]^{1/2}} \right) \right] - \tilde{K}_{2} \right\} d\mathbf{s}$$

with  $f(L) = (1/2) \alpha^{1/2} L^{1/4-\epsilon/2}$ . In order to evaluate (4.31), for each component  $s_j$  of s, we must do the integral about the contours enclosing the region  $|\operatorname{Re}(s_j)| < (1/2) \alpha^{1/2} L^{1/4-\epsilon/2}$  and  $0 < -\operatorname{Im}(s_j) < a_j/[\alpha L]^{1/2} \le \alpha^{-1/2} L^{1/4-\epsilon}$ . Clearly, the function R in (4.31) makes sense (i.e., its argument is small), and the integrand in (4.31) contains no poles in this region. Furthermore, since, at the turning points,  $\operatorname{Im}(s_j)/\operatorname{Re}(s_j) = O(L^{-\epsilon/2})$ , the relative contribution of the "vertical pieces" of the contours are  $O[\exp(L^{-\epsilon})]$ . Thus we need only evaluate the integral along the "horizontal piece"  $\operatorname{Im}(s_j) = -a_j/[\alpha L]^{1/2}$ ,  $|\operatorname{Re}(s_j)| \le f(L)$ . Here, if desired, the functions  $e^{-LR}$  and  $\tilde{K}_2$  may be expanded and the terms

Here, if desired, the functions  $e^{-LR}$  and  $K_2$  may be expanded and the terms explicitly evaluated. Note that this expansion is always legitimate since we are within the domain of analyticity of these functions – indeed, as L gets larger, the arguments get smaller. The range of validity of the series depends, of course, on the nature of  $\mathbf{a}(L)$  and on how many terms one wishes to obtain. In particular, there are already several "error" terms which are of the order  $O(e^{-L^c})$ , which may be comparable to inverse powers of L when L is rather small. However, as  $L \to \infty$  (with some specific  $\mathbf{a}(L)$ , e.g., obeying upper and lower power law bounds), the expansion represents the correct asymptotic behavior. This establishes (II i).

Let us now attend to (IIii). Here the nature of  $\mathbf{a}(L)$  is unspecified other than the power law upper bound  $|\mathbf{a}| \leq L^{3/4-\varepsilon}$ . The error term may be written in the form

(4.32) 
$$\mathscr{E}(a,L) \equiv \frac{[\alpha \pi L]^{(d-1)/2}}{\tilde{K}_2} e^{+\mathbf{a}^2/[\alpha L]} \times e^{+L/\xi} \left| h_{0,L,\mathbf{a}} - \frac{\tilde{K}_2}{[\alpha \pi L]^{(d-1)/2}} e^{-L/\xi} e^{-\mathbf{a}^2/[\alpha L]} \right|.$$

Recalling (4.27)–(4.31), we have the estimate

(4.33) 
$$\mathscr{E}(a,L) \leq \beta_{3} \left| \int_{|\mathbf{s}| \leq f(L)} \exp\left[ -\left(\mathbf{s} + \frac{i\mathbf{a}}{[\alpha L]^{1/2}}\right)^{2} \right] \times \left\{ \widetilde{K}_{2} \left( \frac{\mathbf{s}}{[(\alpha/4) L]^{1/2}} \right) \exp\left[ LR\left( \frac{\mathbf{s}}{[(\alpha/4) L]^{1/2}} \right) \right] - \widetilde{K}_{2} \right\} d\mathbf{s} \right\}$$

with  $\beta_3$  a finite constant. First observe that fore **k** near zero, we may estimate  $|\tilde{K}_2(\mathbf{k}) - \tilde{K}_2| \leq \text{const.} |\mathbf{k}|^2$ , so that the **k** dependence of  $\tilde{K}_2(\mathbf{k})$  produces a contribu-

Fluctuations of percolation connectivities

tion to  $\mathscr{E}(a, L)$  which may bounded by  $\beta'_4/L$  for some finite  $\beta'_4$ . This is within the stated error. Next, we distort the contour as discussed in the paragraph below Eq. (4.31). Neglecting the vertical pieces, thereby incurring an error of  $O[\exp(L^{-\epsilon})]$ , we are left with

(4.34) 
$$\mathscr{E}(a,L) \leq \beta_{3'} \left| \int_{-f(L)}^{f(L)} e^{-\mathbf{x}^2} \left\{ \exp\left[ LR\left(\frac{2\mathbf{x}}{[\alpha L]^{1/2}} - \frac{2i\mathbf{a}}{\alpha L}\right) \right] - 1 \right\} \times d^{d-1}\mathbf{x} \right| + \frac{\beta_{4'}}{L}.$$

Now we use explicitly the small argument estimate of Eq. (4.24):

$$(4.35) |R(u+iv)| \le \gamma |u+iv|^4 \le 2(u^4+v^4)$$

Thus

(4.36) 
$$L\left|R\left(\frac{2\mathbf{x}}{[\alpha L]^{1/2}}-\frac{2i\mathbf{a}}{\alpha L}\right)\right| \leq 32\left(\frac{\mathbf{x}^4}{\alpha^2 L}+\frac{\mathbf{a}^4}{\alpha^4 L^3}\right),$$

which is also small since  $|\mathbf{x}| < f(L) = (1/2) \alpha^{1/2} L^{1/4-\epsilon/2}$  and  $|\mathbf{a}| < L^{3/4-\epsilon}$ . We may now bound the integrand in (4.34) using  $|e^y - 1| \le e^{|y|} - 1 \le 2|y|$  for y small, and apply (4.36) to obtain

$$(4.37) \qquad \qquad |\mathscr{E}(a,L)| \leq \beta_4 \frac{1}{L} + \beta_5 \frac{a^4}{L^3}$$

with  $\beta_4 = \beta_4(p)$  and  $\beta_5 = \beta_5(p) < \infty$ . Thus the dominant correction to (4.29) is  $O(L^{-1}, L^{-4\varepsilon})$ , as claimed.

Finally, let us attend to (IIiii). First observe that when  $|\mathbf{b}|$  is large relative to L, we may use the a priori upper bound (2.7) to estimate the tail of the sum. Thus, for example

(4.38) 
$$\sum_{\mathbf{b}: |b_j| > |2L|} h_{0,(L,\mathbf{b})} \leq (\text{const}) L^{d-1} e^{-2L/\xi}.$$

Next assume for the moment that each  $a_j \ge 0$ . Then we may sum the expression in (4.6) over all  $b_j$  in the range  $a_j \le b_j \le 2L$ , with the result:

(4.39) 
$$\sum_{a_j \leq b_j \leq 2L} h_{0,(L,\mathbf{b})} \leq \sum_{a_j \leq b_j \leq 2L+a_j} h_{0,(L,\mathbf{b})}$$
$$= f^{-1}(p) \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint \frac{dz}{z^{L+1}} \int_{[-\pi, +\pi]^{d-1}} \frac{1}{1 - \hat{c}(z,\mathbf{k};p)} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{a}}$$
$$\cdot \left(\prod_{j=1}^{d-1} \frac{1 - e^{-2ik_jL}}{1 - e^{-2ik_jL}}\right) \times \frac{d\mathbf{k}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}}.$$

Now we may perform, without modification, the steps (4.18)–(4.28) to obtain a bound on the integral for  $|\mathbf{k}| > g(L)$ . (Observe that no singularity appears

at  $k_j=0$  because of the regulating terms  $1-e^{-2ik_jL}$ .) As before, we may distort the contour for the integral over  $|\mathbf{k}| < g(L)$  to obtain:

(4.40) 
$$\frac{e^{-L/\xi(p)}e^{-\mathbf{a}^{2}/[\alpha(p)L]}}{[\pi\alpha L]^{(d-1)/2}} \int_{|\mathbf{x}| < f(L)} e^{-\mathbf{x}^{2}} \widetilde{K}_{2} \left(\frac{2\mathbf{x}}{[\alpha L]^{1/2}} - \frac{2i\mathbf{a}}{\alpha L}\right) \\ \times \exp\left[LR\left(\frac{2\mathbf{x}}{[\alpha L]^{1/2}} - \frac{2i\mathbf{a}}{\alpha L}\right)\right] \left(\prod_{j=1}^{d-1} \frac{1 - e^{ix_{j}[L/\alpha]^{1/2}}e^{-a_{j}/\alpha}}{1 - e^{-ix_{j}/[2(\alpha L)^{1/2}]}e^{-a_{j}/[2\alpha L]}}\right) d\mathbf{s},$$

which is identical to the old result except for the presence of the product. However, for  $a_j > 0$ , it is easy to bound the magnitude of this product. Indeed, the magnitude of each factor in the numerator is bounded above by a constant, while the magnitude of each factor in the denominator is bounded below by (const)  $L^{-1}$ . Thus the product is bounded above by (const)  $L^{d-1}$ , so that the contribution from the range  $0 < a_j \le b_j \le 2L$  yields a result of the desired order of magnitude. The terms which come from the range  $b_j \le -a_j$  are identical due to lattice symmetry.

In case any of the  $a_j$  vanish, we save the  $j^{\text{th}}$  integral for last and use a separate estimate on the corresponding term in the product, namely

(4.41) 
$$\frac{|1 - e^{-2i\omega N}|}{|1 - e^{-i\omega}|} \leq 2N,$$

which is easily verified, e.g., by induction on N. Thus the contribution from these directions yields the same bound as those with  $a_i > 0$ . Overall, we obtain

(4.42) 
$$\sum_{\mathbf{b}: |b_j| \ge |a_j|} h_{0,(L,\mathbf{b})} \le (\text{const}) L^{d-1} h_{0,(L,a)},$$

as claimed.

(III) The proof of this is analogous to that of analyticity of  $\xi(\mathbf{k})$  in  $\mathbf{k}$  (cf. Eq. (4.22)). Let  $p_0 < p_c$  and choose  $z_0$  such that  $e^{1/\xi(p_0)} < |z_0| < e^{1/\xi_c(p_0)}$ . By Proposition 4.2(iii),  $\exists \delta_1(p_0, z_0) > 0$  such that the function  $\hat{\mathbf{C}}(z; p)$  is analytic in the region  $|z| \leq |z_0|, |p| \leq p_0(1 + \delta_1)$ . Then, by the analytic implicit function theorem,  $\exists \delta_2 > 0$ ,  $\delta_2 \leq \delta_1$ , such that for  $|p| \leq p_0(1 + \delta_2)$ , the equation  $1 - \hat{\mathbf{C}}(z; p) = 0$  has a unique analytic solution, which we identify as  $e^{1/\xi(p)}$ . Thus  $\xi(p)$  is analytic in a region about any real p such that  $\xi_c(p) < \xi(p)$ .

# 5. Separation of the decay rates

In this section, we prove our principal estimate: namely that the exponential decay rates of the cylinder and direct connectivity functions are strictly separated for all  $p < p_c$ . This verifies the hypothesis of Theorem 4.4 and thus completes our proof of properties (I)–(III) for the cylinder functions.

As in the analogous proof for SAWs [CC2], our strategy is to define block connectivity functions on slabs of some fixed scale L which interpolate between the free and direct connectivity functions at that scale. Explicitly, these block functions are the probabilities of connections which satisfy the "**C**-condition" (cf. Eq. (3.26)) over only part of the slab (i.e. over the central region of width



**Fig. 3.** A "likely" (a) and an "unlikely" (b) configuration in  $\ell_{1,n}((L, \mathbf{a}); R)$ 

 $R < \frac{1}{3}L$ ). In Sect. 5a, we will use estimates on the basic connectivity functions to show that the block functions (and hence also the direct functions) decay faster than the cylinder functions, although not necessarily exponentially faster in L.

In order to exploit this extra decay, we require interpolating functions on an even larger scale. Thus, in Sect. 5b, we define rescaled interpolating functions, on scale  $NL, N \ge 1$ , as the probabilities of connections which obey the **C**-condition over interior regions (again of width  $R < \frac{1}{3}L$ ) of each slab of scale L. A significant contribution to these rescaled connectivity functions is obtained by simply patching together N block functions. Were this the only contribution, then the extra decay of the block functions in L would imply that the rescaled functions decay *exponentially* faster in N than do the cylinder functions of scale NL. Such an estimate would complete the proof that  $\xi_c < \xi$ .

Unfortunately, a naive patching argument ignores the contribution of configurations with long branches, e.g., configurations in which the C-condition in one slab is not satisfied until the cluster has ventured into a later slab. These configurations are the analogues of the recurrent walk configurations encountered in the SAW analysis [CC2], although here there are additional possibilities. Our key estimate (Lemma 5.3) shows that whenever  $p < p_c$ , the probabilities of these "recurrent configurations" is exponentially smaller than that of the configurations obtained by simple patching. Furthermore, the probabilities of these recurrent configurations are related to various rescaled functions via a coupled system of Ornstein-Zernike or renewal *inequalities*. By analyzing the renewal inequalities, using both the bounds on the block functions and the bounds on the probabilities of recurrent configurations, we obtain  $\xi_c < \xi$  (Theorem 5.4).

# 5a. The block functions

As explained above, we will use functions which interpolate between the free and direct functions. We propose (see Fig. 3):

**Definition 5.1.** Let  $A, R \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ ,  $A > R, L \equiv 2A + R$ . Let  $n \in \mathbb{Z}, 0 \leq n < L$ . The point-topoint block connectivity function of central scale R from  $(-n, 0) \equiv (-n, 0, ..., 0)$ to  $(L, \mathbf{a})$  is defined by

(5.1 a) 
$$\ell_{1,n}((L, \mathbf{a}); R) = \{ \omega | (L, \mathbf{a}) \in C((-n, 0)) \|_{\mathbf{H}(L)}, |C((-n, 0))| \|_{\mathbf{H}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(j) | \ge 2 \ \forall j \text{ with } A \le j \le A + R \}$$

(5.1 b) 
$$b_{1,n}((L, \mathbf{a}); R; p) = P(\ell_{1,n}((L, \mathbf{a}); R)),$$

and the corresponding point-to-plane block connectivity function is

(5.1 c) 
$$\mathbf{B}_{1,n}(L; R; p) = \sum_{\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} b_{1,n}((L, \mathbf{a}); R; p).$$

We will often suppress the arguments  $(L, \mathbf{a})$ , R and p in our notation for these functions.

The quantities of principal concern to us here will be the *block connectivities* from the origin:

(5.2) 
$$\ell_1 \equiv \ell_{1,0}, \quad b_1 \equiv b_{1,0}, \quad \mathbf{B}_1 \equiv \mathbf{B}_{1,0};$$

and the extended block connectivities:

(5.3) 
$$a_1 \equiv \bigcup_{n=A}^{A+R} \ell_{1,n}, \quad a_1 \equiv \sum_{n=A}^{A+R} b_{1,n}, \quad \mathbb{A}_1 \equiv \sum_{n=A}^{A+R} \mathbb{B}_{1,n}.$$

*Remark.* Since the block functions are required to obey the  $\mathbb{C}$ -condition over the central region, but are otherwise unconstrained, it is clear that (as promised) the block functions from the origin interpolate between the free and direct functions:

(5.4) 
$$\mathbf{G}_{L}(p) \ge \mathbf{B}_{1}(L; R; p) \ge \mathbf{C}_{L}(p).$$

In particular, the decay rate of  $\mathbb{B}_1(L)$  provides a bound on the decay rate of  $\mathbb{C}_L$ . Were this bound exponentially faster in L than  $\xi(p)$ , we would be done. Although we cannot establish such an exponential bound, we make the following modest start:

**Lemma 5.1.** Let  $\mathbb{B}_{1,n}(L; R; p)$  be defined as in Eq. (5.1c) with L > 3R. Suppose that  $\mathbb{G}_L$  satisfies Proposition 3.1 with decay rate  $\xi(p)$ , and that  $\mathbb{K}_L$  satisfies the corollary to Lemma 4.3. Then  $\exists \delta(R; p)$  with  $\lim_{R \to \infty} \delta(R; p) = 0 \forall p < p_c$ , such that

 $\mathbb{B}_{1,n}(L;R;p) \leq \delta(R;p) e^{-(L+n)/\xi(p)}$ 

uniformly in L and n.

*Proof.* As in Definition 5.1, we let L=2A+R. By an argument analogous to that in the proof of Proposition 4.1, it is easy to see that given a configuration  $\omega \in \ell_{1,n}((L, \mathbf{a}); R)$ , there must exist a rightmost plane to the left of  $\mathbf{P}(A)$  and a leftmost plane to the right of  $\mathbf{P}(A+R)$  in which the **C**-condition is not satisfied by  $C((-n, 0))||_{\mathbf{H}(L)}$ . We denote these planes by  $\mathbf{P}(N_1)$ ,  $-n \leq N_1 \leq A$ , and  $\mathbf{P}(N_2)$ ,  $A+R \leq N_2 \leq L$ . This gives us disjoint realizations of the events  $\mathscr{G}_{(-n,0),(N_1,\mathbf{a}_1)}$ ,  $\ell_{(N_1,\mathbf{a}_1),(N_2,\mathbf{a}_2)}$  and  $\mathscr{G}_{(N_2,\mathbf{a}_2),(L-N_2,\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{a}_1-\mathbf{a}_2)}$ . Applying the van den Berg-Kesten inequality (2.12), summing over points in  $\mathbf{P}(N_1)$ ,  $\mathbf{P}(N_2)$  and  $\mathbf{P}(L)$ , and shifting indices, we obtain

(5.5) 
$$\mathbb{B}_{1,n}(L;R) \leq \sum_{L_1=0}^{A+n} \sum_{L_2=0}^{A} \mathbb{G}_{A+n-L_1} \mathbb{K}_{L_1+L_2+R} \mathbb{G}_{A-L_2}.$$



Fig. 4. A "likely" (a) and an "unlikely" (b) configuration in  $\mathcal{E}_{N,n}(NL, \mathbf{a}); R$ )

Using the a priori upper bound:  $\mathbf{G}_L \leq \beta^{-1}(p) e^{-L/\xi}$  from Proposition 3.1, relaxing the upper bound on the remaining sum, and using the fact that for any function F defined on the positive integers,  $\sum_{L_1L_2} F(L_1 + L_2) = \sum_L LF(L)$ , we have

(5.6) 
$$\mathbb{B}_{1,n}(L;R) \leq \beta^{-2} e^{-(L+n)/\xi} \sum_{L=0}^{\infty} L\mathbb{K}_{L+R} e^{(L+R)/\xi} \leq \beta^{-2} e^{-(L+n)/\xi} \sum_{L\geq R}^{\infty} L\mathbb{K}_{L} e^{L/\xi}.$$

However, by the corollary to Lemma 4.3, the coefficient of  $\beta^{-2}e^{-(L+n)/\xi}$  in (5.6) is the tail of a convergent sum, and thus tends to zero with R.

# 5b. The rescaled functions

We now want to take advantage of the extra decay provided by Lemma 5.1. Thus we propose (see Fig. 4):

**Definition 5.2.** Let  $A, R \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ , A > R,  $L \equiv 2A + R$ . Let  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $0 \leq n < L$ . Let  $N \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ . The point-to-point rescaled connectivity function of central scale R from (-n, 0) to  $(NL, \mathbf{a})$  is defined by:

(5.7 a) 
$$\ell_{N,n}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R) = \{ \omega | (L, \mathbf{a}) \in C((-n, 0)) \|_{\mathbf{H}(NL)}, \\ \cdot |C((-n, 0))\|_{\mathbf{H}(NL)} \cap \mathbf{P}((M-1)L+j)| \\ \ge 2 \forall M \text{ with } 1 \le M \le N, \forall j \text{ with } A \le j \le A+R \}$$

(5.7b) 
$$b_{N,n}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R; p) = P(\ell_{N,n}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R)),$$

and the corresponding point-to-plane rescaled connectivity function is

(5.7c) 
$$\mathbb{B}_{N,n}(L;R;p) = \sum_{\mathbf{a}\in\mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} b_{N,n}((NL,\mathbf{a});R;p).$$

As before, the connectivities of principal concern to us will be the *rescaled* connectivities from the origin:

(5.8) 
$$\ell_N \equiv \ell_{N,0}, \quad b_N \equiv b_{N,0}, \quad \mathbf{B}_N \equiv \mathbf{B}_{N,0};$$

and the extended rescaled connectivities:

(5.9) 
$$a_N \equiv \bigcup_{n=A}^{A+R} \ell_{N,n}, \quad a_N \equiv \sum_{n=A}^{A+R} b_{N,n}, \quad \mathbf{A}_N \equiv \sum_{n=A}^{A+R} \mathbf{B}_{N,n}.$$

*Remarks.* (1) Notice that  $\mathbb{B}_0$  is not defined by the above equations; we will use the convention

(5.10) 
$$\mathbf{B}_0 = 1.$$

On the other hand,  $A_0$  makes perfect sense; it is just a sum of free connectivities. By Proposition 3.1

(5.11) 
$$\mathbf{A}_0 = \sum_{n=A}^{A+R} \mathbf{G}_N \leq \lambda_1(p) e^{-A/\xi(p)},$$

with  $\lambda_1(p) < \infty$  uniformly in  $A \forall p < p_c$ .

(2) It is seen that, for N=1, the above definition is entirely consistent with Definition 5.1 of the block functions. Indeed, let us denote the "central region" of the  $M^{\text{th}}$  slab by  $S_c(M)$ :

(5.12) 
$$S_c(M) = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^d | x_1 = (M-1)L + j \text{ for some } j \text{ with } A \leq j \leq A+R \}.$$

While the configurations in  $\ell_{1,n}$  are required to satisfy the  $\mathbb{C}$ -condition in  $S_c(1)$ , those in  $\ell_{N,n}$  are required to satisfy the  $\mathbb{C}$ -condition in  $S_c(M) \forall 1 \leq M \leq N$ . We will often say that a configuration *double-covers* the region  $S_c(M)$  if it satisfies the  $\mathbb{C}$ -condition in every plane of that region. It will also be useful to have explicit notation for the entire  $M^{\text{th}}$  slab; thus we define

(5.13) 
$$S(M) = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^d | x_1 = (M-1)L + j \text{ for some } j \text{ with } 0 \le j < L \}.$$

(3) As before, the rescaled functions (from the origin) interpolate between the free and direct functions of the appropriate scale:

(5.14) 
$$\mathbf{G}_{NL}(p) \ge \mathbf{B}_{N}(L; R; p) \ge \mathbf{C}_{NL}(p).$$

Thus, if we can show that for fixed L,  $\mathbb{B}_N(L)$  has an exponentially faster decay rate in N than does the free function  $\mathbb{G}_{NL}$ , we are done. We begin by establishing the existence of a decay rate for  $\mathbb{B}_N$ :

**Proposition 5.2.** Let  $\mathbb{B}_{N,n}(L; R; p)$  be defined as in Eq. (5.7). Then for all  $p \in (0, p_c)$ , the limit

$$\lim_{N\to\infty}\frac{1}{N}\log\mathbb{B}_{N,n}(L;R;p)\equiv-\frac{1}{\xi_b(L;R;p)}$$

exists and is independent of n.

*Proof.* That the limit is independent of n is obvious, since the  $\mathbb{B}_{N,n}$  differ from each other by factors which depend on n < L, not on N. Thus we may confine attention to n=0. For  $\mathbb{B}_{N,0}$ , we can simply repeat the arguments in the proofs of Propositions 3.2(ii) and 3.3: As usual, we have a weak subadditive inequality analogous to (3.4) or (3.39), which implies the existence of a limiting decay rate for the on-axis point-to-point functions  $b_{N,0}((L, 0))$  and an a priori upper bound for the off-axis functions  $b_{N,0}((L, a))$ . Then  $\mathbb{B}_{N,0}$  is shown to have the same limiting decay rate by "squeezing" with an inequality of the form (3.9).

As is apparent from the above discussions, our strategy is to show that, for some choice of R,  $\xi_b^{-1}(L; R) > \xi^{-1}L$  uniformly in L. This, together with (5.14), would give us  $\xi_c^{-1} > \xi^{-1}$ . In order to prove this, we will of course use the extra decay from Lemma 5.1. Indeed, if the  $\mathbb{B}_N$  basically decoupled into N copies of  $\mathbb{B}_1$  (i.e. if  $\mathbb{B}_N \sim \mathbb{B}_1^N$ ), Lemma 5.1 would directly imply  $\xi_b^{-1}(L; R) \ge \xi^{-1}L + |\log \delta(R)|$ . In fact, we will ultimately obtain an estimate which is almost this strong. However, in order to do this, we will have to bound the probabilities of those configurations which do not decouple (e.g., the unlikely configuration in Fig. 4) by even faster exponential terms. This is the subject of our principal estimate:

**Lemma 5.3.** Let the functions  $\mathbb{A}_N(L; R; p)$  and  $\mathbb{B}_N(L; R; p)$  be as given in Definition 5.2 with L=2A+R, A>R, and with  $\mathbb{A}_0$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_0$  given by Eqs. (5.11) and (5.10). Suppose that  $\mathbb{G}_L$  satisfies Proposition 3.1, with decay rate  $\xi(p)$ . Then  $\forall N \ge 1$ ,  $\mathbb{A}_N$  and  $\mathbb{B}_N$  obey the coupled renewal inequalities:

(i) 
$$\mathbb{B}_{N} \leq \sum_{K=0}^{N} \mathbb{V}_{K} \mathbb{B}_{N-K} + \sum_{J=0}^{N} \mathbb{U}_{J} \mathbb{A}_{N-J}$$

(ii) 
$$\mathbf{A}_{N} \leq \sum_{K=0}^{N} \mathbf{\tilde{V}}_{K} \mathbf{B}_{N-K} + \sum_{J=0}^{N} \mathbf{\tilde{U}}_{J} \mathbf{A}_{N-J}$$

where the functions  $\mathbb{V}_{K}(p)$ ,  $\mathbb{U}_{J}(p)$ ,  $\tilde{\mathbb{V}}_{K}(p)$ ,  $\tilde{\mathbb{U}}_{J}(p) \geq 0$  satisfy

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{V}_{0} &= \mathbf{U}_{0} = \mathbf{\widetilde{V}}_{0} = \mathbf{\widetilde{U}}_{0} = \mathbf{U}_{1} = \mathbf{\widetilde{U}}_{1} = \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{V}_{1} &= \mathbf{B}_{1}, \quad \mathbf{\widetilde{V}}_{1} = \mathbf{A}_{1} \\ \mathbf{U}_{2} &\leq \lambda_{2}(p) \ e^{+R/\xi(p)} \ e^{-2L/\xi(p)}, \quad \mathbf{\widetilde{U}}_{2} &\leq \widetilde{\lambda}_{2}(p) \ e^{-A/\xi(p)} \ e^{+R/\xi(p)} \ e^{-2L/\xi(p)} \\ \mathbf{V}_{K} &\leq \lambda_{3}(p) \ e^{-A/\xi(p)} \ e^{-2(K-1)L/\xi(p)} \qquad (K \geq 2) \\ \mathbf{\widetilde{V}}_{K} &\leq \widetilde{\lambda}_{3}(p) \ e^{-2A/\xi(p)} \ e^{-2(K-1)L/\xi(p)} \qquad (K \geq 2) \\ \mathbf{U}_{J} &\leq \lambda_{4}(p) \ e^{-3A/\xi(p)} (J-2) \ e^{-2(J-2)L/\xi(p)} \qquad (J \geq 3) \\ \mathbf{\widetilde{U}}_{J} &\leq \widetilde{\lambda}_{4}(p) \ e^{-4A/\xi(p)} (J-2) \ e^{-2(J-2)L/\xi(p)} \qquad (J \geq 3) \end{split}$$

with  $\lambda_i(p)$ ,  $\tilde{\lambda}_i(p) < \infty$  uniformly in A, R, L, K and  $J \forall p < p_c$ .

*Remark.* As will become apparent in the following proof, the functions  $\mathbb{V}_{K}(p)$ ,  $\mathbb{U}_{J}(p)$ ,  $\mathbb{V}_{K}(p)$  and  $\mathbb{U}_{J}(p)$  represent the weights of various unlikely ("recurrent") configurations contributing to the rescaled functions.

*Proof.* Our strategy is to decompose  $\ell_{N,n}$  into a union of disjoint events:

(5.15) 
$$\mathscr{E}_{N,n}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R) = \bigcup_{K=1}^{N} \mathscr{E}_{N,n}^{(K)}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R)$$
$$= \bigcup_{K=1}^{N} \bigcup_{J=K}^{N} \mathscr{E}_{N,n}^{(K,J)}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R).$$

Let us first describe the K-decomposition. The configurations in  $\ell_{N,n}^{(K)}$  are those configurations in  $\ell_{N,n}$  for which K is the smallest integer in [1, ..., N] such that  $|C((-n, 0))||_{\mathbf{H}(KL)} \cap \mathbf{P}(j)| \ge 2 \forall j$  with  $A \le j \le A + R$ , i.e. such that  $C((-n, 0))||_{\mathbf{H}(KL)}$  double-covers  $S_c(1)$ . (See Eq. (5.12) for a definition of  $S_c(1)$ .) For example, the configuration depicted in Fig. 4b is in  $\ell_{N,n}^{(2)}$ , since the cluster "ventures" into the second slab before satisfying the  $\mathbb{C}$ -condition in every plane of the central region of the first slab.

As usual, we can define the connectivities

(5.16a) 
$$b_{N,n}^{(K)}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R; p) = P(\mathscr{E}_{N,n}^{(K)}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R))$$

(5.16 b) 
$$\mathbb{B}_{N,n}^{(k)}(L;R;p) = \sum_{\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} b_{N,n}^{(K)}((NL,\mathbf{a});R;p).$$

Next, let us describe how J is chosen for a given K. Let  $\omega \in \ell_{N,n}^{(K)}$  and consider the set of points

(5.17) 
$$Q(K;\omega) \equiv Q(K) = C((-n,0)) \|_{\mathbf{H}(KL)} \cap \mathbf{P}(KL).$$

By the definition of  $\ell_{N,n}^{(K)}$ , Q(K) must contain a non-empty subset

(5.18)  

$$q(K;\omega) \equiv q(K)$$

$$= \{ \mathbf{x} \in Q(K) | \mathbf{x} \text{ is connected to } (NL, \mathbf{a}) \text{ by a path of occupied bonds in}$$

$$\mathbf{H}(NL) \text{ in the complement of the sites of}$$

$$C((-n, 0)) \|_{\mathbf{H}(KL)} \setminus \{ \mathbf{x} \} \},$$

i.e, q(K) is the set of sites in Q(K) which actually reach  $(NL, \mathbf{a})$ . Furthermore, since all points  $\mathbf{x} \in q(K)$  are connected to  $(NL, \mathbf{a})$ , the cluster that accomplishes this connection must be the same for all these points, i.e. the set

(5.19) 
$$C^{N}(q(K)) = C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{H}(NL)} \setminus \{C((-n, 0)) \|_{\mathbf{H}(KL)} \setminus \{\mathbf{x}\}\}$$

is independent of the site  $\mathbf{x} \in q(K)$ . If  $C^N(q(K))$  double-covers  $S_c(M)$  for every M = K + 1, ..., N, we define J = K. Otherwise, we define J to be the largest integer in [K + 1, ..., N] such that  $S_c(J)$  is not double-covered by  $C^N(q(K))$ . For example, the configuration depicted in Fig. 4b is in  $\mathcal{E}_{N,n}^{(2,4)}$  since the component from the plane  $\mathbf{P}(2L)$  which eventually reaches  $(NL, \mathbf{a})$  does not double-cover  $S_c(4)$ , although it does double-cover all later central regions.

Again, we can define the connectivities

(5.20a) 
$$b_{N,n}^{(K,J)}((NL,\mathbf{a}); R; p) = P(\mathscr{E}_{N,n}^{(K,J)}((NL,\mathbf{a}); R))$$

(5.20b) 
$$\mathbf{B}_{N,n}^{(K,J)}(L;R;p) = \sum_{\mathbf{a}\in\mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} b_{N,n}^{(K,J)}((NL,\mathbf{a});R;p)$$

We will also use the rotation

(5.21a) 
$$\mathbf{A}_{N}^{(K,J)}(L;R;p) = \sum_{n=A}^{A+R} \mathbf{B}_{N,n}^{(K,J)}(L;R;p)$$

(5.21 b) 
$$\mathbf{B}_{N}^{(K,J)}(L;R;p) = \mathbf{B}_{N,0}^{(K,J)}(L;R;p).$$

Due to the disjoint union, we have

(5.22) 
$$\mathbf{B}_{N,n} = \sum_{J=1}^{N} \sum_{K=1}^{J} \mathbf{B}_{N,n}^{(K,J)},$$

with similar expressions for  $\mathbb{A}_N$  and  $\mathbb{B}_N$ . We claim that the first sums in the renewal inequalities come from the terms with K=J, and that the second sums come from the K < J terms. Thus we will treat these cases separately. Furthermore, in each case, we will treat K=1 separately from  $K \ge 2$ .

Let us begin with K = J. Thus take  $\omega \in \ell_{N,n}^{(K,K)}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R)$ . First, by the definition of K, there is a point  $(KL, \mathbf{b}) \in q(K)$  (defined in Eq. (5.18)) such that  $C((-n, 0)) \|_{\mathbf{H}(KL)}$  provides a realization of  $\ell_{K,n}^{(K,K)}((KL, \mathbf{b}); R)$ . Furthermore, by the definition of J,  $C^N(q(K))$  (defined in Eq. (5.19)) gives a realization of  $T^{(KL,\mathbf{b})} \ell_{N-K,0}(((N-K)L, \mathbf{a}-\mathbf{b}); R)$  disjointy from  $C((-n, 0)) \|_{\mathbf{H}(KL)}$ . Notice that this second event begins at n=0, i.e. is a translate of  $\ell_{N-K}$ . Thus by subadditivity, the van den Berg-Kesten inequality (2.12) and translation invariance, we have

(5.23) 
$$b_{N,n}^{(K,K)}((NL,\mathbf{a}); R; p) \leq \sum_{\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} P(\ell_{K,n}^{(K,K)}((KL,\mathbf{b}); R))) \times b_{N-K}(((N-K)L,\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{b}); R; p)$$

Now suppose K = 1 (and still assume K = J). Then  $\ell_{1,n}^{(1,1)}((L, \mathbf{b}); R) = \ell_{1,n}((L, \mathbf{b}); R)$ , i.e. there is no further decomposition. Summing (5.23) over **a** and **b**, we obtain

$$\mathbf{B}_{N,n}^{(1,1)} \leq \mathbf{B}_{1,n} \mathbf{B}_{N-1}.$$

This immediately gives the first nontrivial terms in the first sums of the renewal inequalities. Indeed, for n=0, (5.24) becomes



the r.h.s. of (5.25b) is the K = 1 term of the inequality (i) with  $\mathbb{V}_1 = \mathbb{B}_1$ . Similarly, summing *n* from *A* to A + R, (5.24) gives

$$(5.25a) \qquad \qquad \mathbf{A}_{N}^{(1,1)} \leq \mathbf{A}_{1} \mathbf{B}_{N-1},$$

the r.h.s. of which is the K = 1 term of the inequality (ii) with  $\tilde{\mathbf{V}}_1 = \mathbf{A}_1$ .

Now suppose  $K \ge 2$  and  $\omega \in \ell_{K,n}^{(K,K)}((KL, \mathbf{b}); R))$ . (See Fig. 5.) Then, by the definition of K, there must exist two points  $\mathbf{x} \in S(K)$  and  $\mathbf{y} \in S_c(1)$  and two occupied paths:

$$\mathcal{P}_{[1]}$$
: from  $(-n, 0)$  to **x**  
 $\mathcal{P}_{[2]}$ : from **x** to **y**

with  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  site-disjoint except for the point x. Furthermore, by the definition of  $\mathscr{E}_{K,n}((KL, \mathbf{b}); R))$ , there must exist a point  $\mathbf{z} \in \mathscr{P}_{[1]} \cup \mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  and an occupied path

 $\mathcal{P}_{131}$ : from z to (KL, b)

which is site-disjoint from  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$ , except for the single point z. There are two topologically distinct cases:  $z \in \mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  or  $z \in \mathscr{P}_{[2]}$ ; however, these lead to the same final estimate, so we will explicitly treat only the latter. Again, using the van den Berg-Kesten inequality, Eq. (5.23) and the above reasoning imply

$$(5.26) \quad b_{N,n}^{(K,K)}((NL,\mathbf{a})) \leq \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1} \\ \mathbf{x} \in S(K) \\ \mathbf{y} \in S_{c}(1) \\ \mathbf{z} \in \mathbf{H}(KL)}} \tau_{(-n,0),\mathbf{x}} \tau_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{z}} \tau_{\mathbf{z},\mathbf{y}} \tau_{\mathbf{z},(KL,\mathbf{b})} b_{N-K} \left( \left( (N-K) L, \mathbf{a} - \mathbf{b} \right) \right) \right).$$

Summing over **a** and **b** and the transverse coordinates, and using the notation  $x_1 \equiv X$ ,  $y_1 \equiv Y$  and  $z_1 \equiv Z$ , we have

(5.27) 
$$\mathbf{B}_{N,n}^{(K,K)} \leq \sum_{\substack{(K-1)L \leq X \leq KL \\ A \leq Y \leq A+R \\ Z \leq KL}} \mathbf{G}_{n+X} \mathbf{G}_{|X-Z|} \mathbf{G}_{|Z-Y|} \mathbf{G}_{|KL-Z|} \mathbf{B}_{N-K}.$$

Finally, using the a priori bounds  $\mathbf{G}_L \leq \beta^{-1}(p) e^{-L/\xi}$  from Proposition 3.1 and performing the remaining sums, we obtain

(5.28) 
$$\mathbb{B}_{N,n}^{(K,K)} \leq \lambda_3(p) e^{-n/\xi(p)} e^{-A/\xi(p)} e^{-2(K-1)L/\xi(p)} \mathbb{B}_{N-K}$$

with  $\lambda_3(p) < \infty$  for  $p < p_c$ . The contribution from the case  $\mathbf{z} \in \mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  only modifies the constant  $\lambda_3(p)$ .

It is easy to see that (5.28) provides the  $K \ge 2$  terms in the first sums of the inequalities (i) and (ii). Indeed, for n=0 we obtain

(5.29 b) 
$$\mathbb{B}_{N}^{(K,K)} \leq \mathbb{V}_{K} \mathbb{B}_{N-K}$$

with  $\mathbb{V}_{K}$  of the stated form, while if we sum *n* from A to A + R, we have

(5.29 a) 
$$\mathbf{A}_{N}^{(K,K)} \leq \widetilde{\mathbf{V}}_{K} \mathbf{B}_{N-K}$$

with

(5.30) 
$$\widetilde{\mathbf{V}}_{K} \leq \lambda_{3}(p) e^{-A/\xi(p)} e^{-2(K-1)L/\xi(p)} \sum_{n=A}^{A+R} e^{-n/\xi(p)} \leq \widetilde{\lambda}_{3}(p) e^{-2A/\xi(p)} e^{-2(K-1)L/\xi(p)}$$

and  $\tilde{\lambda}_3(p) < \infty$  for  $p < p_c$ .

Now we will treat the case K < J. Here we will first assume  $K \ge 2$  (so that  $J \ge 3$ ), and then explicitly consider the case K = 1, J = 2. Thus we take  $\omega \in \ell_{N,n}^{(K,J)}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R), J > K \ge 2$ . Then, by exactly the same reasoning as in the case  $J = K \ge 2$ , the definition of K implies that there exist points  $(KL, \mathbf{b}) \in q(K)$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \in S(K)$  and  $\mathbf{y} \in S_c(1)$ , and two occupied paths

$$\mathcal{P}_{[1]}$$
: from  $(-n, 0)$  to **x**  
 $\mathcal{P}_{[2]}$ : from **x** to **y**

with  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  site-disjoint except for x, as well as a point  $z \in \mathscr{P}_{[1]} \cup \mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  and an occupied path

$$\mathcal{P}_{[3]}$$
: from z to (KL, b)

which is site-disjoint from  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  except for z. Again, we will explicitly consider only the case  $z \in \mathscr{P}_{[2]}$ , since the other case leads to an upper bound of the same form.

Now, by the definition of J, we know that  $C^{N}(q(K))$  (defined in (5.19)) does not double-cover the region  $S_{c}(J)$ , although it does double-cover  $S_{c}(M) \forall M > J$ . Thus there must exist a rightmost plane in  $S_{c}(J)$  in which the **C**-condition is not satisfied by  $C^{N}(q(K))$ , i.e. there must be a largest integer W in [((J-1)L)



+A, ..., (J-1)L+A+R] such that  $\mathbf{P}(W) \cap C^{N}(q(K))$  contains only a single point. Let us denote this point by  $\mathbf{w}^* = (W, \mathbf{w})$ . (See Fig. 6.)

By the definition of  $C^{N}(q(K))$ , w\* is connected to  $(KL, \mathbf{b})$  in the complement of  $C((-n, 0))||_{\mathbf{H}(KL)} \setminus Q(K)$ . Thus there is an occupied path

 $\mathcal{P}_{141}$ : from (*KL*, **b**) to **w**\*

which is site-disjoint from  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$ ,  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{[3]}$  (except for the point  $(KL, \mathbf{b})$ ). Furthermore, since  $S_c(J+1), \ldots, S_c(N)$  are double-covered in  $\ell_{N,n}^{(K,J)}$ , but are not double-covered by  $C^N(q(K))$ , there must exist points  $\mathbf{r} \in \mathscr{P}_{[1]} \cup \mathscr{P}_{[2]} \cup \mathscr{P}_{[3]}$  and  $\mathbf{s} \in S_c(J)$ ,  $s_1 = W-1$ , and a path in  $C^N(q(K))$ 

which, except for the point **r**, is site-disjoint from  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$ ,  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{[3]}$ , and which is also site-disjoint from  $\mathscr{P}_{[4]}$ . Indeed, if  $\mathscr{P}_{[5]}$  were not disjoint from  $\mathscr{P}_{[4]}$ , then we would have had  $\mathscr{P}_{[5]} \subset C^N(q(K))$ , which would mean that  $C^N(q(K))$  doublecovered  $S_c(M)$  for every  $M \ge K + 1$ , contradicting our asumption J > K.

As with our placement of z, there are several topologically distinct choices for our placement of r: given  $z \in \mathscr{P}_{[2]}$ , we could have  $r \in \mathscr{P}_{[1]}$ ,  $r \in \mathscr{P}_{[3]}$ ,  $r \in \{$ the segment of  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  between y and  $z\}$  or  $r \in \{$ the segment of  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  between z and  $x\}$ . However, as before, each of these choices will lead to an upper bound of the same form, so we explicitly treat only  $r \in \mathscr{P}_{[1]}$ .

Finally, and most importantly, since every connection from q(K) to  $(NL, \mathbf{a})$  must pass through the point  $\mathbf{w}^* = (W, \mathbf{w}) \in S_c(J)$ , and since by the definition of J,  $C^N(q(K))$  double-covers  $S_c((J+1), \ldots, S_c(N))$ , there must be a realization of  $T^{(W,\mathbf{w})} \ell_{N-J,JL-W}((N-J)L, \mathbf{a}-\mathbf{w}); R)$  in  $C^N(q(K))$ . This realization is clearly site-disjoint from  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$ ,  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{[3]}$ , since it is a subset of  $C^N(q(K))$  which is by definition disjoint from these paths. The realization is also site-disjoint from  $\mathscr{P}_{[5]}$ ; indeed, were this not the case, we would have had  $\mathscr{P}_{[5]} \subset C^N(q(K))$ , again contradicting our assumption J > K. Finally, the realization is also site-disjoint from the fact that both the realization and  $\mathscr{P}_{[4]}$  are subsets of  $C^N(q(K))$ , and that
**w**<sup>\*</sup> is by definition the only point of intersection of  $C^{N}(q(K))$  with the plane  $\mathbf{P}(W)$ .

By subadditivity, the van den Berg-Kesten inequality (2.12) and translation invariance, we have

$$(5.31) \quad b_{N,n}^{(K,J)}((NL,\mathbf{a})) \leq \sum_{\substack{b \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1} \\ \mathbf{x} \in S(K) \\ \mathbf{y} \in S_{c}(1) \\ \mathbf{z} \in \mathbf{H}(KL) \\ \mathbf{w}^{*} \in S_{c}(J) \\ \mathbf{r} \in \mathbf{H}(KL) \\ \mathbf{s} \in S_{c}(J) \\ \cdot b_{N-J,JL-W}(((N-J)L,\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{w}))).$$

Summing over **a**, **b** and the transverse coordinates, and using the notation  $x_1 \equiv X$ ,  $y_1 \equiv Y$ ,  $z_1 \equiv Z$  and  $w_1 \equiv W$ , we have

$$(5.32) \quad \mathbb{B}_{N,n}^{(K,J)} \leq \frac{\sum_{\substack{(K-1)L \leq X \leq KL \\ A \leq Y \leq A+R \\ Z \leq KL \\ r_1 \leq KL \\ (J-1)L+A \leq W \leq (J-1)L+A+R \\ s_1 = W-1 \\ \cdot \mathbf{G}_{|KL-Z|} \mathbf{G}_{|r_1-s_1|} \mathbf{G}_{|KL-W|} \mathbb{B}_{N-J,JL-W}.$$

Using the a priori bound on  $\mathbf{G}_L$  and performing the final sums, we have

(5.33) 
$$\mathbf{B}_{N,n}^{(K,J)} \leq \lambda_4(p) \, e^{-n/\xi(p)} e^{-3 \, A/\xi(p)} e^{-2 \, (J-2)L/\xi(p)} \mathbf{A}_{N-J}$$

with  $\lambda_4(p) < \infty$  for  $p < p_c$ . Here the factor of  $\mathbb{A}_{N-J}$  came from summing  $\mathbb{B}_{N-K,JL-W}$  over W in the allowed range. As before, the other possible positions of z and r yield estimates of the same form, and thus only modify  $\lambda_4(p)$ . Finally, noting that the expression on the r.h.s. of (5.33) is independent of K (and recalling that we have restricted to the case  $J > K \ge 2$ ), we obtain

(5.34) 
$$\sum_{K=2}^{J-1} \mathbb{B}_{N,n}^{(K,J)} \leq \lambda_4(p) e^{-n/\xi(p)} (J-2) e^{-3A/\xi(p)} e^{-2(J-2)L/\xi(p)} \mathbb{A}_{N-J}.$$

Again, it is easy to see that this produces all but the first nontrivial terms in the second sums of inequalities (i) and (ii). Indeed, for n=0, we get

(5.35b) 
$$\sum_{K=2}^{J-1} \mathbb{B}_{N}^{(K,J)} \leq \mathbb{U}_{J} \mathbb{A}_{N-J}$$

with  $\mathbb{U}_j$  of the stated form, while performing the sum over n: A to A+R, we get

(5.35a) 
$$\sum_{K=2}^{J-1} \mathbf{A}_N^{(K,J)} \leq \tilde{\mathbf{U}}_J \mathbf{A}_{N-J}$$

with

(5.36) 
$$\widetilde{\mathbb{U}}_{J} \leq \lambda_{4}(p)(J-2) e^{-3A/\xi(p)} e^{-2(J-2)L/\xi(p)} \sum_{n=A}^{A+R} e^{-n/\xi(p)} \leq \widetilde{\lambda}_{4}(p) e^{-4A/\xi(p)} (J-2) e^{-2(J-2)L/\xi(p)}$$

and  $\tilde{\lambda}_4(p) < \infty$  for  $p < p_c$ .

Let us now attend to the single remaining case K=1, J=2, and prove that it yields the remaining nontrivial term  $\mathbb{U}_2\mathbb{A}_{N-2}$  in (i) and  $\tilde{\mathbb{U}}_2\mathbb{A}_{N-2}$  in (ii). To this end, take  $\omega \in \mathscr{E}_{N,n}^{(1,2)}((NL, \mathbf{a}); R)$ . Then, by the definition of K and the fact that K=1, there must exist a point  $(L, \mathbf{b}) \in q(1)$  and a path

 $\mathcal{P}_{[1]}$ : from (-n, 0) to  $(L, \mathbf{b})$ 

in  $C((-n, 0))||_{\mathbf{H}(L)} \setminus Q(1)$ . Furthermore, following exactly the reasoning in the case  $J > K \ge 2$ , there must exist points  $\mathbf{w}^* = (W, \mathbf{w}) \in S_c(2)$ ,  $\mathbf{r} \in \mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  and  $\mathbf{s} \in S_c(2)$ ,  $s_1 = W - 1$ , defined as before, and two occupied paths

$$\mathcal{P}_{[4]}$$
: from  $(L, \mathbf{b})$  to  $\mathbf{w}^*$   
 $\mathcal{P}_{[5]}$ : from  $\mathbf{r}$  to  $\mathbf{s}$ 

which are site-disjoint from each other and from  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  except at the specified points of intersection. Finally, as before, there must be a realization of  $T^{(W,w)} \mathscr{E}_{N-2,2L-W}(((N-2)L, \mathbf{a}-\mathbf{w}); R))$  which is site-disjoint from  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}, \mathscr{P}_{[4]}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{[5]}$ , except at  $\mathbf{w}^*$ . Thus we obtain

(5.37) 
$$b_{N,n}^{(1,2)}((NL, \mathbf{a}))$$
  

$$\leq \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1} \\ \mathbf{w}^* \in S_c(2) \\ \mathbf{r} \in H(L) \\ \mathbf{s} \in S_c(2)}} \tau_{(-n,0),\mathbf{r}} \tau_{\mathbf{r},(L,\mathbf{b})} \tau_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}} \tau_{(L,\mathbf{b}),\mathbf{w}^*} b_{N-2,2L-W}(((N-2)L, \mathbf{a} - \mathbf{w}))).$$

which yields

(5.38) 
$$\mathbb{B}_{N,n}^{(1,2)} \leq \lambda_2(p) e^{-nR/\xi(p)} e^{+R/\xi(p)} e^{-2L/\xi(p)} \mathbb{A}_{N-2}$$

with  $\lambda_2(p) < \infty$  for  $p < p_c$ . Setting n = 0, we get

$$(5.39 \,\mathrm{b}) \qquad \qquad \mathbb{B}_N^{(1,\,2)} \leq \mathbb{U}_2 \,\mathbb{A}_{N-2},$$

while summing over *n* gives

(5.39 a) 
$$\mathbf{A}_{N}^{(1,2)} \leq \tilde{\mathbf{U}}_{2} \, \mathbf{A}_{N-2}$$

with  $\mathbb{U}_2$  and  $\tilde{\mathbb{U}}_2$  of the stated forms.  $\square$ 

**Theorem 5.4.** Let  $\xi(p)$  and  $\xi_c(p)$  be the decay rates of  $\tau_{0,L}(p)$  and  $c_{0,L}(p)$  as defined in (1.2) and Proposition 3.2. Then  $\forall p < p_c, \xi_c(p) < \xi(p)$ .

*Proof.* As explained earlier (cf. Eq. (5.14) and the discussion following the proof of Proposition 5.2), the decay rate  $\xi_b$  provides a bound on the decay rate of the **C**-functions:  $\xi_c^{-1} L \ge \xi_b^{-1}(L; R)$ . Thus it suffices to show that, for some choice

Fluctuations of percolation connectivities

of R and L,  $\xi_b^{-1}(L; R) > \xi^{-1}L$ , for which we need an upper bound on the **B**<sub>N</sub>. To this end, let us examine the system of coupled renewal inequalities derived in Lemma 5.3:

(5.40 a) 
$$\mathbf{B}_{N} \leq \sum_{K=0}^{N} \mathbf{V}_{K} \mathbf{B}_{N-K} + \sum_{J=0}^{N} \mathbf{U}_{J} \mathbf{A}_{N-J}; \qquad N \geq 1$$

(5.40b) 
$$\mathbf{A}_{N} \leq \sum_{K=0}^{N} \widetilde{\mathbf{V}}_{K} \mathbf{B}_{N-K} + \sum_{J=0}^{N} \widetilde{\mathbf{U}}_{J} \mathbf{A}_{N-J}; \quad N \geq 1.$$

Given these inequalities (and the bounds on the coefficients as derived in Lemma 5.3), we may prove the desired result either by induction in N, or by studying the transforms of  $\mathbb{B}_N$  and  $\mathbb{A}_N$ . Here we give a proof based on the transforms.

First, it is clear that were (5.40a) and (5.40b) equalities, then the sequences  $(\mathbb{B}_N)$  and  $(\mathbb{A}_N)$  could be generated, recursively, via knowledge of  $\mathbb{B}_0$ ,  $\mathbb{B}_1$ ,  $\mathbb{A}_0$ ,  $\mathbb{A}_1$ ,  $(\mathbb{V}_N)$ ,  $(\mathbb{U}_N)$ ,  $(\tilde{\mathbb{V}}_N)$  and  $(\tilde{\mathbb{U}}_N)$ . Similarly, provided all of the quantities are nonnegative, upper bounds on the these eight (sets of) quantities systematically generate upper bounds on the  $\mathbb{B}_2$ ,  $\mathbb{B}_3$ , ...,;  $\mathbb{A}_2$ ,  $\mathbb{A}_3$ , ... by substituting into (5.40a) and (5.40b) as though they were equalities. We may therefore consider the system

(5.41 b) 
$$\mathbf{A}_{N} = \sum_{K=0}^{N} \widetilde{\mathbf{V}}_{K} \mathbf{B}_{N-K} + \sum_{J=0}^{N} \widetilde{\mathbf{U}}_{J} \mathbf{A}_{N-J}$$

(5.42a) 
$$B_0 = 1$$

$$\mathbf{A}_0 = \lambda e^{-A/\xi(p)}$$

$$\mathbf{V}_0 = \mathbf{U}_0 = \widetilde{\mathbf{V}}_0 = \widetilde{\mathbf{U}}_0 = \mathbf{0}$$

(5.42 d) 
$$\mathbf{B}_1 = \mathbf{V}_1 = \lambda \,\delta(R) \, e^{-L/\xi(p)}$$

(5.42e) 
$$\mathbf{A}_1 = \widetilde{\mathbf{V}}_1 = \lambda e^{-A/\xi(p)} \delta(R) e^{-L/\xi(p)}$$

(5.42f) 
$$U_1 = \tilde{U}_1 = 0$$

(5.42g) 
$$U_2 = \lambda e^{+R/\xi(p)} e^{-2L/\xi(p)}, \quad \tilde{U}_2 = \lambda e^{-A/\xi(p)} e^{+R/\xi(p)} e^{-2L/\xi(p)}$$

(5.42h) 
$$\mathbf{V}_{K} = \lambda e^{-A/\xi(p)} e^{-2(K-1)L/\xi(p)}$$
  $(K \ge 2)$ 

(5.42i) 
$$\tilde{\mathbf{V}}_{K} = \lambda e^{-2A/\xi(p)} e^{-2(K-1)L/\xi(p)}$$
  $(K \ge 2)$ 

(5.42j) 
$$\mathbf{U}_{I} = \lambda e^{-3A/\xi(p)} (J-2) e^{-2(J-2)L/\xi(p)} \quad (J \ge 3)$$

(5.42 k) 
$$\tilde{\mathbf{U}}_{I} = \lambda e^{-4A/\xi(p)} (J-2) e^{-2(J-2)L/\xi(p)} \quad (J \ge 3)$$

and use the solution  $\mathbf{B}_N \ge \mathbf{B}_N$  to derive our bound on  $\xi_b$ . Here (5.42a) and (5.42b) come from (5.10) and (5.11); (5.42d) and (5.42e) follow from Lemma 5.1; and the remaining equations follow from Lemma 5.3. Note that we have replaced all the various  $\lambda$ 's – which are A and R independent – by  $\lambda \equiv \max\{1, \lambda_2(p), k\}$ 

 $\tilde{\lambda}_2(p), \lambda_3(p), \tilde{\lambda}_3(p), \lambda_4(p), \tilde{\lambda}_4(p)$ , and (for reasons which will shortly become clear) we have degraded the bound of Lemma 5.1 by inserting an extra factor of  $\lambda$ into (5.42d).

Transforming the system (5.41) we have

(5.43 a) 
$$\hat{\mathbf{B}}(z) = 1 + \hat{\mathbf{V}}(z) \,\hat{\mathbf{B}}(z) + \hat{\mathbf{U}}(z) \,\hat{\mathbf{A}}(z)$$

(5.43 b) 
$$\hat{\mathbf{A}}(z) = \mathbf{A}_0 + \hat{\mathbf{V}}(z)\,\hat{\mathbf{B}}(z) + \hat{\mathbf{U}}(z)\,\hat{\mathbf{A}}(z);$$

or, after a bit of algebra,

(5.44 a) 
$$\hat{\mathbf{B}}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \hat{\mathbf{U}}(z) + \mathbf{A}_0 \, \hat{\mathbf{U}}(z) \end{bmatrix} / \begin{bmatrix} 1 - (\hat{\mathbf{V}}(z) + \hat{\mathbf{U}}(z)) + (\hat{\mathbf{V}}(z) \, \hat{\mathbf{U}}(z)) \\ - \hat{\mathbf{U}}(z) \, \hat{\mathbf{V}}(z) \end{bmatrix}$$

(5.44 b) 
$$\hat{\mathbf{A}}(z) = [\mathbf{A}_0(1 - \hat{\mathbf{V}}(z)) + \hat{\mathbf{V}}(z)]/[1 - (\hat{\mathbf{V}}(z) + \hat{\mathbf{U}}(z)) + (\hat{\mathbf{V}}(z)\hat{\mathbf{U}}(z)) - \hat{\mathbf{U}}(z)\hat{\mathbf{V}}(z))].$$

The leading large-N behavior of  $\mathbf{B}_N$  (or  $\mathbf{A}_N$ ) is determined by the earliest pole of (5.44). Thus the solutions to the equation

(5.45) 
$$1 = \widehat{\mathbf{V}}(z) + \widehat{\mathbf{U}}(z) + (\widehat{\mathbf{V}}(z)\,\widehat{\mathbf{U}}(z) - \widehat{\mathbf{U}}(z)\,\widehat{\mathbf{V}}(z))$$

will provide a lower bound on  $e^{1/\xi_b}$  and hence an upper bound on  $\xi_c$ . Will not actually solve (5.45).

Instead we will choose values of R and A such that we obtain a lower

bound on the solution of (5.45) which separates  $\xi_c$  from  $\xi_c$ . First, it is observed that since we have arranged  $\hat{\mathbf{U}}(z) = e^{-A/\xi(p)} \hat{\mathbf{U}}(z)$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{V}}(z) = e^{-A/\xi(p)} \hat{\mathbf{V}}(z)$ , the cross term vanishes identically. This renders the r.h.s. of (5.45) a (strictly) monotone increasing function for  $z \in \mathbb{R}^+$ . From Eqs. (5.42), we have:

(5.46) 
$$\hat{\mathbf{V}}(z) + \tilde{\mathbf{U}}(z) = \lambda \,\delta(R) \,\kappa \, z + \lambda e^{-A/\xi(p)} e^{+R/\xi(p)} \kappa^2 \, z^2 + \mathbf{T}_1(z) + \mathbf{T}_2(z)$$

where

(5.47a) 
$$T_1(z) = \frac{\lambda e^{-A/\xi(p)} \kappa^2 z^2}{1 - \kappa^2 z}$$

and

(5.47b) 
$$\mathbf{T}_{2}(z) = \frac{\lambda e^{-4A/\xi(p)} \kappa^{2} z^{3}}{[1 - \kappa^{2} z]^{2}},$$

and, for algebraic ease, we have temporarily adopted the notation  $\kappa \equiv \kappa(R, A)$  $=e^{-L/\xi}$ .

Our scheme is as follows: Let  $z^* = z^*(R, A)$  denote the solution to (5.45). We pick  $R_0$  large enough so that

$$(5.48) \qquad \qquad \lambda \delta(R_0) \leq \frac{1}{4}.$$

Next, define  $z_0(R_0, A)$  to undershoot a crude version of (5.45), i.e.

(5.49) 
$$\lambda \delta(R_0) \kappa z_0 = \frac{1}{2}.$$

Then, we claim that we can find  $A(R_0)$  large enough so that

$$(5.50) \qquad \qquad \mathbf{\hat{V}}(z_0) + \mathbf{\tilde{U}}(z_0) < 1,$$

and hence, by monotonicity,

(5.51) 
$$z_0 < z^*$$
.

By the above reasoning and Eqs. (5.48), (5.49) and (5.51), we have

$$(5.52) e^{L/\xi_c} \ge e^{1/\xi_b} \ge z^* \ge 2e^{L/\xi}$$

and hence, since L = 2A + R,

(5.53) 
$$\frac{1}{\xi_c} \ge \frac{\log 2}{2A(R_0) + R_0} + \frac{1}{\xi}$$

which is the desired result.

It remains to satisfy (5.50). Setting  $\lambda \kappa z_0 = 1/2\delta$ , the second term on the r.h.s. of (5.46) becomes

(5.54a) 
$$\frac{1}{4\lambda\delta^2} e^{-A/\xi(p)} e^{+R_0/\xi(p)}$$

while  $T_1$  becomes

(5.54 b) 
$$\frac{1}{4\lambda\delta^2}e^{-A/\xi(p)}\left[1-\frac{1}{2\delta}e^{-2A/\xi(p)}e^{-R_0/\xi(p)}\right]^{-1}$$

and  $\mathbf{T}_2$  is given by

(5.54c) 
$$\frac{1}{8\lambda^2\delta^3}e^{-2A/\xi(p)}e^{+R_0/\xi(p)}\left[1-\frac{1}{2\delta}e^{-2A/\xi(p)}e^{-R_0/\xi(p)}\right]^{-2}.$$

It is manifest that the quantities in (5.54) tend to zero as  $A \rightarrow \infty$ .

### 6. Fluctuations of paths in percolation

In this section, we establish our principal results: First, in Sect. 6a, we prove results (I)–(III) of the introduction for the standard connectivities (Theorem 6.2). Next, in Sect. 6b, we use these results to establish a multidimensional local limit theorem for percolation clusters (Theorem 6.3). Finally, in Sect. 6c, we prove absence of a roughening transition in two-dimensional percolation (Theorem 6.4).

## 6a. Asymptotic properties of the standard connectivity functions

Using the knowledge that  $\forall p < p_c$ ,  $\xi_c$  is strictly less than  $\xi$  (Theorem 5.4), results (I)-(III) of Theorem 4.4 now hold for the quantities  $h_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  and  $\mathbb{H}_L$  throughout

the subcritical regime. However, the purpose of this investigation was, of course, to establish such results for the "real" connectivity functions, namely  $\tau_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  and  $\mathbf{G}_L$ . This has already been done for result (III) since we have proved that the decay rates for the g's and h's are identical (Proposition 3.1). The analogues of (I) and (II) will follow by analytically relating the transforms of  $\tau_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  and  $h_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ .

**Proposition 6.1.** Let the direct connectivities  $c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}$  and  $k_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}(p)$  be defined as in Eqs. (3.24) and (3.37) (and recall that they are related by the uniform bounds of Proposition 4.3, with common decay rate  $\xi_c(p)$ ). Let  $h_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}(p)$  and  $\tau_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}(p)$  be the cylinder and free connectivities, defined in Eqs. (3.2) and (1.1), and let  $h(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  and  $\hat{\tau}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  denote their Laplace-Fourier transforms. Then  $\hat{\tau}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  may be expressed as

$$\hat{\tau}(z, \mathbf{k}; p) = A_1(z, \mathbf{k}; p) + A_2(z, \mathbf{k}; p) \hat{h}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$$

where  $A_1(z, \mathbf{k})$  and  $A_2(z, \mathbf{k})$  have the same joint analyticity that was established for  $\hat{c}(z, \mathbf{k})$  in Proposition 4.2 (ii). Explicitly:

 $\forall p < p_c, \forall |z_0| < e^{1/\xi_c(p)}; \exists \delta_k = \delta_k(p, z_0) > 0 \text{ such that } A_1(z, \mathbf{k}) \text{ and } A_2(z, \mathbf{k}) \text{ are analytic in the regions } |z| \leq |z_0| \text{ and } |\mathbf{k}| \leq \delta_k.$ 

Moreover,  $A_1(z, \mathbf{k})$  is (a constant plus) the transform of  $k_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ , while  $A_2(z, \mathbf{k})$  is the (square of the) transform of another modification of the direct correlation function.

*Proof.* Let us define direct correlation events  $\mathscr{A}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  which behave like the *c*-events at the left boundary (**P**(0)), but which are permitted the freedom of  $\mathscr{A}$ -events at the right boundary (**P**(L)):

(6.1 a) 
$$\mathscr{A}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} = \{ \omega \in \mathscr{K}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} | C(0) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(0) = \{ 0 \} \}$$

(6.1 b) 
$$d_{0,(La)} = P(\mathcal{A}_{0,(L,a)}).$$

(Note that these *d*-functions do not coincide with any of the additional direct connectivities introduced in the Appendix, since the connections contributing to the latter functions were always required to occur in the cylinder.) Now, the *d*-functions obviously satisfy

(6.2) 
$$c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} \leq d_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} \leq k_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}.$$

Thus  $\xi_c$  is the decay rate for all of these direct correlation functions.

Given this, we can follow exactly the derivation in Eqs. (4.7)–(4.10) to prove that  $\hat{d}(\mathbf{k}, z)$  and  $\hat{k}(\mathbf{k}, z)$  are both jointly analytic in z and k, for  $|z| \leq z_0 |\mathbf{k}| \leq \delta_k(p, z_0)$ ,  $\forall z_0, 0 < z_0 < e^{1/\xi(p)}$  for some  $\delta_k(p, z_0) > 0$ .

Let us now show that  $\hat{d}(\mathbf{k}, z)$  and  $\hat{k}(\mathbf{k}, z)$  can be used to relate the transform functions  $\hat{\tau}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  and  $\hat{h}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$ . To this end, let  $\omega \in \mathcal{G}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  and consider the intersection of  $C(0; \omega) \equiv C(0)$  with the planes  $\mathbf{P}(j), 1 \leq j \leq N-1$ . Obviously there are only three possibilities:

(a) All of the planes satisfy  $|\mathbf{P}(j) \cap C(0)| \ge 2$ .

- (b) Exactly one of the planes, say j = N, satisfies  $|\mathbf{P}(j) \cap C(0)| = 1$ .
- (c) More than one of the planes satisfies  $|\mathbf{P}(j) \cap C(0)| = 1$ . In this case, denote the leftmost such plane by j = N, and the rightmost by j = M > N.

In case (a), it is clear that

(6.3a) 
$$\omega \in \mathscr{K}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$$
.

In the second instance, we let  $\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  denote the transverse coordinate of the unique point in  $\mathbf{P}(N)$  belonging to C(0). Then one has

(6.3 b) 
$$\omega \in \mathscr{A}_{0,(N,\mathbf{b})} \cap \mathscr{A}_{(N,\mathbf{b}),(L,\mathbf{a})}$$

Finally, letting  $(N, \mathbf{b})$  and  $(M, \mathbf{c})$  denote the unique points in  $\mathbf{P}(N)$  and  $\mathbf{P}(M)$  belonging to C(0), case (c) implies that

(6.3c) 
$$\omega \in \mathscr{A}_{0,(N,\mathbf{b})} \cap \mathscr{K}_{(N,\mathbf{b}),(M,\mathbf{c})} \cap \mathscr{A}_{(M,\mathbf{c}),(L,\mathbf{a})}$$

Using the (near) factorization property of the various events and the fact that these events represent disjoint possibilities which exhaust  $\mathcal{G}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ , we have

(6.4) 
$$\tau_{0,(\mathbf{L},\mathbf{a})} = k_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} + f(p) \sum_{N,\mathbf{b}} d_{0,(N,\mathbf{b})} d_{(N,\mathbf{b}),(L,\mathbf{a})} + f^{2}(p) \sum_{\substack{N,\mathbf{b} \\ M,\mathbf{c} \\ M > N}} d_{0,(N,\mathbf{b})} h_{(N,\mathbf{b}),(M,\mathbf{c})} d_{(M,\mathbf{c}),(L,\mathbf{a})},$$

where f(p) is the "patching factor" defined in the statement of Proposition 4.1. Recalling that  $h_{0,(0,\mathbf{a})} = f^{-1}(p) \delta_{0,\mathbf{a}}$ , it is seen that the second term in (6.4) may be absorbed into the third provided that we relax the requirement of strict separation of M and N. Defining the various transform functions (see also (4.3 a)):

(6.5a) 
$$\hat{\tau}(z,\mathbf{k};p) = f(p) \sum_{L,\mathbf{a}} \tau_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}(p) z^L e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{a}}$$

(6.5 b) 
$$\hat{k}(z, \mathbf{k}; p) = f(p) \sum_{L, \mathbf{a}} k_{0, (L, \mathbf{a})}(p) z^{L} e^{i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{a}}$$

(6.5c) 
$$\widehat{d}(z,\mathbf{k};p) = f(p) \sum_{L,\mathbf{a}} d_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}(p) z^L e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{a}},$$

with the stipulation that  $\tau_{0,(0,\mathbf{a})} = \delta_{0,\mathbf{a}}$  and  $k_{0,(0,\mathbf{a})} = d_{0,(0,\mathbf{a})} \equiv 0$ , the relationship

(6.6) 
$$\hat{\tau}(z,\mathbf{k};p) = 1 + \hat{k}(z,\mathbf{k};p) + \hat{d}^2(z,\mathbf{k};p) \hat{h}(z,\mathbf{k};p)$$

is easily verified.

**Theorem 6.2.** Let  $\tau_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}(p)$  and  $\mathbf{G}_L(p)$  denote the standard percolation connectivity functions as defined in Eqs. (1.1) and (1.4), with common decay rate  $\xi(p)$  given by Proposition 3.1. Then  $\forall p < p_c$ :

(I)  $\exists K_2(p) \geq 1, \Delta(p) > 0$  such that

$$|\mathbf{G}_{L}(p)e^{+L/\xi(p)}-K_{2}(p)| \leq e^{-\Delta(p)L}.$$

(II)  $\exists \alpha(p) > 0$  such that  $\forall \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  satisfying  $|\mathbf{a}| \leq L^{3/4-\varepsilon}$  with  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\tau_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} \sim K_2(p) \frac{1}{[\alpha(p) \pi L]^{(d-1)/2}} e^{-L/\xi(p)} e^{-\mathbf{a}^2/[\alpha(p)L]} [1 + O(L^{-1}, L^{-4\varepsilon})].$$

In particular:

(i) The expression above represents the first term in an asymptotic expansion: i.e., for any fixed function  $\mathbf{a}(L)$ ,  $|\mathbf{a}(L)| \leq L^{3/4-\epsilon}$ , with  $\mathbf{a}(L)$  tending to infinity (e.g., as a power of L), the  $O(L^{-1}, L^{-4\epsilon})$  terms can be systematically calculated in an asymptotic series.

(ii) The error term is uniform in **a**: i.e.  $\exists d'_1(p), d'_2(p) < \infty$  such that  $\forall \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  satisfying  $|\mathbf{a}| \leq L^{3/4-\varepsilon}$ 

$$|\tau_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}][\alpha(p) \pi L]^{(d-1)/2} e^{+L/\xi(p)} e^{+\mathbf{a}^2/[\alpha(p)L]} - K_2(p)| \leq \frac{d'_1(p)}{L} + \frac{d'_2(p)}{L^{4\varepsilon}}.$$

(iii) The tail of the distribution is uniformly bounded: i.e.,  $\exists d'_3(p) < \infty$  such that  $\forall \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  satisfying  $|\mathbf{a}| \leq L^{3/4-\varepsilon}$ 

$$\sum_{\mathbf{b}: |b_j| \ge |a_j|} \tau_{0,(L,\mathbf{b})} \le d'_3(p) L^{(d-1)/2} e^{-L/\xi(p)} e^{-\mathbf{a}^2/[\alpha(p)L]}$$

where  $a_j$  and  $b_j$  are the j<sup>th</sup> components of the vectors **a** and **b**.

(III)  $\xi(p)$  is real analytic.

*Proof.* As previously remarked, (III) has already been established in Theorem 4.4 (III). To establish (I) and (II), we use the fact that  $\hat{h}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  and  $\hat{\tau}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  are analytically related by Proposition 6.1. Thus the manipulations performed on  $\hat{h}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$  in the proof of Theorem 4.4 may be directly carried out on  $\hat{\tau}(z, \mathbf{k}; p)$ . The only change is that the function  $F(z, \mathbf{k})$  introduced in Eq. (4.26) is replaced by another function, computable via Proposition 6.1, which modifies the constant  $\tilde{K}_2(p)$ . The fact that  $K_2(p) \ge 1$  follows from the a priori lower bound on  $\mathbf{G}_L$ , given in Proposition 3.1.

# 6b. A multidimensional local limit theorem

Using the results of the previous subsection (and of previous sections), we will establish a local limit theorem for the transverse fluctuations of subcritical paths. Here we will consider a situation in which the system contains a long path – in particular from 0 to (L, 0, ..., 0) – and obtain detailed information on the location of the cluster in the intervening planes. Since the cluster will often have multiple intersections with any given intermediate plane, we will employ the following device:

**Definition 6.1.** Let  $(L, \mathbf{a}) \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  and denote by  $\Phi_{\mathbf{a}}^L$  the event that the origin is connected to  $\mathbf{P}(L)$  and that the maximum extent of the cluster in  $\mathbf{P}(L)$  in the *i*<sup>th</sup> coordinate direction is  $a_i, i=2, ..., d$ .

(6.7) 
$$\Phi_{\mathbf{a}}^{L} = \{ \omega | \exists \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(L) \text{ such that } \mathbf{x} \in C(0); \text{ and} \\ \max\{y_{i} | \mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L) \cap C(0)\} = a_{i}, i = 2, \dots, d \}.$$

Note that, for d > 2,  $\Phi_{\mathbf{a}}^{L}$  does not necessarily imply that  $\omega \in \mathcal{G}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ . Our local limit result is as follows: **Theorem 6.3.** Suppose  $p < p_c$ . Let  $\varphi \in (0, 1)$ ,  $v \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$  and  $L \equiv \mathbb{Z}$ , and denote by  $Q \in \mathbb{Z}$  the smallest integer larger than  $\varphi L$ , and by  $\mathbf{v} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  the vector whose  $i^{\text{th}}$  component is the smallest integer larger than  $\sqrt{Lv_i}$ . Let the events  $\varphi_{0,(L,0)}$  and  $\Phi_{\mathbf{v}}^Q$ , be defined as in Eqs. (3.1) and (6.7), and from these events define

$$\rho_{q}(v) \equiv \rho_{q}(v; p) = L^{(d-1)/2} P(\Phi_{v}^{Q}|_{\mathcal{G}_{0,(L,0)}}).$$

Then, as  $L \rightarrow \infty$ , for every  $\delta > 0$ ,

$$\rho_{\varphi}(\nu) = \frac{1}{\left[q(1-q)\,\pi\,\alpha(p)\right]^{(d-1)/2}} \, e^{-\nu^2/\left[q(1-q)\,\alpha(p)\right]} (1+O(L^{-(1-\delta)}),$$

where  $\alpha(p) > 0$  is defined in Eq. (4.23), and is the same constant appearing in Theorems 4.4 and 6.2.

*Proof.* Let Q and v be as defined in the statement of the proposition, and suppose  $\omega \in \Phi_v^Q \cap \mathscr{G}_{0,(L,0)}$ . We will distinguish two cases:

(1) 
$$|C(0) \cap \mathbf{P}(Q)| = 1$$

(2)  $|C(0) \cap \mathbf{P}(Q)| > 1.$ 

Before doing detailed estimates on these two cases, let us dispense with an unlikely set of possibilities. Given that  $\omega \in \Phi_v^Q \cap \mathscr{G}_{0,(L,0)}$ , it is of course possible that  $\omega \in \Phi_v^Q \cap \mathscr{K}_{0,(L,0)}$ , or at least that  $\omega$  contains a (translate of *a*) realization of  $\mathscr{K}_{0,(\lambda L,\mathbf{b})}$  or  $\mathscr{A}_{0,(\lambda L,\mathbf{b})}$  for some  $\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  and some  $\lambda > 0$ . However, the fact that  $\xi_c < \xi$  (Theorem 5.4) implies that these configurations are (relatively) exponentially unlikely.<sup>2</sup> Thus in our subsequent estimates, we can neglect terms containing *k*-functions or *d*-functions of order O(L) (i.e. configurations in which there are O(L) consecutive planes  $\mathbf{P}(j)$  with  $|C(0) \cap \mathbf{P}(j)| > 1$ ) at a cost of no more than  $e^{-L/\xi}e^{-O(L^{\varepsilon})}$  for any  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ .

Let us first consider case (1): i.e., the case in which C(0) has only a single point of intersection with P(Q). Then, by definition,  $(Q, \mathbf{v}) \in C(0)$ . Assuming they exist, let N > 0 be the leftmost plane and M < Q be the rightmost plane in  $S(Q) \setminus P(Q)$  in which C(0) contains a unique point. Denote these points by  $(N, \mathbf{a})$ and  $(M, \mathbf{b})$ , respectively. To the right of P(Q), we denote the similarly distinguished points by  $(R, \mathbf{c}), R > Q$ , and  $(P, \mathbf{d}), P < L$ . Of course, some of these points will not exist if  $\omega$  contains a realization of  $d_{0,(Q,\mathbf{v})}$  or  $d_{(Q,\mathbf{v}),(L,0)}$ ; however, as discussed above, the probability of either event is easily bounded. Now, if e.g.  $(M, \mathbf{b})$  does exist, then it is easy to see that in S(Q),  $\omega$  contains realizations of  $c_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(Q,\mathbf{v})}, \, \mathbb{A}_{(N,\mathbf{a}),(M,\mathbf{b})}$  and  $d_{0,(N,\mathbf{a})}$  which are disjoint except for the bounding planes P(N) and P(M). Thus, except for configurations containing  $d_{0,(Q,\mathbf{v})}$  or  $d_{(Q,\mathbf{v}),(L,0)}$ , the probability of case (1) is given by

(6.8)  

$$f^{5}(p) \sum_{\substack{0 < N \leq M < Q < R \leq P < L \\ \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b}, \mathbf{c}, \mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}}} d_{0,(N,\mathbf{a})} h_{(N,\mathbf{a}),(M,\mathbf{b})} c_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(Q,\mathbf{v})} c_{(Q,\mathbf{v}),(R,\mathbf{c})} h_{(R,\mathbf{c}),(P,\mathbf{d})} d_{(P,\mathbf{d}),(L,0)},$$

where f(p) is the "patching factor" defined in the statement of Proposition 4.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Indeed, the result  $\xi_c < \xi$  implies that the only configurations of significance are those with O(L) planes in which C(0) has a unique point of intersection

Let us now consider case (2): i.e. when C(0) has multiple intersections with  $\mathbf{P}(Q)$ . To handle these situations, let us define, for 0 < N < L,

(6.9) 
$$c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{N|\mathbf{b}} = P(c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} \cap \Phi_{\mathbf{b}}^{N}),$$

and, in general,

(6.10) 
$$c_{(P,\mathbf{c}),(L,\mathbf{a})}^{N|\mathbf{b}} = P(c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} \cap T^{(P,\mathbf{c})}(\Phi_{\mathbf{b}-\mathbf{c}}^{N-P}))$$

where  $T^{(-)}(-)$  denotes the translation operator. As in case (1), we can define the points  $(N, \mathbf{a}), (M, \mathbf{b}), (R, \mathbf{c})$  and  $(P, \mathbf{d})$ . Then, provided that  $\mathcal{A}_{0,(Q,\mathbf{v})}$  or  $\mathcal{A}_{(Q,\mathbf{v}),(L,0)}$  do not occur, we see that the probability of case (2) is given by:

(6.11) 
$$f^{4}(p) \sum_{\substack{0 < N \leq M < Q < R \leq P < L \\ \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b}, \mathbf{c}, \mathbf{d} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}}} d_{0, (N, \mathbf{a})} h_{(N, \mathbf{a}), (M, \mathbf{b})} c_{(M, \mathbf{b}), (R, \mathbf{c})}^{Q|\mathbf{v}} h_{(R, \mathbf{c}), (P, \mathbf{d})} d_{(P, \mathbf{d}), (L, 0)}.$$

Let  $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{1}{4})$ . By the above reasoning, up to terms smaller than the order of  $e^{-L/\xi}e^{-O(L^{\varepsilon})}$ ,  $P(\Phi_{\mathbf{v}}^{Q} \cap \mathscr{G}_{0,(L,0)})$  is given by the sum of (6.8) and (6.11). Furthermore, we claim that outside of the ranges

(i)  $N, (L-R), (R-M) < L^{\varepsilon}$ (ii)  $|\mathbf{a}|, |\mathbf{d}| < 2L^{\varepsilon}$ (iii)  $|\mathbf{b}-\mathbf{v}|, |\mathbf{c}-\mathbf{v}| < 3L^{\varepsilon}$ , (iv)  $|\mathbf{b}|, |\mathbf{v}|, |\mathbf{c}| < L^{1/2+\varepsilon}$ 

the contribution of (6.8) and (6.11) is also of order  $e^{-L/\xi}e^{-O(L^{\varepsilon})}$ .

Indeed, suppose that  $N \ge L^{\epsilon}$ . Then, either sum may be bounded above by

(6.12) 
$$\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{N},\mathbf{a}\\L\geq N\geq L^{\varepsilon}}} d_{0,(\mathbf{N},\mathbf{a})} \tau_{(\mathbf{N},\mathbf{a}),(L,0)} \leq (\text{const.}) \sum_{\substack{N,\mathbf{a}\\L\geq N\geq L^{\varepsilon}}} \tau_{(\mathbf{N},\mathbf{a}),(L,0)} e^{-N/\xi_{\varepsilon}}$$
$$= (\text{const.}) \sum_{\substack{L\geq N\geq L^{\varepsilon}}} \mathbf{G}_{L-N} e^{-N/\xi_{\varepsilon}}$$
$$\leq (\text{const.}) L e^{-L/\xi} e^{-(1/\xi - 1/\xi_{\varepsilon})L^{\varepsilon}}.$$

By symmetry, we obtain an analogous estimate if  $L-R \ge L^{\varepsilon}$ . When  $R-M \ge L^{\varepsilon}$ , it is seen that the contribution to the sum in (6.11) may be bounded by

$$(6.13) \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{c}\\M,R:\ R-M \ge L^{\varepsilon}}} \tau_{0,(M,\mathbf{b})} \tau_{(R,\mathbf{c}),(L,0)} c_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(R,\mathbf{c})} \le e^{-M/\xi} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{c}\\M,R:\ R-M \ge L^{\varepsilon}}} \tau_{(R,\mathbf{c}),(L,0)} c_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(R,\mathbf{c})} \le (\text{const.}) L e^{-L/\xi} e^{-(1/\xi - 1/\xi_c)L^{\varepsilon}},$$

with a similar estimate for (6.8). Thus, to within the stated error, we need only sum in the range given in (i).

Violation of the conditions in (ii) and (iii) leads to estimates of the same form. Indeed, it is easy to see that a "lateral over-extension" of  $d_{0,(N,\mathbf{a})} (\leq \tau_{0,(N,\mathbf{a})})$  when  $N < L^{\varepsilon}$  and  $|\mathbf{a}| \geq 2L^{\varepsilon}$  produces a bound of the form (6.12), as is also the case, by symmetry, when  $|\mathbf{d}| \geq 2L^{\varepsilon}$ . Given that (Q-M) and  $(P-Q) < L^{\varepsilon}$  (which we may assume by (1)), a displacement of  $|\mathbf{b}-\mathbf{v}|$  or  $|\mathbf{c}-\mathbf{v}|$  exceeding  $3L^{\varepsilon}$  would be similarly costly.

Finally, observe that if any of the points **b**, **c**, **v** exceed  $L^{1/2+\varepsilon}$  in magnitude, there must be some point in C(0) with a huge lateral fluctuation – say, for example,  $(Q', \mathbf{v}') \in C(0)$  with  $|\mathbf{v}'| > L^{1/2+\varepsilon}$  and Q' of order L. The total contribution of such configurations may be bounded by

(6.14) 
$$\sum_{\substack{|\mathbf{v}'| \ge L^{1/2+\varepsilon} \\ Q'}} \tau_{0,(Q',\mathbf{v})} \tau_{(Q',\mathbf{v}'),(L,0)} \le (\text{const.}) L^{(d-1)/2} \sum_{Q'} \mathbf{G}_{Q'} e^{-(L-Q')/\xi} e^{-L^{\varepsilon/\alpha}}$$
$$\le (\text{const.}) L^{(d+1)/2} e^{-L/\xi} e^{-L^{\varepsilon/\alpha}},$$

where we have used property (II iii) of Theorem 6.2 to control the tail of the sum. Thus we can restrict in the range given in (iv) at the stated cost.

Now let us apply the asymptotic formula for  $h_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  (Theorem 4.4 II) under the restrictions (i)–(iv). Noting that the error terms in this formula are uniform in the transverse coordinate (Theorem 4.4 (II ii)), and that, by our restrictions (ii)–(iv), we need only consider  $|\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{b}|$ ,  $|\mathbf{c}-\mathbf{d}| < L^{1/2+\varepsilon}$ , the contribution to  $P(\Phi_v^Q \cap g_{0,(L,0)})$  from case (Eq. (6.8)) is equal to

$$\begin{split} f^{5}(p) & \sum_{\substack{N,M,R,P \\ \mathbf{a},\mathbf{b},\mathbf{c},\mathbf{d}}} d_{0,(N,\mathbf{a})} e^{+N/\xi} c_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(Q,\mathbf{v})} e^{+(Q-M)/\xi} c_{(Q,\mathbf{v}),(R,\mathbf{c})} e^{+(R-Q)/\xi} d_{(P,\mathbf{d}),(L,0)} e^{+(L-P)/\xi} \\ & \times e^{-L/\xi} \frac{\tilde{K}_{2}(p)}{(\alpha \pi (M-N))^{(d-1)/2}} e^{-(\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{b})^{2}/\alpha (M-N)} \frac{\tilde{K}_{2}(p)}{(\alpha \pi (P-R))^{(d-1)/2}} e^{-(\mathbf{c}-\mathbf{d})^{2}/\alpha (P-R)} \\ & \times [1+O(L^{-(1-4\varepsilon)})], \end{split}$$

while case (2) (Eq. (6.11)) yields a contribution of

(6.16)  

$$f^{4}(p) \sum_{\substack{N,M,R,P \\ \mathbf{a},\mathbf{b},\mathbf{c},\mathbf{d}}} d_{0,(N,\mathbf{a})} e^{+N/\xi} c_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(R,\mathbf{c})}^{Q|\mathbf{v}} e^{+(R-M)/\xi} d_{(P,\mathbf{d}),(L,0)} e^{+(L-P)/\xi}$$

$$\times e^{-L/\xi} \frac{\tilde{K}_{2}(p)}{(\alpha \pi (M-N))^{(d-1)/2}} e^{-(\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{b})^{2}/\alpha (M-N)} \frac{\tilde{K}_{2}(p)}{(\alpha \pi (P-R))^{(d-1)/2}} e^{-(\mathbf{c}-\mathbf{d})^{2}/\alpha (P-R)}$$

$$\times [1+O(L^{-(1-4\epsilon)})].$$

Now by (i), we have restricted the sums to a range in which  $(M-N)=Q[1 + O(L^{\varepsilon})]$  and  $(P-R)=(L-Q)[1+O(L^{\varepsilon})]$ , so we may replace the factors of (M - N) with Q and (P-R) with (L-Q) in the appropriate places in Eqs. (6.15) and (6.16) without altering the stated error. Next, using properties (ii)–(iv), it is seen that for all **a**, **b**, **c**, **d** under consideration, the factors of  $(\mathbf{a}-\mathbf{b})^2$  and  $(\mathbf{c}-\mathbf{d})^2$  are of order  $\mathbf{v}^2 + |\mathbf{v}| O(L^{\varepsilon}) \leq \mathbf{v}^2 + O(L^{1/2+2\varepsilon})$ ; thus if we replace these factors by  $\mathbf{v}^2$ , our error term becomes  $O(L^{-(1/2+2\varepsilon)})$ . Collecting all relevant factors, we have

(6.17) 
$$P(\Phi_{\mathbf{v}}^{Q} \cap g_{0,(L,0)}) = (S_{1} + S_{2}) \frac{\tilde{K}_{2}^{2}}{L^{(d-1)/2}} \times \frac{e^{-L/\xi}}{(\alpha \pi L)^{(d-1)/2}} \frac{1}{(\alpha \pi (Q/L)(1 - Q/L))^{(d-1)/2}} e^{-\mathbf{v}^{2}/\alpha L(1 - Q/L)(Q/L)} \times [1 + O(L^{-(1/2 + 2\varepsilon)})]$$

where

(6.18) 
$$S_{1} = f^{5}(p) \sum_{\substack{N,M,R,P \\ \mathbf{a},\mathbf{b},\mathbf{c},\mathbf{d}}} d_{0,(N,\mathbf{a})} e^{+N/\xi} c_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(Q,\mathbf{v})} e^{+(Q-M)/\xi} \times c_{(Q,\mathbf{v}),(R,\mathbf{c})} e^{+(R-Q)/\xi} d_{(P,\mathbf{d}),(L,0)} e^{+(L-P)/\xi}$$

and

(6.19) 
$$S_2 = f^4(p) \sum_{\substack{N,M,R,P\\ \mathbf{a},\mathbf{b},\mathbf{c},\mathbf{d}}} d_{0,(N,\mathbf{a})} e^{+N/\xi} c^{Q|\mathbf{v}}_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(R,\mathbf{c})} e^{+(R-M)/\xi} d_{(P,\mathbf{d}),(L,0)} e^{+(L-P)/\xi}.$$

Now it is clear that the error term will be unaffected if we sum  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  over unbounded ranges of indices – indeed, this will only incur another (relatively) exponentially small error. Thus, we may write

(6.20) 
$$S_1 = f^5(p) (\sum_N \mathbb{ID}_N e^{+N/\xi})^2 (\sum_N \mathbb{C}_N e^{+N/\xi})^2$$

(6.21) 
$$S_2 = f^4(p) (\sum_N \mathbb{D}_N e^{+N/\xi})^2 (\sum_{N,M>1} \mathbb{C}_{N+M} e^{+(N+M)/\xi})$$

instead of (6.18) and (6.19), where we have used

(6.22) 
$$\mathbb{D}_{N} \equiv \sum_{\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} d_{\mathbf{0},(N,\mathbf{b})}$$

and invoked the "sum rule"

(6.23) 
$$\sum_{\mathbf{v}\in\mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} c_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(R,\mathbf{c})}^{Q|\mathbf{v}} = c_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(R,\mathbf{c})}$$

and translation invariance to obtain

(6.24) 
$$\sum_{\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{c} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} c_{(M,\mathbf{b}),(R,\mathbf{c})}^{Q|\mathbf{v}} = \mathbb{C}_{R-M}.$$

Finally, let us replace Q/L by  $\varphi$  and  $\mathbf{v}^2/L$  by  $v^2$  (a negligible error), and compare Eq. (6.17) to the statement of the theorem. Observe that one factor of  $L^{-(d-1)/2}$  is cancelled by the definition of  $\rho_{\varphi}(v)$ . To obtain a conditional probability, we must place  $\tau_{0,(L,0)}$  in the denominator of (6.17). Using the asymptotic formula

(6.25) 
$$\tau_{0,(L,0)} \sim \frac{K_2(p)}{\left[\alpha(p) \, \pi L\right]^{(d-1)/2}} \, e^{-L/\xi(p)}$$

of Theorem 6.2, it is seen that the theorem is proved if we can establish  $(\tilde{K}_2^2/K_2)(S_1+S_2)=1$ .

To this end, we start by recalling (Lemma 4.3(i)) that  $f(p)\sum_{N} \mathbb{C}_{N} e^{+N/\xi} = 1$ .

Now, according to the proof of Theorem 4.4 (I) (see, e.g., Eq. (4.17)), we may write

(6.26) 
$$\hat{\mathbf{H}}(z) = [1 - \hat{\mathbf{C}}(z)]^{-1} = F(z)[1 - ze^{-1/\xi}]^{-1}$$

where  $\tilde{K}_2$  is computed via

(6.27) 
$$f(p) \tilde{K}_2 = F(e^{1/\xi}).$$

Writing  $F(z) = [1 - z e^{-1/\xi}] [1 - \hat{\mathbb{C}}(z)]^{-1}$ , we may expand  $\hat{\mathbb{C}}(z)$  about  $z = e^{1/\xi}$  with the result

(6.28) 
$$f(p) \tilde{K}_2 = e^{-1/\xi} [\hat{\mathbb{C}}'(e^{1/\xi})]^{-1},$$

where  $\mathbf{\hat{C}}'$  is the derivative of  $\mathbf{\hat{C}}$ . Now

(6.29) 
$$e^{1/\xi} \widehat{\mathbb{C}}'(e^{1/\xi}) = \sum_{L} L \mathbb{C}_{L} e^{+L/\xi},$$

so that

(6.30) 
$$\sum_{L} L \mathbb{C}_{L} e^{+L/\xi} = \frac{1}{f(p) \widetilde{K}_{2}}.$$

However,

$$(6.31) f(p) \sum_{N,M>1} \mathbb{C}_{N+M} e^{+(N+M)/\xi} = f(p) \sum_{L} (L-1) \mathbb{C}_{L} e^{+L/\xi} = \sum_{L} L \mathbb{C}_{L} e^{+L/\xi} - 1;$$

whence

(6.32) 
$$(S_1 + S_2) = \frac{f^2(p)(\sum_N ID_N e^{+N/\xi})^2}{\tilde{K}_2}.$$

Finally, let us examine  $K_2$ . By definition, were we to write

(6.33 a) 
$$\mathbf{G}(z) = G(z) [1 - z e^{-1/\xi}]^{-1},$$

then

(6.33b) 
$$f(p) K_2 = G(e^{1/\xi}).$$

Using the expression (6.6) at  $\mathbf{k} = 0$  to compute  $\hat{\mathbf{G}}(z)$ , it is seen that

(6.34) 
$$G(z) = [1 - z e^{-1/\xi}] [1 + \mathbb{K}(z)] + \widehat{\mathbb{D}}^2(z) [1 - z e^{-1/\xi}] [1 - \widehat{\mathbb{C}}(z)]^{-1}$$

so that

(6.35) 
$$K_2 = \hat{\mathbf{D}}^2(z) \hat{K}_2$$

or

(6.36) 
$$K_2 = f^2(p) (\sum_N \mathbb{D}_N e^{+N/\xi})^2.$$

Combining (6.36) with the expression (6.32) for  $(S_1 + S_2)$ , the desired result is achieved. Note that we obtain the error estimate from (6.17) and the stipulation  $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{1}{4})$ .

#### 6c. The absence of a roughening transition in two dimensions

The roughening problem in the context of percolation was introduced in [ACCFR]. Here we present a complete (but not altogether surprising) solution of the two-dimensional problem.

The set up is as follows: We start with a box of scale L

(6.37 a) 
$$\Lambda_L = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^d | | \mathbf{x} | \leq L \},$$

with upper boundary

$$\partial A_L^+ = \{ \mathbf{x} \in A_L | |\mathbf{x}| = L, x_d > 0 \}$$

and lower boundary

$$\partial \Lambda_L^- = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \Lambda_L | |\mathbf{x}| = L, x_d < 0 \}$$

Notive that  $\partial A_L^+ \cup \partial A_L^-$  does not include the points where  $x_1 = 0$ . We will be concerned with the behavior of configurations inside  $A_L$ . In particular, let us define the event

(6.38)  $\mathscr{I}_L = \{\omega | \text{there is no path of occupied bonds between } \partial \Lambda_L^+ \text{ and } \partial \Lambda_L^- \}.$ 

The event  $\mathscr{I}_L$  has the (dual) interpretation of the presence of an *interface* separating  $\partial \Lambda_L^+$  from  $\partial \Lambda_L^-$ . The idea is to study the density  $p > p_c$  Bernoulli measures conditioned on the event  $\mathscr{I}_L$ . In the limit  $L \to \infty$ , there are two essentially different possible outcomes:

- (1) The interface remains localized.
- (2) The interface fluctuates outside of any finite region.

Obviously (1) and (2) must be quantified. However, given any acceptable definition, a transition from behavior (1) to behavior (2) which occurs at a value of p distinct from  $p_c$  is a called a *roughening transition*. It is believed but it is not proven that a roughening transition occurs in three or more dimensions.

There are two reasonable criteria to distinguish cases (1) and (2). First, we can extract some limiting measure and determine whether or not it is Bernoulli. Second, we can examine the so-called roughening order parameter [ACCFR]:

Let  $\mathbf{h} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  be the point (0, ..., h) which is h units above the midplane. We define

(6.39 a) 
$$T_L^+(h) = \{ \omega \, | \, C(\mathbf{h}) \cap \partial A_L^+ \neq \emptyset \}$$

and

(6.39b) 
$$T_L^-(h) = \{ \omega | C(\mathbf{h}) \cap \partial A_L^- \neq \emptyset \}.$$

Clearly, when  $\omega \in \mathcal{I}_L$ , it cannot be the case that both  $T_L^+(h)$  and  $T_L^-(h)$  happen. We denote the difference between the conditional probabilities by  $\theta_L(h)$ :

(6.40 a) 
$$\theta_L(h) = P(T_L^+(h)|\mathscr{I}_L) - P(T_L^-(h)|\mathscr{I}_L).$$

Presumably, for finite L and h>0,  $\theta_L(h)$  is positive. One is interested in the limit

(6.40b) 
$$\theta(h) = \lim_{L \to \infty} \theta_L(h)$$

should such a limit exist. If  $\theta(h)$  is zero for every h, we are in the rough phase; otherwise, the interface is said to be rigid. Of secondary importance, one could consider the  $h\uparrow\infty$  limit of  $\theta(h)$ . It is natural to assume that if the interface is rigid,  $\theta(h)$  will tend to the percolation density.

We will examine the question of roughening in two dimensions from both perspectives. In particular, we will show:

**Theorem 6.4a.** For the two-dimensional bond percolation problem, whenever  $p > p_c$ , the vague  $L \rightarrow \infty$  limits of the  $\Lambda_L$  density-p Bernoulli measures conditioned on the event  $\mathcal{I}_L$  are the ordinary density-p Bernoulli measures.

and

### **Theorem 6.4b.** Under the conditions of Theorem 6.4a $\theta(h) = 0$ for all h.

The study of these interfacial problems is, for the most part, the analysis of the dual model. For the bond percolation model on  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  (or indeed for any two-dimensional percolation model), this amounts to the study of a two-dimensional *subcritical system* which contains a long path – a familiar topic in this paper.

Indeed, when a bond of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  is vacant, it is customary to represent this by the event that the corresponding bond of  $(\mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2})^2$  is occupied. On the square lattice, the event that the sites dual to x and y, x<sup>\*</sup> and y<sup>\*</sup>, are connected by a path of dual bonds will be denoted by  $\mathscr{J}_{x^*,y^*}^*$ . When boundary conditions are modified, we will denote the corresponding events by  $\mathscr{J}_{x^*,y^*}^*$ , etc. Also, we will use  $C^*(x^*)$  to denote the dual connected cluster of the point x<sup>\*</sup>.

Observe that  $\tau_{x^*,y^*}^*(p) \equiv P(\varphi_{x^*,y^*}^*)$  is precisely the ordinary connectivity,  $\tau_{x,y}$ , at density (1-p). This exact (self) duality, although somewhat helpful, is not essential to our arguments. It is worth noting that in d=2,  $p > p_c$  implies that the dual correlations decay exponentially [K]. Here we will use the symbol  $\xi \equiv \xi(1-p)$  to denote the rate of decay of the dual connectivities when the (direct) bond density is p. In addition, we will use various other symbols whose arguments, strictly speaking, should be (1-p).

Defining

(6.41) 
$$\Lambda_L^* = \{ \mathbf{x}^* \in (\mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2})^2 | \exists \mathbf{y} \in \Lambda_L \text{ such that } |\mathbf{x}^* - \mathbf{y}| = \frac{1}{2} \},$$

it is seen that the event  $\mathscr{I}_L$  is precisely the event that one of the (dual) connected clusters of  $(-(L+\frac{1}{2}), +\frac{1}{2})$  or  $(-(L+\frac{1}{2}), -\frac{1}{2})$  (restricted to  $\mathcal{A}_L^*$ ) contains one of the points  $(+(L+\frac{1}{2}), +\frac{1}{2})$  or  $(+(L+\frac{1}{2}), -\frac{1}{2})$ . In particular, this is essentially the event  $\widetilde{\mathscr{I}}_{(-L,0),(+L,0)}$ , about which we now have some detailed information.

In order to avoid further typographical and linguistical complications, we will "identify" the two nearby points  $((L+\frac{1}{2}), \pm\frac{1}{2})$  and similarly identify the pair  $(-(L+\frac{1}{2}), \pm\frac{1}{2})$ . Thus, for example, we will use  $C^*(((L+\frac{1}{2}), \pm\frac{1}{2}))$  as notation

for  $C^*(((L+\frac{1}{2}), +\frac{1}{2})) \cup C^*(((L+\frac{1}{2}), -\frac{1}{2}))$ , and  $g^*_{((L+\frac{1}{2}), \pm\frac{1}{2}), \mathbf{x}^*}$  as notation for the union of the events  $g^*_{((L+\frac{1}{2}), +\frac{1}{2}), \mathbf{x}^*}$  and  $g^*_{((L+\frac{1}{2}), -\frac{1}{2}), \mathbf{x}^*}$ . To prove Theorems 6.4a, b we will need the following:

**Lemma 6.5.** Let B,  $L \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ ,  $B \ll L$ , and consider the density-p Bernoulli measure on the configurations in  $\Lambda_L$ . Denote by  $\mathcal{E}_B$  the event that the dual cluster  $C^*(((-(L+\frac{1}{2}), \pm \frac{1}{2})))|_{A_L^*}$  enters the box  $\Lambda_B^*$ :

$$\mathscr{E}_{B} = \{ \omega \, | \, C^{*}(((-(L+\frac{1}{2}), \pm \frac{1}{2})) \|_{A_{L}^{*}} \cap A_{B}^{*} \neq \emptyset \}.$$

Then  $\forall p > p_c, \exists c(p) < \infty$  such that as  $L \to \infty$ 

$$P(\mathscr{E}_B|\mathscr{I}_L) \leq \frac{c(p) B}{\sqrt{L}}.$$

*Proof.* Assume  $B \ll L$  and suppose  $\omega \in \mathscr{E}_B \cap \mathscr{I}_L$ . Then there is a dual cluster spanning  $\Lambda_L^*$ , and this cluster intersects  $\Lambda_B^*$ . It must be the case that either:

(a) there is a point  $\mathbf{y}^* \in \partial A_{3B}^*$  such that the events

$$\mathscr{G}^{*}_{((-L-\frac{1}{2}),\pm\frac{1}{2}),\mathbf{y}^{*}}$$
 and  $\mathscr{G}^{*}_{((L+\frac{1}{2}),\pm\frac{1}{2}),\mathbf{y}^{*}}$ 

occur disjointly (and within  $\Lambda_L^*$ ); or

(b) there are points  $\mathbf{x}^* \in \Lambda_L^* \setminus \Lambda_{3B}^*$  and  $\mathbf{y}^* \in \Lambda_B^*$  such that the events

$$\mathscr{G}^{*}_{((-L-\frac{1}{2}),\pm\frac{1}{2}),\mathbf{x}^{*}}, \quad \mathscr{G}^{*}_{((L+\frac{1}{2}),\pm\frac{1}{2}),\mathbf{x}^{*}} \text{ and } \mathscr{G}^{*}_{\mathbf{x}^{*},\mathbf{y}^{*}}$$

occur disjointly (and, of course, within  $\Lambda_{L}^{*}$ ).

Note that the two cases above are not disjoint, but they do exhaust  $\mathscr{E}_B \cap \mathscr{I}_L$ . Roughly speaking, the first case accounts for those  $\omega$  in which the full interface intersects  $\partial A_{3B}^*$ , while the second accounts for those  $\omega$  in which the interface only sends out a branch which intersects  $\partial A_{3B}^*$ , as well as some  $\omega$  in which the full interface actually intersects  $\partial \Lambda_{3B}^*$ .

Let us estimate the probability of the first case. Using subadditivity, and the van den Berg-Kesten inequality (2.12), the probability of case (a) is bounded above by

(6.42) 
$$\sum_{\mathbf{y}^* \in \partial A_{3B}^*} \tau^*_{((-L-\frac{1}{2}), \pm \frac{1}{2}), \mathbf{y}^*} \tau^*_{\mathbf{y}^*, ((+L+\frac{1}{2}), \pm \frac{1}{2})}$$

We will now estimate (6.42) by means of the asymptotic formulas of Theorem 6.2. Indeed, letting  $y^* = (Y, y)$ , the two correlation functions in (6.42) may be bounded above by a constant times

(6.43) 
$$e^{-2L/\xi}e^{-y^2/\alpha(L-Y)}e^{-y^2/\alpha(L+Y)}\frac{1}{[L-Y]^{\frac{1}{2}}}\frac{1}{[L+Y]^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$

Since Y and |v| = O(B) are small compared with L, we may replace the denominators in ((6.43) by (const.) L and discard the Gaussian factors altogether. Then, using Theorem 6.2 to estimate  $P(\mathcal{I}_L)$ , the conditional probability can be bounded above by  $c_a/\sqrt{L}$  for each value of y. Since there are only of the order of B terms, case (a) has an upper bound of the stated form.

Fluctuations of percolation connectivities

Next we consider case (b), in which  $C^*(((L+\frac{1}{2}), \pm \frac{1}{2}))$  only visits  $\Lambda_B^*$  as a subsidiary operation. In these instances, the probability can be bounded above by

(6.44) 
$$\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{X}^* \in \mathcal{A}_L^* \setminus \mathcal{A}_{3B}^* \\ \mathbf{y}^* \in \partial \mathcal{A}_B}} \tau_{((-L - \frac{1}{2}), \pm \frac{1}{2}), \mathbf{x}^*}^* \tau_{\mathbf{x}^*, ((+L + \frac{1}{2}), \pm \frac{1}{2})}^* \tau_{\mathbf{x}^*, \mathbf{y}^*}^*.$$

We may of course bound  $\tau_{x^*,y^*}^*$  above by  $e^{-|x^*-y^*|/\xi}$ . However, here, it is worth noting that for each  $y^* \in A_B^*$ ,  $|y_i^*| \leq 2|x_i^*|$ , so we may degrade the inequality further:

$$\tau_{\mathbf{x}^*,\mathbf{y}^*} \leq e^{-|\mathbf{x}^*|/2\xi}.$$

Clearly, for  $|\mathbf{x}^*|$  large (say bigger than  $|\sqrt{L}\rangle$ ), this extra decay renders the contribution of such configurations negligible. For smaller values of  $|\mathbf{x}^*|$ , we may use the asymptotic formulas of Theorem 6.2 to obtain, for L sufficiently large,

(6.46) 
$$\tau_{((-L-\frac{1}{2}),\pm\frac{1}{2}),\mathbf{x}^{*}}^{*}\tau_{\mathbf{x}^{*},((+L+\frac{1}{2}),\pm\frac{1}{2})}^{*}\tau_{\mathbf{x}^{*},\mathbf{y}^{*}}^{*}} \\ \leq (\text{const}) \frac{e^{-x^{2}/\alpha(L+X)}}{[L+X]^{\frac{1}{2}}} \frac{e^{-x^{2}/\alpha(L-X)}}{[L-X]^{\frac{1}{2}}} e^{-2L/\xi} e^{-|\mathbf{x}^{*}|/2\xi}$$

where we have used the notation  $\mathbf{x}^* = (X, x)$ . Taking X out of the various denominators on the grounds that we are in the "small  $\mathbf{x}^*$  region," the resulting expression may be freely summed over all  $\mathbf{x}^*$  starting at  $|\mathbf{x}^*|=2B$ . Doing this for each  $\mathbf{y}^*$  in  $\Lambda_B^*$ , our upper bound on (6.44) is

$$(6.47) \qquad \qquad \frac{c_b e^{-2L/\xi}}{L} B e^{-B/\xi}$$

for some constant  $c_b$ . Dividing (6.47) by the known large-*L* behavior of  $P(\mathscr{I}_L)$ , we get a contribution which (for *B* large) is considerably smaller than that of case (a).  $\Box$ 

As an immediate corollary to the above Lemma, we have:

**Proof of Theorem 6.4a.** To estblish the vague convergence of  $P(-|\mathscr{J}_L)$  to Bernoulli measure at the appropriate density, it is sufficient to demonstrate that the probability of any local event (e.g., a cylinder event) converges to its Bernoulli value. To this end, let  $\mathscr{A}$  be any event which is determined by the configurations in  $A_B$ . Obviously,

$$(6.48) P(\mathscr{A} | [\mathscr{E}_B]^c \cap \mathscr{I}_L) = P(\mathscr{A})$$

where  $[-]^c$  denotes complementation. But then

$$(6.49) |P(\mathscr{A}|\mathscr{I}_{L}) - P(\mathscr{A})| = |(P(\mathscr{A}|[\mathscr{E}_{B}]^{c} \cap \mathscr{I}_{L}) - P(\mathscr{A})) P([\mathscr{E}_{B}]^{c}|\mathscr{I}_{L}) + P(\mathscr{A}|[\mathscr{E}_{B}] \cap \mathscr{I}_{L}) - P(\mathscr{A})) P([\mathscr{E}_{B}]|\mathscr{I}_{L})| = |(P(\mathscr{A}|[\mathscr{E}_{B}] \cap \mathscr{I}_{L}) - P(\mathscr{A})) P([\mathscr{E}_{B}]|\mathscr{I}_{L})| \leq P([\mathscr{E}_{B}]|\mathscr{I}_{L}) \leq \frac{cB}{\sqrt{L}} \rightarrow 0$$

and the desired result is established.  $\Box$ 

*Proof of Theorem 6.4b.* For  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ ,  $|\mathbf{x}| < L$ , denote by  $T_L^+(\mathbf{x})$  and  $T_L^-(\mathbf{x})$  the events described in (6.39a) and (6.39b) with **h** replaced by **x**. We will show that  $\forall \mathbf{x}$ ,

(6.50) 
$$\lim_{L \to \infty} P(T_L^+(\mathbf{x})|\mathscr{I}_L) = \lim_{L \to \infty} P(T_L^-(\mathbf{x})|\mathscr{I}_L) = \frac{1}{2} P_{\infty}(p),$$

from which one obtains  $\theta \equiv 0$ .

Let  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ ,  $|\mathbf{x}| < L$ . For L very large,  $P(T_L^+(\mathbf{x}) \cup T_L^-(\mathbf{x}))$  is essentially equal to  $P_{\infty}(p)$ . We denote the difference,  $P(T_L^+(\mathbf{x}) \cup T_L^-(\mathbf{x})) - P_{\infty}(p)$ , by  $\varepsilon_L(p; x)$  and note that for  $p > p_c$ ,  $\varepsilon_L$  is exponentially small in L. By the Harris-FKG inequality (2.10),

(6.51) 
$$P(T_L^+(\mathbf{x}) \cup T_L^-(\mathbf{x})|\mathscr{I}_L) \leq P_{\infty}(p) + \varepsilon_L(p; \mathbf{x}).$$

However, with the conditioning, the two events are disjoint, and thus, in the  $L\uparrow\infty$  limit, they cannot both have probability exceeding  $(\frac{1}{2}) P_{\infty}(p)$ . Therefore, to prove (6.50), it is sufficient to establish that for our (arbitrary) **x**,

(6.52) 
$$\lim_{L \to \infty} P(T_L^+(\mathbf{x})|\mathscr{I}_L) \geq \frac{1}{2} P_{\infty}(p).$$

To prove (6.52), let  $B \gg |\mathbf{x}|$  be a fixed but large integer, and assume that already  $L \gg B$ . We first assert that in  $\mathscr{I}_L$ , the event

(6.53)  $\Gamma_L = \{ \omega | C^*((-L - \frac{1}{2}, \pm \frac{1}{2})) \text{ is contained in the region } |x_2| < L^{2/3} \}$ 

almost always occurs. Indeed, by bound of Theorem 6.2 (II iii), we have

$$(6.54) P(\Gamma_L^c | \mathscr{I}_L) \leq e^{-O(L^{1/3})}.$$

Next, note that given an  $\omega \in \mathscr{I}_L \cap [\mathscr{E}_B]^c$ , there are (topologically speaking) only two possibilities: either the connected component of occupied bonds from  $(-L - \frac{1}{2}, \pm \frac{1}{2})$  to  $(L + \frac{1}{2}, \pm \frac{1}{2})$  lies above or it lies below  $\Lambda_B^*$ . We will denote these two possibilities be  $[\mathscr{E}_B]^{c+}$  and  $[\mathscr{E}_B]^{c-}$ , respectively. Observe that  $[\mathscr{E}_B]^{c+} \cap [\mathscr{E}_B]^{c-} \neq \emptyset$  (since both events contain configurations in which the interface surrounds  $\Lambda_B^*$ ), although, as will emerge later, this intersection is of small conditional probability. By symmetry,

$$(6.55) P([\mathscr{E}_B]^{c+} | \mathscr{I}_L) = P([\mathscr{E}_B]^{c-} | \mathscr{I}_L),$$

and by Lemma 6.5, these quantities tend to (at least)  $\frac{1}{2}$  as  $L \rightarrow \infty$ .

Since neither the event  $\Gamma_L$ , nor the event  $[\mathscr{E}_B]^c$  significantly restricts the configurations in  $\mathscr{I}_L$  as  $L \to \infty$ , to prove (6.52) it suffices to establish that e.g. in the configurations which lie in  $\mathscr{I}_L \cap [\mathscr{E}_B]^{c-} \cap \Gamma_L$ , the point **x** is connected to  $\partial \Lambda_L^+$  with conditional probability approximately equal to  $P_{\infty}(p)$ . Such a proof would also establish that  $P([\mathscr{E}_B]^{c+} \cap [\mathscr{E}_B]^{c-} | \mathscr{I}_L)$  is negligible.

To this end, let  $\Xi_{T,\lambda}^*$  denote the box which is the translate of  $\Lambda_T^*$  by  $(1+\lambda) T$  units in the  $x_2$ -direction. We take  $T \ge 2B$  and  $\lambda \ge \frac{1}{4}$ . Although L is large, we may take T as large as  $2L^{2/3}$ . Consider the event that the interface visits  $\Xi_{T,\lambda}^*$ :

(6.56) 
$$\mathscr{E}_{\Xi_{T,\lambda}} = \{ \omega \, | \, C^*((-L - \frac{1}{2}, \pm \frac{1}{2})) \|_{A_L^*} \cap \Xi_{T,\lambda}^* \neq \emptyset \}.$$

We will demonstrate that for B (and T) large, there is a constant  $c < \infty$  such that

$$(6.57) P(\mathscr{E}_{\mathbb{Z}_{T,2}}|\mathscr{I}_L \cap [\mathscr{E}_B]^{c^-}) \leq c T^3 e^{-T^{1/3}/\alpha}$$

as  $L \rightarrow \infty$ , where  $\alpha = \alpha(p)$  is the constant appearing in Theorem 6.2.

Let  $\omega \in \mathscr{I}_L \cap [\mathscr{C}_B]^{c^-}$ . Then there is point  $\mathbf{y}^* = (0^*, y)$  with  $y \leq -B$ , and two disjoint (dual) paths:

$$\mathscr{P}_1$$
: from  $(-L - \frac{1}{2}, \pm \frac{1}{2})$  to  $y^*$   
 $\mathscr{P}_2$ : from  $y^*$  to  $(L + \frac{1}{2}, \pm \frac{1}{2})$ .

Denote by  $\mathscr{D} \Xi^*_{T,\lambda}$  the set of dual sites a distance no more than  $(\frac{1}{8})$  T from  $\Xi^*_{T,\lambda}$ . In order for the event  $\mathscr{E}_{\Xi_{T,\lambda}}$  to occur, it is clear that either:

- (a) at least one of the paths,  $\mathscr{P}_1$  or  $\mathscr{P}_2$ , enters the region  $\mathscr{D}\Xi^*_{T,\lambda}$ ; or
- (b) some point in  $\Xi_{T,\lambda}^*$  is connected to  $\partial \mathscr{D} \Xi_{T,\lambda}^*$  by a path which (necessarily) takes place in the complement of  $\mathscr{P}_1 \cup \mathscr{P}_2$ .

These cases are not disjoint, but do exhaust  $\mathscr{I}_L \cap [\mathscr{E}_B]^c$ . As in the proof of Lemma 6.5, case (a) roughly accounts for those configurations in which the "full" interface enters  $\mathscr{D} \Xi^*_{T,\lambda}$ , while case (b) also takes into account those configurations in which the interface only sends out a branch which intersects  $\mathscr{D} \Xi^*_{T,\lambda}$ .

Case (b) has probability smaller than (const.)  $T^4 e^{-T/\xi} P(\mathscr{I}_L)$ , and hence, in the large-*L* limit, has conditional probability generously bounded by the estimate in (6.57) for *T* sufficiently large.

Let us now bound the probability of case (a). We assume, for the sake of argument, that it is  $\mathscr{P}_2$  which visits  $\mathscr{D} \mathscr{Z}_{T,\lambda}^*$ , and we denote by  $\mathbf{v}^* = (V, v)$ a generic point in  $\mathscr{P}_2 \cap \mathscr{D} \mathscr{Z}_{T,\lambda}^*$ . We may, in fact, assume that the path  $\mathscr{P}_2$  starts at  $\mathbf{y}^*$ , then goes to  $\mathbf{v}^*$  and then on to  $(L + \frac{1}{2}, \pm \frac{1}{2})$  (otherwise, by relabelling, we could identify the path which visits  $\mathscr{D} \mathscr{Z}_{T,\lambda}^*$  as  $\mathscr{P}_1$ ). For each  $\mathbf{y}^*$  and  $\mathbf{v}^*$ , we may bound the contribution by

(6.58) 
$$\tau^*_{((-L-\frac{1}{2}), \pm\frac{1}{2}), \mathbf{y}^*} \tau^*_{\mathbf{y}^*, \mathbf{v}^*} \tau^*_{\mathbf{v}^*, ((+L+\frac{1}{2}), \pm\frac{1}{2})}.$$

To obtain our estimate, we will sum (6.58) over all y < 0 and all  $\mathbf{v}^* \in \mathcal{D} \Xi^*_{T,\lambda}$ . First observe that the contribution from term with |y| > 2T is of the same form as the contribution in case (b). Indeed, if |y| > 2T, we can use the crude bounds  $\tau^*_{\mathbf{v}^*,((+L+\frac{1}{2}),\pm\frac{1}{2})} \leq 2e^{-(L-2T)/\xi}$ ,  $\tau_{\mathbf{y}^*,\mathbf{v}^*} \leq e^{-[(1/8)T+|y|]/\xi}$  and then sum (6.58) freely over  $|y| \geq 2T$  (which, of course, "pins" the factor  $\tau^*_{((-L-\frac{1}{2}),\pm\frac{1}{2}),\mathbf{y}^*}$  near its value when |y|=2T). This yields a contribution which is exponentially small in T, and thus clearly smaller than the bound in (6.57).

Evidently, the principal contribution comes from case (a) and |y| < 2T. In this case, we use the bounds

(6.59) 
$$\tau^*_{((-L-\frac{1}{2}), \pm \frac{1}{2}), \mathbf{y}^*} \leq \frac{\text{const}}{\sqrt{L}} e^{-L/\xi}$$

from Theorem 6.2 (II ii), and

(6.60) 
$$\tau^*_{\mathbf{v}^*,((+L+\frac{1}{2}),\pm\frac{1}{2})} \leq e^{-(L-V)/\xi}$$



Fig. 7. Arrangement of the boxes  $\Xi^{[k]}$ 

In (6.60), we have neglected some possible additional aid from power law corrections. Now when V < (1/16) T, we may use the estimate  $\tau_{y^*,v^*} \leq e^{-(1/8)T/\xi}$ , and the conditional result is again exponentially small in T. Finally, assuming that  $V \geq (1/16) T$  (and assuming that T is large enough to satisfy  $T^{2/3} \leq (1/16) T$ ), we may use property (II iii) of Theorem 6.2 to bound  $\tau_{y^*,v^*}$ . Multiplying the result by the number of such terms, we obtain the stated estimate (6.57).

We will now use the estimate (6.57) to show that, with probability close to  $\frac{1}{2}$ , there is a large region which the interface does not enter. To this end, consider the sequence of boxes,  $(\Xi^{[k]})$ , which are translated of  $\Lambda_{2^{k}B}$  stacked one on top of the next as shown in Fig. 7. Each such box (or, more precisely, the \* of each such box) satisfies the criterion to be a  $\Xi^*_{T,\lambda}$ . Thus, using the bound (6.57), the conditional probability of the interface "entering"  $\Xi^{[k]}$  – an event denoted by  $\mathscr{E}_{\Xi^{[k]}}$  – may be bounded above by

$$(6.61) P(\mathscr{E}_{\mathbb{Z}^{[k]}}|\mathscr{I}_L \cap [\mathscr{E}_B]^{c-}) \leq (\operatorname{const})(2^k B)^3 \exp(-\alpha^{-1} [2^k B]^{1/3}).$$

We may estimate the conditional probability of  $\bigcup_{k=1}^{N} \mathscr{E}_{\mathcal{B}^{[k]}}$ , where N is the smallest

integer satisfying  $2^N B > L^{2/3}$ , by summing (6.61) over k. The result is exponentially small in a power of B. Beyond  $\Xi^{[N]}$ , we are in a region of safety: here we may use the event  $\Gamma_L$  to ensure that the interface does not interfere with any of the larger  $\Xi^{[k]}$ 's (in  $\Lambda_L$ ). Thus, given the event  $\mathscr{I}_L$ , with probability larger than

(6.62) 
$$\frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \frac{c'B}{\sqrt{L}} - c''(B) \right)$$



with c''(B) tending rapidly to zero with B, the interface fails to enter any of the regions  $\Xi^{[k]}$ ,  $k=0, \ldots, M$ , where M is the smallest integer such that  $2^M B \ge L$  and

$$(6.63) \qquad \qquad \Xi^{[0]} \equiv A_B.$$

Thus we have shown that a component of the distribution of configurations inside the region  $\bigcup_{k=0}^{M} \Xi^{[k]}$  is the usual Bernoulli measure; furthermore the weight of this component is very close to  $\frac{1}{2}$ .

Our final job is to show that, given this lack of interference, the point **x** is connected to  $\partial A_L^+$  (by a path inside  $\bigcup_{k=0}^M \Xi^{[k]}$ ) with probability close to  $P_{\infty}(p)$ . In fact, such arguments are by now quite standard (see, e.g., [C; CC3; CC4; CCD]). First, note that **x** is connected to  $\partial \Xi^{[0]}$  by a path of occupied bonds with probability exceeding  $P_{\infty}(p)$ . Next, consider the event  $W_k$  that (see Fig. 8):

(1) the four  $B2^{k+1} \times B2^{k-1}$  rectangles inside the boundary of  $\Xi^{[k]}$  are crossed – the long way – by paths of occupied bonds, and

(2) there is a path of occupied bonds crossing (upward) the  $B2^{k+2} \times B2^{k+1}$  rectangle whose bottom half is  $\Xi^{[k]}$ .

It is not hard to show that

(6.64) 
$$P(W_k) \ge 1 - (\text{const.}) 2^k B^2 e^{-2^k B/\xi}.$$

Thus, by the Harris-FKG inequality (or subadditivity)

$$P\left(\bigcap_{k=0}^{M} W_{k}\right) \geq 1 - e^{-O(B)}.$$

It is clear that (once B is large enough), if x is connected to  $\partial \Xi^{[0]}$ , and if all the events  $W_k$  occur, then x is connected to  $\partial \Lambda_L^+$ .

Thus, given  $[\mathscr{E}_B]^{c-}$ , we have demonstrated that  $P(T_L^+(h))$  can be made arbitrarily close to  $P_{\infty}(p)$  by taking B (and hence L) large. It then follows from Eqs. (6.62), (6.65) and (6.49) that  $\forall h, \theta(h) = 0$ .  $\Box$ 

## Appendix

Here we prove Proposition 3.4, restated below for convenience.

**Proposition 3.4.** Let  $\mathbb{C}_L(p)$  and  $\mathbb{K}_L(p)$  be defined as in Eqs. (3.25) and (3.38), and let  $\xi(p)$  and  $\xi_c(p)$  be the decay rates of  $\tau_{0,L}(p)$  and  $\mathbb{C}_L(p)$  as given by Eq. (1.2) and Proposition 3.2. Then for every  $p \in (0, p_c)$ , either  $\xi_c(p) = \xi_k(p) = \frac{1}{2}\xi(p)$  or  $\exists D(p) < \infty$  such that uniformly in L,

$$\mathbb{K}_L(p) \leq D(p) \mathbb{C}_L(p).$$

As a first step in establishing Proposition 3.4, we will prove the following weaker statement (which is given as the corollary to the Proposition 3.4 in Sect. 3):

**Proposition A 1.** Let  $\xi_c(p)$  and  $\xi_k(p)$  be defined as in Propositions 3.2 and 3.3. Then for every  $p \in (0, p_c), \xi_k(p) = \xi_c(p)$ .

Proof. Consider the "tunnel" region

(A.1) 
$$\mathbf{T} = \mathbb{Z} \times [-\mathbf{T}, -\mathbf{T}+1, ..., +\mathbf{T}]^{d-1},$$

and its intersection with the slab S(L) (cf. Eq. (2.3)):

$$\mathbf{T}(L) = \mathbf{S}(L) \cap \mathbf{T}.$$

Let us define tunnel direct connectivity events,  $c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^T$  and  $\ell_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^T$ , in which the required connections occur via paths of occupied bonds with both endpoints in **T**. For  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0) \cap \mathbf{T}$ ,  $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L) \cap \mathbf{T}$ ,  $L \ge 1$ , we have

(A. 3) 
$$c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{T} = \{ \boldsymbol{\omega} | \mathbf{y} \in C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{T}(L)}, C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{T}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(0) = \{ \mathbf{x} \}, \\ C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{T}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(L) = \{ \mathbf{y} \}, |C(\mathbf{x})\|_{\mathbf{T}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(j)| \ge 2 \forall 1 \le j \le L - 1 \}$$
(A. 4) 
$$\ell_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{T} = \{ \boldsymbol{\omega} | \mathbf{y} \in C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{T}}, |C(\mathbf{x})\|_{\mathbf{T}} \cap \mathbf{P}(j)| \ge 2 \forall 1 \le j \le L - 1 \},$$

and the corresponding connectivity functions are

(A. 5) 
$$c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{T}(p) = P(c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{T})$$

(A. 6) 
$$k_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{T}(p) = P(\boldsymbol{k}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{T})$$

As usual, we will denote the on-axis connectivity functions between the origin and (L, 0, ..., 0) by  $c_{0,L}^T$  and  $k_{0,L}^T$ .

It is straightforward to show that  $\xi_c^T(p)$  and  $\xi_k^T(p)$ , defined by the limits of  $L^{-1} \log c_{0,L}^T$  and  $L^{-1} \log k_{0,L}^T$ , exist (see, e.g., the proof of Proposition 3.3).

Furthermore, the functions  $k_{0,L}^T$  are monotone increasing in T, from which it easily follows that, as  $T \rightarrow \infty$ ,

(A. 7) 
$$\xi_k^T(p) \uparrow \xi_k(p),$$

where  $\xi_k(p)$  is the correlation length of  $\mathbb{K}_L$  as defined in Proposition 3.3. Unfortunately, the quantities  $c_{0,L}^T$  do not necessarily have this monotone property since some of the contributing events are negative – specifically, paths which occur outside the tunnel could connect other points of  $\mathbf{P}(0)$  or  $\mathbf{P}(L)$  to  $C(0)||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$ .

We claim that  $\forall T$ 

(A. 8) 
$$\xi_k^T(p) = \xi_c^T(p).$$

First, we clearly have  $\mathscr{K}_{0,L}^T \supset c_{0,L}^T$ , which implies  $\xi_k^T(p) \ge \xi_c^T(p)$ . To obtain the opposite inequality, let  $\mathbf{A}(j)$  denote the set of all "horizontal" bonds between the points with  $x_1 = j$  and points with  $x_1 = j + 1$ , and let  $\mathbf{B}(j)$  denote the set of all "vertical" bonds in the plane  $\mathbf{P}(j)$ . Then by vacating all bonds in  $(\mathbf{A}(0) \cup \mathbf{B}(0)) \cap \mathbf{T}$  and  $(\mathbf{A}(L-1) \cup \mathbf{B}(L)) \cap \mathbf{T}$ , and occupying the all bonds in  $\mathbf{B}(1) \cap \mathbf{T}$  and  $\mathbf{B}(L-1) \cap \mathbf{T}$ , in addition to occupying the two (possibly just vacated) bonds between the points  $x_1 = 0$  and  $x_1 = (1, 0, ..., 0)$ , and  $x_1 = (L-1, 0, ..., 0)$  and  $x_1 = (L, 0, ..., 0)$ , we can "transform" an  $\omega \in \mathscr{K}_{0,L}^T$  into an  $\omega \in c_{0,L}^T$ . Although this is expensive, the price is uniform in L, i.e.

(A. 9) 
$$c_{0,L}^T \ge \Phi(T) k_{0,L}^T$$

which  $\Phi(T) = e^{-O(T^{d-1})}$ . This establishes (A. 8).

Next, consider the event  $f_{\mathbf{P}(i),\mathbf{T}}$  defined by

(A.10) 
$$f_{\mathbf{P}(j),\mathbf{T}} = \{\omega | \text{the region } \mathbf{P}(j) \setminus \mathbf{T} \text{ is not connected to the region } \mathbf{T}$$
 by a path of occupied bonds $\}.$ 

We claim that whenever  $p < p_c$ ,  $f(T) \equiv P(f_{\mathbf{P}(j),\mathbf{T}}) > 0$ . Indeed, by translation invariance

(A.11) 
$$\chi = \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0) \\ \mathbf{y} : y_2, \dots, y_d = 0}} \tau_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}}.$$

Thus the expected number of connections between  $P(j) \setminus T$  and T is given by

(A.12) 
$$\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x}\in\mathbf{P}(0)\\\mathbf{y}\in\mathbf{T}}}\tau_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}\leq (2T)^{d-2}\chi<\infty.$$

By the Bortel-Cantelli lemma, with probability one, only a finite number of the  $\mathcal{J}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}$  events contributing to the sum in (A.12) occur. Using FKG properties of the Bernoulli measure, it is readily established that, with positive probability, *none* of these events occur, i.e. f(T) > 0.

Finally, it should be observed that the intersection of  $f_{\mathbf{P}(0),\mathbf{T}}$ ,  $f_{\mathbf{P}(L),\mathbf{T}}$  and  $c_{0,L}^{T}$  is contained in the event  $c_{0,L}$ . Thus

(A.13) 
$$c_{0,L} \ge P(\not P_{\mathbf{P}(0),\mathbf{T}} \cap \not P_{\mathbf{P}(L),\mathbf{T}} \cap c_{0,L}^{T}) = P(\not P_{\mathbf{P}(0),\mathbf{T}} \cap \not P_{\mathbf{P}(L),\mathbf{T}}) c_{0,L}^{T})$$
$$\ge f^{2}(T) c_{0,L}^{T},$$

where in the last step we have used the Harris-FKG inequality (2.10). Taking logs, dividing by L and letting  $L \to \infty$ , (A.8), (A.12) and (A.13) imply  $\xi_c \ge \xi_k^T \forall T$ . However  $\xi_c \le \xi_k = \lim_{T \to \infty} \xi_k^T$ , so the correlation lengths agree.  $\Box$  We divide the remainder of the proof into two stages, first imposing cylinder and then strict cylinder conditions on the k-type (free) direct correlation functions. For this, we will have to introduce two other direct correlation functions, both of which are defined in the cylinder.

**Definition A1.** For  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{P}(0)$ ,  $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)$ ,  $L \ge 1$ , the non-strict direct connectivity functions are defined by

$$(\mathbf{A}.14\mathbf{a}) \qquad c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{**} = \{ \omega | \mathbf{y} \in C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}, |C(\mathbf{x})\|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(j)| \ge 2 \forall 1 \le j \le L-1 \},\$$

(A.14b) 
$$c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{**}(p) = P(c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{**}),$$

with the convention  $c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{**}(p) = 0$  for L = 0; and

(A.15) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{L}^{**}(p) = \sum_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)} c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{**}(p).$$

The connections contributing to  $\mathbb{C}_{L}^{**}$  are required to take place in the cylinder, but not to respect the strict cylinder condition; thus the relationship between  $\mathbb{C}_{L}^{**}$  and  $\mathbb{C}_{L}$  is analogous to that between  $\mathbb{H}_{L}$  and  $\mathbb{H}_{L}$  (cf. Eq. (3.10)). Halfway between  $\mathbb{C}_{L}$  and  $\mathbb{C}_{L}^{**}$ , we have:

**Definition A 2.** For x,  $y \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{P}(0)$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{P}(L)$ ,  $L \ge 1$ , the half-strict direct connetivity functions are defined by

(A.16a) 
$$c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^* = \{ \omega | \mathbf{y} \in C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}, C(\mathbf{x}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(0) = \{ \mathbf{x} \}, \\ |C(\mathbf{x})\|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(j) | \ge 2 \forall 1 \le j \le L - 1 \},$$

(A.16b) 
$$c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^*(p) = P(c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^*),$$

again with the convention  $c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^*(p) = 0$  for L = 0; and

(A.17) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{L}^{*}(p) = \sum_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(L)} c_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}^{*}(p).$$

Remark. Since

(A.18) 
$$\mathbb{K}_L \ge \mathbb{C}_L^* \ge \mathbb{C}_L^* \ge \mathbb{C}_L$$

if follows from Proposition A1 that sharp decay rates exist for both  $\mathbb{C}_{L}^{**}(p)$  and  $\mathbb{C}_{L}^{*}(p)$ , and that these decay rates are equal to  $\xi_{c}(p)$ .

Finally, we will also need:

**Definition A 3.** For x, y,  $z \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ , the three-point connectivity event is

(A.19) 
$$q_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y},\mathbf{z}} = \{ \omega | \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z} \in C(\mathbf{x}) \}.$$

In much of what follows, we will make extensive use of the tree-diagram decomposition techniques introduced in [AN]. The general strategy will be to pick an  $\omega$  purported to satisfy certain conditions, and then to demonstrate that  $\omega$  satisfies various *other* conditions. This is often exhibited by implementing "local growing rules," by which we mean the following: The full configuration,  $\omega$ , will be regarded as a fixed, deterministic object. Then various subsets of  $\omega$ , e.g.,  $C(0, \omega)$ , may be grown in a sequence of time steps: One may start at t=0 with  $\{0\}$ . By checking, according to some set of local rules, whether or not some bond on the boundary of the current cluster is actually occupied or vacant, one obtains the cluster at time t=n+1 from the cluster at time t=n. The only potential hold-up in such a procedure – which in any case can



Fig. A 1. Configurations in  $\mathscr{K}^{(j)}_{0,(L,a)}$  corresponding to cases (a), (b), (c) and (d)

be circumvented – is the possibility that various stages in a proof could (deterministically) take an infinite amount of time. Such situations will have Bernoulli probability zero (since we are always below threshold), and we will be content with w.p.1 statements. For more details on these methods, see [AN].

In the following lemma, we impose non-strict cylinder conditions on the free direct connectivity.

Lemma A 2. Let 
$$L > 1$$
. Then  $\forall p \in (0, p_c), \exists D_1(p), D_2(p) < \infty$  such that  
 $\mathbb{K}_L \leq D_1 \mathbb{C}_L^{**} + D_2 \sum_{0 \leq N < P \leq L} \mathbb{C}_{P-N}^{*} e^{-2[L-(P-N)]/\xi}.$ 

**Proof.** Let  $\omega \in \mathscr{K}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ . We consider two situations which we denote by case (1) and case (2), respectively. Case (1) consists of those configurations in  $\mathscr{K}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$  for which, in C(0), the  $c^{**}$  event happens somewhere:

(A.20) 
$$\mathscr{k}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{(0)} = \{ \omega \in \mathscr{k}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})} | \exists \mathbf{y} \in C(0) \cap \mathbf{P}(0), \mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{P}(L) \text{ such that } \omega \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{y},\mathbf{u}}^{**} \}.$$

Case O is the event that no such pair  $\{y, u\}$  exists.

We claim that under the circumstances which define case (1), the following stronger statement is true: There are points,  $\mathbf{r} \in \mathbf{P}(0)$  and  $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbf{P}(L)$ , both in C(0), such that the event  $c_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}}^{**}$  occurs; and (disjointly from  $c_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}}^{**}$  unless otherwise noted) one of the following events occurs (see Fig. A. 1):

- (a) there are two disjoint paths, one from 0 to r and one from (L, a) to s: explicitly, ω∈c<sup>\*\*</sup><sub>r,s</sub> ∘ 𝒢<sub>0,r</sub> ∘ 𝒢<sub>(L,a),s</sub>;
  (b) 0, (L, a) and s belong to the same connected cluster:
- (b) 0,  $(L, \mathbf{a})$  and  $\mathbf{s}$  belong to the same connected cluster: explicitly,  $\omega \in c_{\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}}^{**} \circ \mathscr{G}_{0, (L, \mathbf{a}), \mathbf{s}}$ ;
- (b) 0, (L, a) and r belong to the same connected cluster: explicitly, ω∈c<sup>\*\*</sup><sub>r,s</sub> ∘ g<sub>0,(L,a),r</sub>;
- (c) 0 is connected to s, and there is some s' ≠ s, s' ∈ P(L) such that (not necessarily disjointly from c<sup>\*\*</sup><sub>r,s'</sub>) ω∈ c<sup>\*\*</sup><sub>r,s'</sub>, and (L, a) is disjointly connected to s': explicitly, ∃s'∈ P(L) such that ω∈(c<sup>\*\*</sup><sub>r,s'</sub> ∩ c<sup>\*\*</sup><sub>r,s</sub>) ∘ 𝒢<sub>0,s</sub> ∘ 𝒢<sub>(L,a),s'</sub>;
- (c') same as (c) but with sides reversed: explicitly,  $\exists \mathbf{r}' \in \mathbf{P}(0)$  such that  $\omega \in (c_{\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{s}}^{**} \cap c_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}}^{**}) \circ \mathscr{G}_{(L,\mathbf{a}),\mathbf{r}} \circ \mathscr{G}_{0,\mathbf{r}'};$
- (d) there are two disjoint paths, one from 0 to s and one from (L, a) to r; explicitly, ω∈ c<sup>\*\*</sup><sub>r,s</sub> ∘ g<sub>0,s</sub> ∘ g<sub>(L,a),r</sub>.

It should be remarked that the above events are not necessarily disjoint; however, anything except (a) is absurdly improbable – these events have been listed, roughly, in decreasing order of likelihood.

To show that (a)-(d) exhaust all possibilities, suppose that  $\mathbf{y} \in C(0)$  is in the plane  $\mathbf{P}(0)$ ,  $\mathbf{u} \in C(0)$  is in the plane  $\mathbf{P}(L)$ , and the configuration  $\omega$  satisfies  $\omega \in c_{\mathbf{y},\mathbf{u}}^{**}$ . With suitable interpretations of various sentences, there is no need to assume that  $\mathbf{y} \neq 0$  and  $\mathbf{u} \neq (L, \mathbf{a})$ ; however, in what follows, it pays to think of these points as distinct – and to refer to Fig. A1. Denote by  $\mathbf{y}_1, \mathbf{y}_2, \ldots$ , the points of  $\mathbf{P}(0)$  which belong to  $C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  and by  $\mathbf{u}_1, \mathbf{u}_2, \ldots$ , the points of  $\mathbf{P}(L)$  which belong to  $C(\mathbf{u}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$ . It is worth observing that  $C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} = C(\mathbf{u}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$ , and that in fact  $\forall i, j$ 

(A.21) 
$$C(\mathbf{y}_i) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} = C(\mathbf{u}_i) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$$

and

$$(A.22) \qquad \qquad \omega \in c_{\mathbf{y}_i, \mathbf{u}_j}^{**}.$$

Now if  $\mathbf{x} \in C(0)$ , then either  $\mathbf{x}$  belongs to  $C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  or there must be a path between  $\mathbf{x}$  and one of the  $\mathbf{y}_i, \mathbf{u}_j$  which takes place in the complement of  $C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$ ; indeed, if we grow the connected cluster of any  $\mathbf{x} \in C(\mathbf{y}) \setminus C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$ , the only mechanism that the growing cluster has to reach  $C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  is through one of the points  $\mathbf{y}_i, \mathbf{u}_j$ .

Let us start growing the clusters of 0 and  $(L, \mathbf{a})$  – in the complement of  $C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$ . The most reasonable possibility is that the growing cluster of the origin hits one of the  $\mathbf{y}_i(\equiv \mathbf{r})$ , while the cluster of  $(L, \mathbf{a})$  finds one of the  $\mathbf{u}_j(\equiv \mathbf{s})$ . This implies possibility (a). On the other hand, before both of these events occur, it could be the case that the growing clusters meet. This would (sooner or later) imply possibility (b) or (b'). Finally, and least plausible of all, is the situation in which the two "easy way" events do not both happen and the growing clusters never meet. This means that one or both of the growing clusters joins with  $C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  via the wrong entrance. If one of the "easy way" events occurs, we get (c) or (c'), while if neither occurs, we get (d).

Using subadditivity and the van den Berg-Kesten inequality (2.12), the total contribution from these configurations is bounded by

(A.23 a) 
$$\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{r}\in\mathbf{P}(0)\\\mathbf{s}\in\mathbf{P}(L)}} \tau_{0,\mathbf{r}} \tau_{(L,\mathbf{a}),\mathbf{s}} c_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}}^{**}$$

Fluctuations of percolation connectivities

from situation (a),

(A.23 b) 
$$\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{r}\in \mathbf{P}(0)\\\mathbf{s}\in \mathbf{P}(L)\\\mathbf{x}\in \mathbb{Z}^d}} \tau_{0,\mathbf{x}} \tau_{(L,\mathbf{a}),\mathbf{x}} \tau_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{r}} c_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}}^{**}$$

from situation (b), with something similar from (b'),

(A.23c) 
$$\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{r}\in\mathbf{P}(0)\\\mathbf{s}\in\mathbf{P}(L),\,\mathbf{s}'\in\mathbf{P}(L)}} \tau_{0,\mathbf{s}}\,\tau_{(L,\mathbf{a}),\mathbf{s}'}\,P(c_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}'}^{**}\cap c_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}}^{**})$$

from situation (c), with something similar from (c'), and

(A.23d) 
$$\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{r}\in\mathbf{P}(0)\\\mathbf{s}\in\mathbf{P}(L)}}\tau_{0,\mathbf{s}}\,\tau_{(L,\mathbf{a}),\mathbf{r}}\,c_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}}^{**}$$

from situation (d).

Summing (A.23 a) first over **a**, then **s** and **r**, yields a net contribution of (const)  $\mathbb{C}_{L}^{**}$ . The later (A.23) equations, under similar summation procedures, all produce  $\mathbb{C}_{L}^{**} e^{-O(L)}$ , and thus may be dismissed entirely. Equation (A.23 c) must be broken into  $|\mathbf{s}-\mathbf{s}'| < (\text{const}) L$  and  $|\mathbf{s}-\mathbf{s}'| > (\text{const}) L$ ). We have thus derived

(A.24) 
$$\mathbb{K}_{L}^{\textcircled{0}} \leq D_{1} \mathbb{C}_{L}^{**},$$

where we have used the notation

(A.25) 
$$\mathbb{K}_{L}^{\textcircled{0}} \equiv \sum_{\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \mathscr{K}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{\textcircled{0}}.$$

We now turn to the analysis of case (2). Thus take  $\omega \in \mathscr{K}_{0,(L,a)}^{(2)}$ . Pick any y in P(0) that is in the connected cluster of the origin, and such that  $C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  contains an occupied path to P(L). Let  $\mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{P}(L)$  denote a point in  $C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$ . Denote by  $\mathbf{z}_1, \mathbf{z}_2, \ldots$ , those points in P(0) that are attached to the origin but do not belong to  $C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$ , and by  $\mathbf{v}_1, \mathbf{v}_2, \ldots$ , those points in P(L)  $\cap C(0) \setminus C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$ . The hypothesis of case (2) demands that  $C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  does not produce the event  $c_{\mathbf{y},\mathbf{u}}^*$ , evidently,

(i)  $\exists M, 1 \leq M \leq L-1$ , such that  $C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(M)$  contains only a single point. To compensate for this deficiency, it must also be the case that:

(ii) the set of z's and/or the set of v's is not empty.

We denote by  $N_1 \leq N_2 \leq \dots \leq N_k$  the distances satisfying (i), that is

(A.26) 
$$|C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(N_i)| = 1 \text{ with } 1 \leq N_i \leq L - 1,$$

and by the vectors  $\mathbf{b}_1, \mathbf{b}_2, \dots, \mathbf{b}_k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  the other coordinates of the intersection of  $C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  with these planes. Observe that in the region  $\mathbf{S}(N_1), C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  contains a realization of the event  $c^*_{\mathbf{y}, (N_1, \mathbf{b}_1)}$ ,<sup>3</sup> while similarly, in the region  $N_k \leq x_1$  $\leq L, C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  contains a realization of  $c^*_{(N_k, \mathbf{b}_k), \mathbf{u}}$ . In general, when  $k \geq 2$ , we have a realization of the event  $c^*_{(N_1, \mathbf{b}_1), (N_{j+1}, \mathbf{b}_{j+1})}$  for each j < k.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> More precisely, in the region  $S(N_1)$ , we have a realization of the mirror image of the event  $e_{N_1,b_1,y}^*$ . Of course, by symmetry, these have the same probability, which is the only issue of importance here

Let  $\Re(z)$  denote the maximum extent, in the  $x_1$ -direction, of the z-clusters:

(A.27 a) 
$$\Re(z) = \max\{x_1 | \mathbf{x} \in C(\mathbf{z}_i) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}, i = 1, 2, \ldots\}.$$

Similarly, define

(A.27b) 
$$\Re(v) = \min\{x_1 | \mathbf{x} \in C(\mathbf{v}_i) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}, i = 1, 2, ...\}.$$

In cases when  $\Re(z) < \Re(v)$ , the various pieces of C(0) are forced to cooperate in order to produce the event  $\mathscr{K}_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}$ . In particular, let N be defined by

(A.28 a)  $N = \max\{N_0, N_1, N_2, \dots, N_{k+1} | N_i \leq \Re(z)\}$ 

and

(A.28b) 
$$P = \min\{N_0, N_1, \dots, N_{k+1} | N_i \ge \Re(v)\},\$$

where  $N_0 \equiv 0$  and  $N_{k+1} \equiv L$ . It is seen that if  $N = N_i$ , then P must equal  $N_{i+1}$ . On the other hand, if it happens that  $\Re(z) \ge \Re(v)$ , we may either deal with the case separately (which in light of what follows is inadvisable), or pick, by fiat, any N and P, N < P, satisfying  $N \le \Re(z)$  and  $P \ge \Re(v)$ . Let us summarize the situation as it now stands:

In the region to the left of  $\mathbf{P}(N)$ ,

- (1)  $\exists \mathbf{y} \in \mathbf{P}(0)$  and  $(N, \mathbf{b}) \in \mathbf{P}(N)$  such that  $C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  contains  $(N, \mathbf{b})$
- (2)  $\exists z \in \mathbf{P}(0)$  and  $(N, \mathbf{b}') \in \mathbf{P}(N)$  such that  $C(z) \parallel_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  contains  $(N, \mathbf{b}')$

(3)  $C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap C(\mathbf{z}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} = \emptyset.$ 

In the region to the right of P(P), we have the analogs of (1)–(3):

- (1')  $\exists \mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{P}(L)$  and  $(N, \mathbf{c}) \in \mathbf{P}(N)$  such that  $C(\mathbf{u}) \parallel_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  contains  $(N, \mathbf{c})$
- (2')  $\exists \mathbf{v} \in \mathbf{P}(L)$  and  $(N, \mathbf{c}') \in \mathbf{P}(N)$  such that  $C(\mathbf{v}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  contains  $(N, \mathbf{c}')$
- (3')  $C(\mathbf{u}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap C(\mathbf{v}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} = \emptyset.$

In between the planes, we have a realization of the event  $c^*_{(N,\mathbf{b}),(P,\mathbf{c})}$ . We claim that, in fact, a slightly stronger statement is true:

(4) y and z as described in (1)-(3) can be chosen in such a way that

(A.29 a) 
$$C(\mathbf{y}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(N)} \subset C(0) \|_{\mathbf{H}(N)}$$

and

(A.29b) 
$$C(\mathbf{z}) \|_{\mathbf{S}(N)} \subset C(0) \|_{\mathbf{H}(N)},$$

with an analogous (4') statement.

Equation (A.29a) is obvious: Indeed, no point in  $\mathbf{P}(0)$ , including the origin, can give rise to an occupied path intersection  $C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  in the region  $x_1 \ge N$  without passing through the point  $(N, \mathbf{b})$ . Thus  $C(\mathbf{y})||_{\mathbf{S}(N)} \subset C(0)||_{\mathbf{H}(N)}$ . Equation (A.29b) may not necessarily hold for all of the  $\mathbf{z}_i$ . However, were it the case that for some chosen  $\mathbf{z}$ , all paths from 0 to  $C(\mathbf{z})||_{\mathbf{S}(N)}$  entered the region  $x_1 \ge N$  before intersecting  $C(\mathbf{z})||_{\mathbf{S}(N)}$ , then along any of these paths there must be another  $\mathbf{z}_i \neq \mathbf{z}$  satisfying (2)–(4).



Fig. A 2. Pieces of configurations in  $\ell_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{\otimes}$  corresponding to cases  $\mathbf{a}$  ( $\alpha$ ) and  $\mathbf{b}$  ( $\beta$ )

We claim that (1)-(4) imply only a few essentially equivalent possibilities (see Fig. A2):

- (α) there is some point x\*∈H(N), and points y\*, z\*∈S(N) such that the following collection of mutually disjoint paths occur in H(N):
  (a) 0 to x\*, (b) x\* to y\*, (c) x\* to z\*, (d) (N, b') to z\*,
  (e) z\* to z, (f) y\* to y, (g) (N, b) to y\*;
- ( $\beta$ ) there are points  $\tilde{\mathbf{y}}, \mathbf{z}^* \in \mathbf{S}(N)$  such that the following collection of mutually disjoint paths occur in  $\mathbf{H}(N)$ :

(a) 0 to ỹ,
(b) ỹ to z\*,
(c) ỹ to (N, b),
(d) z\* to z,
(e) (N, b') to z\*;

 $(\beta'')$  the same as  $(\beta')$  but with the letters y and z exchanged and the letters **b** and **b**' exchanged.

To see this, let  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  be an occupied self-avoiding path from y to  $(N, \mathbf{b})$  in  $\mathbf{S}(N)$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  a similar type of path from z to  $(N, \mathbf{b}')$ . Obviously, we have  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]} \cap \mathscr{P}_{[2]} = \emptyset$ .

Now, start to grow C(0) via local rules. Eventually, the growing cluster must meet  $\mathcal{P}_{[1]}$  or  $\mathcal{P}_{[2]}$ . Let us say, for the sake of argument, that it meets  $\mathcal{P}_{[1]}$  first, which could of course happen "immediately," e.g., if y=0. (If the growing cluster hits  $\mathcal{P}_{[2]}$  before  $\mathcal{P}_{[t]}$ , in what follows we will have to make the exchange  $y \leftrightarrow z$ , which may lead to the  $\beta''$  case.) We denote this first point of contact by  $y^*$ . Continue now to locally grow C(0) in the complement of the bonds of  $\mathcal{P}_{[1]}$ . There are two possibilities:

- (a) The growing C(0) finds  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$ .
- ( $\beta$ ) The process runs out of occupied bonds before intersecting  $\mathcal{P}_{121}$ .

In the former set of circumstances, denote by  $\mathbf{z}^*$  the first point of intersection of C(0) with  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$ , and the stated result is evident. As for the  $\beta$  incident, when C(0) ceases to grow, denote the "stopped" cluster by  $\underline{C}(0)$ . We must now give the (untouched sites of)  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  a chance to find  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$ . (Since  $\mathbf{z} \in C(0) \|_{\mathbf{H}(L)}$ , this must happen eventually.) Thus let us denote by  $\mathbf{y}^{**}$  any point of  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  whose cluster – grown in the complement of the bonds of  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  and, by necessity, in the complement of  $\underline{C}(0)$  – reaches  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$ . Denote by  $\mathbf{z}^*$  the first point on  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  which is reached by the cluster of  $\mathbf{y}^{**}$ . If  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  passes through  $\mathbf{y}^*$  Before  $\mathbf{y}^{**}$ , we may identify  $\tilde{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{y}^{**}$ , while if  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  passes through  $\mathbf{y}^{**}$  before  $\mathbf{y}^*$ , we may identify  $\tilde{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbf{y}^*$ . In either case, statement ( $\beta'$ ) (and similarly ( $\beta''$ )) is verified.

Obviously, to the right of  $\mathbf{P}(P)$ , the story is the same. Let us denote the probabilities of the left and right  $\alpha$ -type events by  $A_N(\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}', \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{y}^*, \mathbf{z}, \mathbf{z}^*, \mathbf{x}^*, 0)$  and  $A_P^{\dagger}(\mathbf{c}, \mathbf{c}', \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{u}^*, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}^*, \mathbf{w}^*, (L, \mathbf{a}))$ , and similarly for the  $\beta$ -type events. We must consider all nine pairs of left and right possibilities, but each of these terms has a bound of the same order of magnitude. We will illustrate with only one example. Let us consider, then,

(A.30) 
$$\sum A_N(\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}', \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{y}^*, \mathbf{z}, \mathbf{z}^*, \mathbf{x}^*, 0) c^*_{(N, \mathbf{b}), (P, \mathbf{c})} A^+_P(\mathbf{c}, \mathbf{c}', \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{u}^*, \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}^*, \mathbf{w}^*, (L, \mathbf{a})).$$

We start by bounding the A correlations via the van den Berg-Kesten inequality. For example,

(A.31) 
$$A_{N}(\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}', \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{y}^{*}, \mathbf{z}, \mathbf{z}^{*}, \mathbf{x}^{*}, 0) \leq \tau_{0, \mathbf{x}^{*}} \tau_{\mathbf{X}^{*}, \mathbf{y}^{*}} \tau_{\mathbf{x}^{*}, \mathbf{z}^{*}} \tau_{\mathbf{z}^{*}, (N, \mathbf{b}')} \times \tau_{\mathbf{z}^{*}, \mathbf{z}} \tau_{\mathbf{y}^{*}, \mathbf{y}} \tau_{(N, \mathbf{b}), \mathbf{y}^{*}},$$

and similarly for  $A_P^{\dagger}$ . As it turns out, in order to perform the summation, the procedure must begin at  $(L, \mathbf{a})$ , since otherwise there are not enough free indices available. Thus, at fixed N and P, let us consider the partial sum

$$(A.32) \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{W}^*: W \ge P\\ \mathbf{u}^*, \mathbf{v}^*: L \ge U, V \ge P\\ \mathbf{a}, \mathbf{c}, \mathbf{c}^* \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}\\ \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{u} \in \mathbf{P}(L)}} \tau_{\mathbf{w}^*, \mathbf{u}^*} \tau_{\mathbf{w}^*, \mathbf{v}^*} \tau_{\mathbf{v}^*, (P, \mathbf{c}')} \tau_{\mathbf{v}^*, \mathbf{v}} \tau_{\mathbf{u}^*, \mathbf{u}} \tau_{(P, \mathbf{c}), \mathbf{u}^*} \mathcal{C}^*_{(N, \mathbf{b}), (P, \mathbf{c})},$$

where W, U, and V are the  $x_1$ -coordinates of  $w^*$ ,  $u^*$ , and  $v^*$ . Summing (A.32) over a and c', then v and u, gives the upper bound

(A.33) 
$$\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{w}^*, \mathbf{u}^*, \mathbf{v}^*\\ W \ge P\\ L \ge U, V \ge P}} \mathbf{G}_{|L-W|} \mathbf{G}_{V-P} \mathbf{G}_{L-V} \mathbf{G}_{L-U} \tau_{\mathbf{w}^*, \mathbf{u}^*} \tau_{\mathbf{w}^*, \mathbf{v}^*} \tau_{(P, \mathbf{c}), \mathbf{u}^*} c_{(N, \mathbf{b}), (P, \mathbf{c})}^*$$

Next, we sum over the transverse coordinates of  $v^*$ , then  $w^*$ , then  $u^*$ , which gives us

(A.34) 
$$\sum_{\substack{L \ge U, V \ge P \\ W \ge P}} \mathbf{G}_{|L-W|} \mathbf{G}_{V-P} \mathbf{G}_{L-V} \mathbf{G}_{|W-U|} \mathbf{G}_{|W-U|} \mathbf{G}_{|W-V|} \mathbf{G}_{U-P} \mathcal{C}^*_{(N,\mathbf{b}),(P,\mathbf{c})}.$$

Observe now that if we sum over the indices W, Y, U, and V, we get an upper bound of a constant times  $e^{-2(L-P)/\xi}$  without having touched our  $c^*_{(N,\mathbf{b}),(P,\mathbf{c})}$  term. Finally, we may freely sum over  $\mathbf{c}$  to get the desired  $\mathbb{C}^*_{P-N}$  term, which frees up the index  $\mathbf{b}$  for future ease of summation. Performing the entire procedure again on the other side of  $\mathbf{P}(N)$ , we get a total upper bound of

(A.35) 
$$(\text{const}) \sum_{0 \le N < P \le L} \mathbb{C}_{P-N}^* e^{-2(L-(P-N))/\xi}$$

Fluctuations of percolation connectivities

for the  $\alpha - \alpha$  term. A similar analysis on the  $\beta$  and mixed terms yields a bound of the same order of magnitude as (A.35). This provides a bound on the  $\mathbb{K}_{L}^{\otimes}$  term, which, together with (A.24), is the desired result.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary.** Let  $p \in (0, p_c)$ . Then either  $\xi_c(p) = \frac{1}{2}\xi(p)$  or  $\exists D_3(p) < \infty$  such that uniformly in L,

$$\mathbb{K}_L(p) \leq D_3(p) \mathbb{C}_L^{**}(p).$$

*Proof.* First, let us define  $\eta$  via

$$(A.36) \qquad \qquad \frac{1}{\xi_k} = \frac{2}{\xi} - 6\eta.$$

It should be observed that for any integers Q, M, 0 < Q < M, and for any s,  $t \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ , we have the obvious bound

(A.37) 
$$c_{0,(M,s)}^{**} \ge a(p) c_{0,(Q,t)}^{*} c_{(Q,t),(M,s)}^{**}$$

with a(p)>0 a harmless patching factor. However, since the (mirror images of the) events  $c_{0,(Q,t)}^*$  are disjoint, the stronger statement

(A.38) 
$$c_{0,(M,s)}^{**} \ge a(p) \sum_{\mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} c_{0,(Q,t)}^{*} c_{(Q,t),(M,s)}^{**}$$

is also true. Summing (A.38) over s, one obtains the bound

(A.39) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{M}^{**} \ge a(p) \mathbb{C}_{Q}^{*} \mathbb{C}_{M-Q}^{**}$$

Using the assumption that  $2/\xi > 1/\xi_c = 2/\xi - 6\eta$ , it is clear that, uniformly in S, we can find an  $\Omega(p) > 0$  such that

(A.40) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{S}^{**} \ge \Omega e^{-(2/\xi - 5\eta)S}.$$

Whence, after a little C\* algebra, the statement of Lemma A.2 becomes

(A.41) 
$$\mathbb{K}_{L} \leq \mathbb{C}_{L}^{**} \left[ D_{1} + D_{2} \frac{1}{\Omega a} \sum_{0 \leq N < P \leq L} e^{-4\eta (L - (P - N))} \right].$$

The sum in (A.41) is bounded above by a finite constant uniformly in L.  $\Box$ 

Finally, we relate the direct connectivities with strict and non-strict cylinder boundary conditions:

*Proof of Proposition 3.4.* For  $x \in P(0)$ , define

(A.42a) 
$$c_{0,(L,a);\mathbf{x}}^{**} = \{\omega \in c_{0,(L,a)}^{**} | \mathbf{x} \in C(0) \|_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \}$$

and

(A.42b) 
$$c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a});\mathbf{x}}^{**} = P(c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a});\mathbf{x}}^{**}).$$



Fig. A3. Configurations in  $c_{0,(L,a);x}^{**}$  corresponding to cases (a) and (b)

We claim that  $\exists D_4(p) < \infty$  such that

(A.43) 
$$\sum_{\mathbf{a}\in\mathbb{Z}^{d-1}}c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a});\mathbf{x}}^{**} \leq D_4 \ e^{-\eta|\mathbf{x}|} \mathbb{C}_L^{**}$$

where  $\eta$  has been defined in (A.36).

If  $\eta = 0$ , Eq. (A.43) is obviously true. Otherwise, let us take an  $\omega \in c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a});\mathbf{x}}^{**}$ . It is seen that inside  $\mathbf{S}(L)$ , there must be a point w<sup>\*</sup> and three disjoint occupied paths:

(A.44a)  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$ : from w\* to  $(L, \mathbf{a})$ ,

(A.44b)  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$ : from 0 to w\*,

$$(A.44c) \qquad \qquad \mathscr{P}_{[3]}: \text{ from } \mathbf{x} \text{ to } \mathbf{w}^*.$$

Now grow the cluster of  $\mathscr{P}_{[1]}$  in the complement of  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{[3]}$ . Denote by  $\underline{C}(\mathscr{P}_{[1]} \perp (\mathscr{P}_{[2]} \cup \mathscr{P}_{[3]}))$  the fully grown cluster generated by this procedure. It is not unreasonable to hope that (see Fig. A 3):

(a)  $\underline{C}(\mathscr{P}_{[1]} \perp (\mathscr{P}_{[2]} \cup \mathscr{P}_{[3]}))$  contains a realization of the event  $\mathscr{K}_{\mathbf{w}^*, (L, \mathbf{a})}$ .

However, should this not come to pass, there is a rightmost plane,  $\mathbf{P}(N)$ ,  $N \leq L-1$ , and a  $\mathbf{b} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$  such that

(A.45) 
$$\{(N, \mathbf{b})\} = \underline{C}(\mathscr{P}_{[1]} \perp (\mathscr{P}_{[2]} \cup \mathscr{P}_{[3]})) \cap \mathbf{P}(N).$$

Then, it has to be the case that either

(b)  $\mathscr{P}_{[2]}$  is connected to  $\mathbf{P}(N)$  in the complement of  $\underline{C}(\mathscr{P}_{[1]} \perp (\mathscr{P}_{[2]} \cup \mathscr{P}_{[3]}))$ , or (b')  $\mathscr{P}_{[3]}$  is connected to  $\mathbf{P}(N)$  in the complement of  $\underline{C}(\mathscr{P}_{[1]} \perp (\mathscr{P}_{[2]} \cup \mathscr{P}_{[3]}))$ .

Case (a) implies 
$$\exists \mathbf{w}^* \in \mathbf{S}(L)$$
 such that  
(A.46a)  $\omega \in \mathscr{G}_{0, \mathbf{w}^*} \circ \mathscr{G}_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{w}^*} \circ \mathscr{K}_{\mathbf{w}^*, (L, \mathbf{a})},$ 

and the probability of this is bounded above by

(A.47a) 
$$\sum_{\mathbf{w}^* \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \tau_{0,\mathbf{w}^*} \tau_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{w}^*} k_{\mathbf{w}^*,(L,\mathbf{a})}.$$

Case (b) may be described by the fact that  $\exists \mathbf{w}^* \in \mathbf{S}(L)$ ,  $w_1^* \equiv W$ , and N with W < N < L, **b**, **b**'  $\in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ , and  $\mathbf{z}^* \in \mathbf{S}(N)$  such that

(A.46b) 
$$\omega \in \mathcal{G}_{0,\mathbf{z}^*} \circ \mathcal{G}_{\mathbf{z}^*,\mathbf{w}^*} \circ \mathcal{G}_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{w}^*} \circ \mathcal{G}_{\mathbf{w}^*,(\mathbf{N},\mathbf{b})} \circ \mathcal{G}_{\mathbf{z}^*,(\mathbf{N},\mathbf{b}')} \circ \mathcal{L}_{(\mathbf{N},\mathbf{b}),(L,\mathbf{a})}^{**},$$

similarly for case (b') with 0 replaced by  $\mathbf{x}$ . The event described in (A.46b) has probability bounded above by

(A.47b) 
$$\sum_{\mathbf{w}^*, \mathbf{z}^*, N, \mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}'} \tau_{0, \mathbf{z}^*} \tau_{\mathbf{z}^*, \mathbf{w}^*} \tau_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{w}^*} \tau_{\mathbf{w}^*, (N, \mathbf{b})} \tau_{\mathbf{z}^*, (N, \mathbf{b}')} c_{(N, \mathbf{b}), (L, \mathbf{a})}^{**}$$

with a corresponding equation describing situation (b'). Summing (A.47a) over  $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}$ , we obtain

(A.48) 
$$\sum_{W} \mathbb{I}_{L-W} \sum_{\mathbf{w}} \tau_{0,(W,\mathbf{w})} \tau_{\mathbf{x},(W,\mathbf{w})},$$

where we have used the notation  $\mathbf{w}^* = (W, \mathbf{w})$ . Now, we use the a priori bound (2.7) and the obvious bounds  $|\mathbf{w}^*| > W$  and  $|\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{x}| > W$  to write

(A.49) 
$$\tau_{0,(W,\mathbf{w})} \tau_{\mathbf{x},(W,\mathbf{w})} \leq e^{-(2/\xi)(|\mathbf{w}^*| + |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{x}|)} \leq e^{-2(1/\xi - 2\eta)W} e^{-2\eta}.$$

The bound in (A.49) may be further degraded by noting that

(A.50) 
$$2(|\mathbf{w}^*| + |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{x}|) \ge |\mathbf{x}| + |\mathbf{w}| + W_2$$

so that (A.48) can be bounded above by

(A.51) 
$$e^{-\eta |\mathbf{x}|} \sum_{W, \mathbf{w}} \mathbb{K}_{L-W} e^{-(2/\xi - 4\eta)W} e^{-\eta |\mathbf{w}|} e^{-\eta W}.$$

We now use the corollary to Lemma A.2 to bound  $\mathbb{K}_{L-W}$  above by a constant times  $\mathbb{C}_{L-W}^{**}$ . Next, since the decay rate of  $\mathbb{C}_{L}^{*}$  is  $\xi_{c}$  (see Proposition A1 and the Remark following Definition A2), it follows from the definition of  $\eta$  (cf. Eq. (A.36)), that for W large enough,  $e^{-(2/\xi - 4\eta)W}$  may be bounded above by (another constant times)  $\mathbb{C}_{W}^{*}$ . Then, according to Eq. (A.39), the two  $\mathbb{C}$ 's may be combined to obtain a total upper bound of

$$(A.52) D_{4'} e^{-\eta |\mathbf{x}|} \mathbb{C}_L^{**} \sum_{\mathbf{w}^*} e^{-\eta |\mathbf{w}^*|}$$

on case (a). Performing the sum over  $\mathbf{w}^*$  just modifies the constant  $D_{4'}$ .

The (b) (and (b')) cases follow from a similar, but somewhat more laborious analysis. Summing (A.47b) over  $\mathbf{a}$ ,  $\mathbf{b}'$ , and then  $\mathbf{b}$ , we get

(A.53) 
$$\sum_{\substack{0 \leq W \leq N \\ 0 \leq Z \leq N \\ \mathbf{w}, \mathbf{z}, N}} \mathbf{G}_{N-Z} \, \mathbf{G}_{N-W} \, \mathbf{C}_{L-N}^{**} \, \tau_{0, \mathbf{z}^*} \, \tau_{\mathbf{z}^*, \mathbf{w}^*} \, \tau_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{w}^*},$$

where we have again used  $\mathbf{w}^* = (W, \mathbf{w}), \mathbf{z}^* = (Z, \mathbf{z})$ . Next, we note that the uniform bounds of Proposition 3.1 imply  $\mathbf{G}_{N-W} \mathbf{G}_{N-Z} \leq \beta^{-2} e^{-(2/\xi)N} e^{+(1/\xi)(Z+W)}$ . Using

this and the a priori upper bound  $\tau_{0,z^*} \leq e^{-|z^*|/\xi}$ , the argument of the sum in (A.53) is bounded above by a constant times

(A.54) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{L-N}^{**} e^{-(2/\xi - 5\eta)N} e^{-5N\eta} e^{+(1/\xi)(Z+W)} e^{-|z^*|/\xi} e^{-|w^* - z^*|/\xi} e^{-|w^* - x|/\xi}.$$

Now, we use the inequalities

(A.55a) 
$$\frac{1}{\xi} |\mathbf{z}^*| \ge \left(\frac{1}{\xi} - 2\eta\right) |Z| + 2\eta |\mathbf{z}^*|$$

(A.55b) 
$$\frac{1}{\xi} |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{x}| \ge \left(\frac{1}{\xi} - 2\eta\right) |W| + 2\eta |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{x}|$$

(A.55c) 
$$\frac{1}{\xi} |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{z}^*| \ge 5\eta |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{z}^*|,$$

together with the bound  $\mathbb{C}_{L-N}^{**} e^{-(2/\xi - 5\eta)N} \ge (\text{const}) \mathbb{C}_{L}^{**}$ , valid for N sufficiently large, to estimate the quantity in (A.54) by

(A.56) (const) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{L}^{**} e^{-5\eta N} e^{+2\eta (Z+W)} e^{-2\eta |z^{*}|} e^{-2\eta |w^{*}-x|} e^{-5\eta |w^{*}-z^{*}|}.$$

Recalling that  $W, Z \leq N$ , the above is pointwise bounded by

(A.57) (const) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{L}^{**} e^{-\eta N} e^{-2\eta |\mathbf{z}^*|} e^{-2\eta |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{x}|} e^{-5\eta |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{z}^*|}.$$

Finally, observing that

(A.58) 
$$2\eta |\mathbf{z}^*| + 2\eta |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{x}| + 2\eta |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{z}^*| \ge \eta |\mathbf{x}| + \eta |\mathbf{z}^*|,$$

so that

(A.59) 
$$2\eta |\mathbf{z}^*| + 2\eta |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{x}| + 5\eta |\mathbf{w}^* - \mathbf{z}^*| \ge \eta |\mathbf{x}| + \frac{1}{2}(\eta |\mathbf{z}^*| + \eta |\mathbf{w}^*|),$$

we are left with

(A.60)

$$(\operatorname{const.}) e^{-\eta |\mathbf{x}|} \mathbb{C}_{L}^{**} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{w}^{*}: W \leq N \\ \mathbf{z}^{*}: Z \leq N \\ N}} e^{-\eta N} e^{-(\eta/2)(|\mathbf{z}^{*}| + |\mathbf{w}^{*}|)}$$
$$\equiv D_{4''} e^{-\eta |\mathbf{x}|} \mathbb{C}_{L}^{**}$$

for the b (and (b')) estimates. Together with (A.52), this establishes Eq. (A.43).

It is now straightforward to show that (if  $\eta > 0$ )  $\mathbb{C}_L^{**}$  and  $\mathbb{C}_L^*$  are bounded by multiples of one another. Indeed, decomposing  $\mathbb{C}_L^{**}$  according to the number of intersections of  $C(0)||_{\mathbf{S}(L)}$  with the plane  $\mathbf{P}(0)$  (as was done for the IH's in Eqs. (3.13)-(3.14)):

(A.61) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{L,k}^{**} = \sum_{\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}} P(\{\omega \in c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a})}^{**} || C(0) ||_{\mathbf{S}(L)} \cap \mathbf{P}(0)| = k\}),$$

we have the identity

(A.62) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{L+1}^{*} = \sum_{k} \mathbb{C}_{L,k}^{**} (1-p)^{2(d-1)} p (1-p)^{k-1}.$$

Thus, by the Jensen inequality,

(A.63) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{L+1}^* \ge \mathbb{C}_L^{**} (1-p)^{2(d-1)} p(1-p)^{\bar{K}_L - 1},$$

where

(A.64) 
$$\vec{K}_L \equiv \sum_k k \frac{\mathbf{C}_{L,k}^{**}}{\mathbf{C}_L^{**}}.$$

Now, by (A.43),

(A.65) 
$$\mathbb{C}_{L,k}^{**} \leq \sum_{\substack{|\mathbf{x}| \geq k^{1/(d-1)} \\ \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{d-1}}} c_{0,(L,\mathbf{a});\mathbf{x}}^{**} \leq D_5 e^{-\eta k^{1/(d-1)}} \mathbb{C}_L^{**}$$

with  $D_5(p) < \infty$ . Hence  $\overline{K}_L(p) < \infty$ , so that by (A.63)

with  $D_6(p) < \infty$  for  $p < p_c$ , and we are halfway there.

If the steps of this proof (i.e., Eqs. (A.42)–(A.66)) are carefully examined, it is not terribly difficult to see that the derivation proceeds unhindered if, in each  $\mathbb{C}$ -term, a \* is removed. The result is

with  $D_7(p) < \infty$  for  $p < p_c$ . Combining the corollary to Lemma A.2 with the bounds (A.66) and (A.67), we have the desired result.  $\Box$ 

# References

- [A] Aizenman, M.: Translation invariance and instability of phase coexistence in twodimensional Ising model. Commun. Math. Phys. 73, 83 (1980)
- [AB] Aizenman, M., Barsky, D.J.: Sharpness of the phase transition in percolation models. Commun. Math. Phys. **108**, 489 (1987)
- [ACC1] Abraham, D.J., Chayes, J.T., Chayes, L.: Statistical mechanics of lattice tubes. Phys. Rev. D30, 841 (1984)
- [ACC2] Abraham, D.J., Chayes, J.T., Chayes, L.: Random surface correlation functions. Commun. Math. Phys. **108**, 489 (1987)
- [ACC3] Abraham, D.J., Chayes, J.T., Chayes, L.: Nonperturbative analysis of a model of random surfaces. Nucl. Phys. B251 [FS 13]; 553 (1985)
- [ACCFR] Aizenman, M., Chayes, J.T., Chayes, L., Frölich, J., Russo, L.: On a sharp transition from area law to perimeter law in a system of random surfaces. Commun. Math. Phys. 108, 489 (1987)
- [AK] Abraham, D.J., Kunz, H.: Ornstein-Zernike theory of classical fluids at low density. Phys. Rev. Lett. **39**, 1011 (1977)
- [AKN] Aizenman, M., Kesten, H., Newman, C.M.: Uniqueness of the infinite cluster and continuity of the connectivity functions for short and long range percolation. Commun. Math. Phys. 111, 505 (1987)

- [A1] Alexander, K.S.: Lower bounds on the connectivity functions in all directions for Bernoulli percolation in two and three dimensions. Preprint, University of Southern California (1989)
- [AN] Aizenman, M., Newman, C.M.: Tree graph inequalities and critical behavior in percolation models. J. Stat. Phys. **36**, 107 (1984)
- [BF] van den Berg, J., Fiebig, U.: On a combinatorial conjecture concerning disjoint occurrence of events. Ann. Probab. 15, 354 (1987)
- [BH] Broadbent, S.R., Hammersley, J.M.: Percolation processes I: Crystals and Mazes. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 53, 629 (1957)
- [BK] van den Berg, J., Kesten, H.: Inequalities with applications to percolation and reliability theory. J. Appl. Prob. 22, 556 (1985)
- [BrF1] Bricmont, J., Fröhlich, J.: An order parameter distinguishing between different phases of lattice gauge theories with matter fields. Phys. Lett. B122, 73 (1983)
- [BrF2] Bricmont, J., Fröhlich, J.: Statistical mechanical methods in particle structure analysis of lattice field theories. Part I: General results. Nucl. Phys. B251 [FS 13]; 517 (1985)
- [BrF3] Bricmont, J., Fröhlich, J.: Statistical mechanical methods in particle structure analysis of lattice field theories. Part II: Scalar and surface models. Commun. Math. Phys. **98**, 553 (1985)
- [C] Chayes, L.: Some problems in  $M \cap \Phi$ . Dissertation, Princeton, 1983
- [CC1] Chayes, J.T., Chayes, L.: Random tubes as a model of pair correlations. Contemp. Math. 41, 11 (1985)
- [CC2] Chayes, J.T., Chayes, L.: Ornstein-Zernike behavior for self-avoiding walks at all noncritical temperatures. Commun. Math. Phys. **108**, 489 (1987)
- [CC3] Chayes, J.T., Chayes, L.: Percolation and random media. In: Osterwalder, K., Stora, R. (eds.) Les houches session XLIII: critical phenomena, random systems and gauge theories, pp. 1001–1042. Amsterdam: Elsevier 1986
- [CC4] Chayes, J.T., Chayes, L.: Critical points and intermediate phases on wedges of Z<sup>d</sup>. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 19, 3033 (1986)
- [CCD] Chayes, J.T., Chayes, L., Durrett, R.: Inhomogeneous percolation problems and incipient infinite clusters. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 20, 1521 (1987)
- [FKG] Fortuin, C., Kasteleyn, P., Ginibre, J.: Correlation inequalities on some partially ordered sets. Commun. Math. Phys. 22, 89 (1971)
- [G] Gallavotti, G.: The phase separation line in the two-dimensional Ising model. Commun. Math. Phys. 27, 103 (1972)
- [Gr] Grimmett, G.: Percolation. Wien New York: Springer 1989
- [H] Hammersley, J.M.: Percolation processes. Lower bounds for the critical probability. Ann. Math. Stat. 28, 790 (1957)
- [Har] Harris, T.E.: A lower bound for the critical probability in certain percolation processes. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. 56, 13 (1960)
- [Hi1] Higuchi, Y.: On some limit theorems related to the phase separation line in the two-dimensional Ising model. Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheor. Verw. Geb. 50, 287 (1979)
- [Hi2] Higuchi, Y.: Fluctuations of the interface in the two-dimensional Ising model. In: Streit, L. (ed.) Quantum fields-algebras, processes, pp. 397–405. Wien New York: Springer 1980
- [Hi3] Higuchi, Y.: On the absence of non-translational invariant Gibbs states for the two-dimensional Ising model. Colloq. Math. Soc. Jãnos Bolyai 27, Random Fields (Esztergom 1979)
- [K] Kesten, H.: The critical probability of bond percolation on the square lattice equals 1/2. Commun. Math. Phys. 74, 41 (1980)
- [Ma] Madras, N.: Bounds on the critical exponent of self-avoiding polygons. York University report no. 89-28 (1989)
- [M] Menshikov, M.V.: Coincidence of critical points in percolation problems. Sov. Math., Dokl. 33, 856 (1986)
- [MMS] Menshikov, M.V., Molchanov, S.H., Sidorenko, A.F.: Percolation theory and some applications. Itogi Nauki Tekh., Ser. Teor. Veroyatn., Mat. Stat. Teor. Kibern. 24, 53 (1986)
- [O1] O'Carroll, M.: A convergent perturbation theory for particle masses "Euclidean" lattice quantum field theory applied to the *d*-dimensional Ising model. Phys. Lett. B 143, 188 (1984)
- [O2] O'Carroll, M.: Analyticity properties and a convergent expansion for the inverse correlation length of the high-temperature d-dimensional Ising magnet. J. Stat. Phys. 34, 597 (1984)
- [OB] O'Carroll, M., Barbosa, W.D.: Analyticity properties and a convergent expansion for the inverse correlation length of the low-temperature Ising magnet. J. Stat. Phys. 34, 609 (1984)
- [OBr] O'Carroll, M., Braga, G.: Analyticity properties and a convergent expansion for the glueball mass and the dispersion curve of strongly coupled 2+1 Euclidean lattice gauge theories. J. Math. Phys. 25, 2741 (1984)
- [P] Paes-Leme, P.J.: Ornstein-Zernike and analyticity properties for classical lattice spin systems. Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 115, 367 (1978)
- [PS1] Pirogov, S.A., Sinai, Ya.G.: Phase diagrams of classical lattice systems I. Theor. Mat. Fiz. 25, 358 (1975)
- [PS2] Pirogov, S.A., Sinai, Ya.G.: Phase diagrams of classical lattice systems II, Theor. Mat. Fiz. 26, 61 (1976)
- [S1] Schor, R.S.: The particle structure of v-dimensional Ising models at low temperatures. Commun. Math. Phys. **59**, 213 (1973)
- [S2] Schor, R.S.: Excited glueball states on a lattice from first principles. Phys. Lett. B 132, 161 (1983)
- [S3] Schor, R.S.: Existence of glueballs in strongly coupled lattice theories. Nucl. Phys. B222, 71 (1983)
- [S4] Schor, R.S.: Glueball spectroscopy in strongly coupled lattice gauge theories. Commun. Math. Phys. 92, 369 (1984)
- [Si1] Simon, B.: Correlation inequalities and decay of correlations in ferromagnets. Commun. Math. Phys. 77, 111 (1980)
- [Si2] Simon, B.: The rate of falloff of Ising model correlations at large temperature. J. Stat. Phys. 26, 53 (1981)